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SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

We have made forward-looking statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K that are subject to risks and uncertainties. Forward-looking
statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended, are subject to the “safe harbor” created by those sections. The forward-looking statements in this report are based on our
management’s beliefs and assumptions and on information currently available to our management. In some cases, you can identify forward-looking
statements by terms such as “anticipates,” “aspires,” “believes,” “can,” “continue,” “could,” “estimates,” “expects,” “intends,” “may,” “plans,”
“projects,” “seeks,” “should,” “will” or “would” or the negative of these terms and similar expressions intended to identify forward-looking
statements. These statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors, which may cause our actual results, performance,
time frames or achievements to be materially different from any future results, performance, time frames or achievements expressed or implied by the
forward-looking statements. We discuss many of these risks, uncertainties and other factors in this document in greater detail under the heading “Risk
Factors.” We believe it is important to communicate our expectations to our investors. However, there may be events in the future that we are not able
to predict accurately or over which we have no control. The risks described in “Risk Factors” included in this report, as well as any other cautionary
language in this report, provide examples of risks, uncertainties and events that may cause our actual results to differ materially from the expectations
we describe in our forward-looking statements. Before you invest in our common stock, you should be aware that the occurrence of the events
described in “Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this report could harm our business.

Given these risks, uncertainties and other factors, you should not place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements. Also, these forward-
looking statements represent our estimates and assumptions only as of the date of this filing. You should read this document completely and with the
understanding that our actual future results may be materially different from what we expect. We hereby qualify our forward-looking statements by
these cautionary statements. Except as required by law, we assume no obligation to update these forward-looking statements publicly, or to update the
reasons actual results could differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements, even if new information becomes available in
the future.
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PART I
ITEM 1—BUSINESS

Rackspace Hosting, Inc. was incorporated in Delaware on March 7, 2000 under the name Rackspace.com, Inc. However, our operations began in 1998
as a limited partnership, which became our subsidiary through a corporate reorganization completed on August 21, 2001. The company’s name was changed
to Rackspace Hosting, Inc. on June 5, 2008 through a merger with one of its wholly-owned subsidiaries. Our principal executive offices are located at 5000
Walzem Rd., San Antonio, Texas 78218. Our telephone number is (210) 312-4000. Our website address is www.rackspace.com. References to “we,” “our,”
“our company,” “us,” “the company,” “Rackspace Hosting,” or “Rackspace” refer to Rackspace Hosting, Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries. See
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and the Consolidated Financial Statements and the related Notes
for additional information regarding the business and our operating results. Changes to our Business section from prior filings are a reflection of a competitive
and changing business environment and our adaptations with respect to our product and services set.

Overview
Rackspace Hosting is the world leader in the hosting and cloud computing industry. Our rapid growth over the last decade has been fueled by our

commitment to our unique brand of customer service known as Fanatical Support .

Hosting is at the center of a multi-year shift that is changing the way businesses buy IT services. New cloud computing technologies, which deliver
greater simplicity and more meaningful cost savings to businesses, make hosting even more compelling for a broader market. We are pioneering an emerging
category, Hybrid Hosting, which combines the benefits of both traditional dedicated hosting and emerging cloud hosting. Hybrid Hosting provides businesses
the best of both worlds, allowing IT departments to lower costs without sacrificing the benefits of dedicated hosting. As businesses move to on-demand IT and
Hybrid Hosting, we believe Fanatical Support will be more valuable to them than ever before.

We are a global company. Our corporate headquarters is located in San Antonio, with operations located in the United States, the United Kingdom, the
Netherlands, and Hong Kong. Our services are sold to businesses in more than 120 countries. In 2009 we had net revenue of $629.0 million and as of
December 31, 2009, we served more than 90,000 business customers and we managed more than 56,000 servers, 1,600,000 email accounts, and 259,000
cloud hosting domains. No single customer accounted for more than 2% of net revenue in each of the past three years.

The Hosting Industry
We are the leader in hosting and cloud computing. Hosting is best described as IT services delivered on demand over the Internet. Hosting providers act

as an extension of businesses’ IT departments.

Today, there are three ways that businesses can fulfill their IT requirements. The first is commonly called “do it yourself,” or DIY. DIY is an
approach to managing IT services where a business retains complete ownership and responsibility for ongoing maintenance and management of servers,
software, networking equipment, etc. Companies may choose to house this equipment in their own facilities, or may rent data center space from a colocation
provider. The second approach is outsourcing, where businesses transfer full responsibility for their IT systems, operations, and employees to a third party.
Hosting is the third approach, and we believe it delivers better quality and a more cost-competitive solution than do-it-yourself or outsourcing. Our portfolio of
services provides customers the flexibility to choose the best combination of dedicated hosting and cloud computing services to meet their unique IT needs.
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The hosting industry emerged in the 1990’s to serve a need created by the rapid adoption of the Internet by consumers and businesses worldwide. Early
hosting demand was driven by companies setting up simple websites during the “dot com” boom. Many companies did not have the skills or resources to
connect their websites to the Internet, so they turned to hosting companies to perform this task. We believe demand for hosting will continue for three reasons:
 

1. Smaller companies still do not have in-house resources to manage complicated websites, and they do not want to purchase expensive hardware with their
available capital. Yet they must have an increasingly robust, reliable online presence in order to succeed in today’s market.

 

2. Larger companies that do have specialized, dedicated IT resources would rather deploy these resources to more strategic areas of their business rather
than managing servers or running a website.

 

3. As companies have experienced the benefits of using hosting providers to manage their web sites, they have become more comfortable with the concept of
hosting providers managing additional IT services.

Today, the hosting market opportunity extends well beyond its roots and includes a broad continuum of services from simple websites to complex,
mission-critical IT applications and support. We believe the trend toward on-demand IT services is in its infancy and will drive growth over the coming years.

Cloud Computing and Hosting
Cloud computing is one of the most widely discussed topics in IT today. We believe it is also central to the future of the hosting industry and have made

it a key element of our hosting strategy. In simple terms, cloud computing refers to pooled computing resources, delivered on-demand, over the Internet. In the
same manner that electricity is delivered on-demand from large scale power plants, cloud computing is delivered from large, centralized data centers to
businesses all over the world.

Today, our core offering, managed hosting, requires dedicated servers for each customer deployment. Most of these dedicated resources, which are
designed to meet peak processing demands, are underutilized during non-peak hours. Cloud technologies allow hosting providers to effectively provision and
manage a pool of computing resources (or a “cloud”) across a larger base of customers. Cloud technologies deliver more computing resources to businesses
when they need them. At the same time, cloud computing substantially lowers the cost of IT services. We believe these compelling benefits will continue to
drive migration from server rooms and corporate data centers to the cloud.

We believe cloud computing is a paradigm shift in IT and we are investing heavily to take advantage of these new technologies. In addition to three
acquisitions (Webmail.us, Slicehost, and Jungle Disk), we have built large teams of experts devoted to research and development around these technologies.
We view cloud computing as a natural extension of our core hosting offering. We also believe our ability to provide Hybrid Hosting, backed by Fanatical
Support, provides us a competitive advantage in the hosting marketplace.

Our Service Suite
We sell a portfolio of hosting and cloud computing offerings, all backed by Fanatical Support.

 

 
•  Dedicated Hosting. Dedicated hosting delivers a customer-specific, dedicated server, located in our secure, business-class data centers. Our

customers have full administrator privileges and are responsible for most administrative functions. We provide a customer management portal and
other management tools.

 

 
•  Managed Hosting—Our core service offering is managed hosting. This service removes the burden of managing the data center,

network, hardware devices, and operating system software from the customer. We became an industry leader in the managed hosting
category early in our
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company history, taking standard service expectations in the industry and exceeding them. Customers place high value on the added
benefits of managed hosting, and continue to make us their preferred choice for managed hosting. Despite the emergence of cloud
computing, we believe managed hosting will remain a key service offering as companies continue to demand dedicated equipment that will
meet specific performance or security needs. We remain committed to innovating new products and services and have added several
notable services to the core managed hosting offerings.

 

 
•  Private Cloud. Rackspace offers a Private Cloud service that allows large enterprises to virtualize their dedicated IT environments. Our

Private Cloud provides the cost benefits of a virtualized infrastructure combined with the control and security advantages of dedicated
hardware.

 

 

•  Managed Colocation—Managed colocation serves the demands of highly technical customers who require ordering and provisioning
support. Managed colocation customers manage most or all of their software and applications. We manage the data centers, networks and
some standard hardware devices. Our managed colocation service is often combined with traditional managed hosting, allowing customers
the flexibility to specify service levels for each hosting service component.

 

 

•  Cloud Hosting. Our cloud hosting services allow businesses to run their applications, similar to managed hosting, but using the new technologies
of cloud computing. There are multiple varieties of cloud hosting services that are priced on a pay-per-use basis and that can be quickly and
easily scaled up or down on-demand. Today we offer Cloud Servers, Cloud Files, and Cloud Sites. Cloud Servers allow customers to purchase
“slices” of servers, load their applications onto those virtual servers, and pay only for the capacity they use. Cloud Files allow customers to
purchase storage services by the gigabyte. Cloud Sites allow customers to deploy their applications to a cluster of servers that will scale processing
on-demand and as required by the application. Although these cloud services are emerging technologies and in the early phases of development,
they offer the true promise of cloud computing—auto scaling, no hardware or software management, simple deployment.

 

 

•  Cloud Applications.  This cloud category, often called “software-as-a-service”, delivers applications provisioned and ready for end-customers to
use. These services require limited support from the customer’s IT department, and they remove the IT burden and expense of managing and
maintaining software and hardware. We currently offer email, collaboration, and file back-up cloud applications. These cloud applications are
priced on a pay-per-use basis, can be purchased and used quickly. Our cloud applications have experienced strong growth over the last year.

 

 
•  Hybrid Hosting. We believe that traditional dedicated hosting and emerging cloud computing services, when combined, are a powerful solution

for IT departments. Each service has specific and unique customer benefits. As a result, we offer Hybrid Hosting, a suite of dedicated hosting and
cloud computing services that can be easily combined to address the changing and diverse needs of our customers today and in the future.

Competition
Given the significant market potential of hosting and cloud computing, we operate in a rapidly evolving and highly competitive environment.

Our principal areas of competition include:

Do-it-Yourself Solutions. Businesses may choose to house and maintain their own IT systems, or use a colocation provider to house IT hardware and
provide connectivity. Companies that provide colocation services include AT&T, Equinix, SAVVIS, Switch & Data, and other telecommunications
companies. We believe that over time it will be hard for the vast majority of businesses to replicate the capabilities or achieve the low costs of service providers
making the do-it-yourself option less attractive for many businesses.
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IT Outsourcing Providers. Businesses may choose to outsource their entire IT systems and staff to an outsourcing provider. Companies that provide
IT outsourcing include CSC, HP, and IBM. Outsourcing has long been an option for only the largest companies due to the cost, complexity and duration of
outsourcing contracts. Rarely is this a viable option for small and medium businesses with rapidly changing needs.

Hosting and Cloud Computing Providers . Businesses may choose to use a hosting or cloud computing provider other than us to provide services and
support for their IT systems. Competitors include AT&T, British Telecom, SAVVIS, Terremark, The Planet, Verio, and others. We also face competition
from large technology companies such as Amazon, Microsoft, Google, IBM and Salesforce.com, who are making investments in cloud computing.

Our Approach and Sources of Competitive Advantage
We are focused on creating sustainable competitive advantage in two key areas. First, our vision is to be recognized as one of the world’s great service

companies. Since companies must trust their hosting provider with their mission critical IT assets, service reputation is a key selection criterion. Second, we
operate with a financial discipline that keeps costs low, thereby generating returns that exceed our cost of capital. While companies will pay a premium for a
high level of service, keeping the commodity elements of our business at a low cost is a critical element of success. These two key principles form the
foundation of our business model, which includes the following elements:

Fanatical Support—We believe that excellent customer service creates customer loyalty, which in turn leads to higher profits and growth. We call our
unique, industry-leading customer service model “Fanatical Support,” because our entire company is focused on going above and beyond expectations in order
to delight the customer. Fanatical Support builds loyalty, which in turn delivers three key benefits:
 

 
1. Loyal customers buy more. Customer loyalty increases the tenure of customers and the longer they stay the more they tend to buy from us, leading

to higher revenue and a higher revenue per customer ratio.
 

 
2. Loyal customers stay with us longer, which means that loyal customers are more profitable. Further, loyal customers refer other customers. Both

help in saving customer acquisition costs and reduce the amount of sales and marketing costs that we need to spend to generate revenue growth.
 

 
3. Loyal customers can be served more cost effectively. After initial provisioning, the average cost of serving a customer is reduced, leading to higher

average profits and profit margins over time.

As a measure of customer satisfaction, we use the Net Promoter Score  (NPS), developed by Bain & Company, Inc., Fred Reichheld, and Satmetrix
Systems, Inc. to track the likelihood that customers will refer us to friends or colleagues. Surveys are conducted on an ongoing basis with results summarized
monthly and analyzed to determine areas for improvement. We work with our customers to understand what they consider “must haves,” and what they
would like to see in terms of incremental improvements to our service offerings.

Fanatical Support is a result of our unique culture. Employees are called Rackers, and are rewarded for going above and beyond to serve customers. The
highest form of recognition is the Straightjacket Award, which is given to the employee who best demonstrates Fanatical Support in action. We are also very
selective in our hiring process. Our philosophy is that technical and functional literacy can be taught, but personality is ingrained. We strive to hire employees
with the personality traits which fit well within our culture and our teams. Periodically, we conduct employee engagement surveys as a measure of cultural
health, and reward those managers that create an engaging and high-performance environment. In 2008 and 2009, Fortune magazine ranked us in the top 50 of
its list of “100 Best Companies to Work For.” We firmly believe that our unique culture is a point of sustained differentiation, because corporate culture cannot
be easily or quickly replicated by competitors.
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Hosting and Cloud Computing Specialist —We are focused exclusively on providing computing power using dedicated and shared technologies.
Modern computing infrastructure is complex and ever-changing, so this specialist focus has allowed the company to build a productized set of services that
are repeatable, efficient, high-quality and valuable to customers. Our employees, systems, management practices and organizational processes are tuned to
continuously improve our high-volume hosting and cloud computing offerings. Many of our competitors have to balance their hosting and cloud computing
lines of business with other areas of focus. These other products and services compete internally for the resources and talent needed to make hosting
successful. Our exclusive focus on hosting enables us to more rapidly and accurately deploy, upgrade and scale our systems and services. This focus has
generated industry-leading revenue growth, profitability and customer satisfaction.

Portfolio of Services—Our Hybrid Hosting model allows customers the flexibility to combine both traditional and emerging services for a solution that
best addresses their unique IT requirements.

Many hosting providers offer a limited set of services, or rely on third party reselling relationships to complete their hosting portfolio. Our portfolio of
services allows us to deliver the right offering at the right budget for the customer. Additionally, customers who host their entire environment with us benefit
from the simplicity of working with one hosting specialist, rather than managing multiple providers.

Research and Development
For the years ended December 31, 2007, 2008, and 2009, we recognized $8.6 million, $10.8 million, and $12.6 million of research and development

expense, respectively. Our research and development efforts are focused on developing new services including:
 

 •  Deployment of new technologies to address emerging trends, such as cloud computing;
 

 •  Development and enhancement of proprietary tools;
 

 •  Development and enhancement of processes for sales and support; and
 

 •  Development and enhancement of data center operations.

Intellectual Property Rights
We rely on a combination of patent, copyright, trademark, service mark and trade secret laws in the U.S., the European Union, and various countries

in Asia, South America, and elsewhere, and contractual restrictions to establish and protect certain proprietary rights in our data, applications, and services.
We also currently have one patent and no patent applications in the U.S. We have trademarks registered or pending in the U.S., the European Union, and
various countries in Asia, South America, and elsewhere for our name and certain words and phrases that we use in our business. We rely on copyright laws
to protect software and certain other elements of our proprietary technologies, although to date we have not registered for copyright protection. We also enter into
confidentiality and invention assignment agreements with our employees and consultants and confidentiality agreements with other third parties, and we
actively monitor access to our proprietary technologies.

In addition, we license third-party software and other technologies that are used in the provision of or incorporated into some elements of our services.

Employees
As of December 31, 2009, we employed 2,774 Rackers, a net increase of 163, or 6.2%, compared to December 31, 2008. None of our employees are

represented by a collective bargaining agreement, nor have we experienced any work stoppages. We believe that our relations with our employees are good.
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Sales and Marketing
Our service suite is sold via direct sales teams, through third-party channel partners and via online ordering. Our direct sales model is based on

centralized sales teams with leads generated primarily from customer referrals and corporate marketing efforts. This model also includes a centralized
enterprise field sales force, which targets select businesses in that segment. Our channel partners include management and technical consultancies, technology
integrators, software application providers, and web developers. Online sales occur for managed hosting, Cloud hosting and Cloud Applications via online
stores located in the relevant sections of our website.

Our marketing efforts generate interest and market demand by communicating the advantages of our services and unique support model. Our marketing
activities include web-based paid and natural search, participation in technology trade shows, conferences and customer events, advertisements in traditional
and electronic (web- and email-based) media, and targeted regional public relations activities.

Our Support Team Structure
Our support teams generally consist of 12 to 20 Rackers, including an account manager who is a customer’s single point of contact and advocate within

Rackspace Hosting. Each support team also includes technical specialists to meet ongoing customer needs.

Financial Information About Geographic Areas
Total net revenue from U.S. operations was $260.7 million, $383.5 million, and $467.9 million for 2007, 2008, and 2009, respectively. Net revenue

from operations outside the U.S., substantially all of which was derived from sales by our U.K. operations, was $101.3 million, $148.4 million, and $161.1
million for 2007, 2008, and 2009, respectively. For information regarding certain risks relating to our foreign operations, please see the risk titled, “Our ability
to operate and expand our business is susceptible to risks associated with international sales and operations” in the Risk Factor section.

Available Information
You can obtain copies of our Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, and other filings with the

Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC), and all amendments to these filings, free of charge from our website at www.rackspace.com as soon as
reasonably practicable following our filing of any of these reports with the SEC. You can also obtain copies free of charge by contacting our Investor Relations
department at our corporate headquarters.

You can also read and copy any materials we file with the SEC at the SEC’s Public Reference Room at 100 F Street, N.E., Washington, DC 20549. You
can obtain additional information about the operation of the Public Reference Room by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. In addition, the SEC maintains a
website (http://www.sec.gov) that contains reports, proxy and information statements, and other information regarding issuers that file electronically with the
SEC, including us.
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ITEM IA—RISK FACTORS
Risks Related to Our Business and Industry

Our physical infrastructure is concentrated in a few facilities and any failure in our physical infrastructure or services could lead to significant
costs and disruptions and could reduce our revenue, harm our business reputation and have a material adverse effect on our financial results.

Our network, power supplies and data centers are subject to various points of failure, problems with our cooling equipment, generators, uninterruptible
power supply, or UPS, routers, switches, or other equipment, whether or not within our control, could result in service interruptions for our customers as well
as equipment damage. Because our hosting services do not require geographic proximity of our data centers to our customers, our hosting infrastructure is
consolidated into a few large facilities. While data backup services and disaster recovery services are available as a part of our hosting services offerings, the
majority of our customers do not elect to pay the additional fees required to have disaster recovery services store their backup data offsite in a separate facility,
which could substantially mitigate the adverse effect to a customer from a single data center failure. Accordingly, any failure or downtime in one of our data
center facilities could affect a significant percentage of our customers. The total destruction or severe impairment of any of our data center facilities could result
in significant downtime of our services and the loss of customer data. Since our ability to attract and retain customers depends on our ability to provide
customers with highly reliable service, even minor interruptions in our service could harm our reputation. The services we provide are subject to failure
resulting from numerous factors, including:
 

 •  Power loss;
 

 •  Equipment failure;
 

 •  Human error or accidents;
 

 •  Sabotage and vandalism;
 

 •  Failure by us or our vendors to provide adequate service or maintenance to our equipment;
 

 •  Network connectivity downtime;
 

 •  Improper building maintenance by the landlords of the buildings in which our facilities are located;
 

 •  Physical or electronic security breaches;
 

 •  Fire, earthquake, hurricane, tornado, flood, and other natural disasters;
 

 •  Water damage; and
 

 •  Terrorism.

Additionally, in connection with the expansion or consolidation of our existing data center facilities from time to time, there is an increased risk that
service interruptions may occur as a result of server relocation or other unforeseen construction-related issues.

We have experienced interruptions in service in the past, due to such things as power outages, power equipment failures, cooling equipment failures,
routing problems, hard drive failures, database corruption, system failures, software failures, and other computer failures. While we have not experienced a
material increase in customer attrition following these events, the extent to which our reputation suffers is difficult to assess. We have taken and continue to
take steps to improve our infrastructure to prevent service interruptions, including upgrading our electrical and mechanical infrastructure. However, service
interruptions continue to be a significant risk for us and could materially impact our business.

Any future service interruptions could:
 

 •  Cause our customers to seek damages for losses incurred;
 

 •  Require us to replace existing equipment or add redundant facilities;
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 •  Affect our reputation as a reliable provider of hosting services;
 

 •  Cause existing customers to cancel or elect to not renew their contracts; or
 

 •  Make it more difficult for us to attract new customers.

Any of these events could materially increase our expenses or reduce our revenue, which would have a material adverse effect on our operating results.

Customers with mission-critical applications could potentially expose us to lawsuits for their lost profits or damages, which could impair our
financial condition.

Because our hosting services are critical to many of our customers’ businesses, any significant disruption in our services could result in lost profits or
other indirect or consequential damages to our customers. Although we require our customers to sign agreements that contain provisions attempting to limit our
liability for service outages, we cannot assure you that a court would enforce any contractual limitations on our liability in the event that one of our customers
brings a lawsuit against us as the result of a service interruption or other Internet site or application problems that they may ascribe to us. The outcome of any
such lawsuit would depend on the specific facts of the case and any legal and policy considerations that we may not be able to mitigate. In such cases, we
could be liable for substantial damage awards that may exceed our liability insurance coverage by unknown but significant amounts, which could materially
impair our financial condition.

We provide service level commitments to our customers, which could require us to issue credits for future services if the stated service levels are not
met for a given period and could significantly decrease our revenue and harm our reputation.

Our customer agreements provide that we maintain certain service level commitments to our customers relating primarily to network uptime, critical
infrastructure availability, and hardware replacement. If we are unable to meet the stated service level commitments, we may be contractually obligated to
provide these customers with credits for future services. As a result, a failure to deliver services for a relatively short duration could cause us to issue these
credits to a large number of affected customers. In addition, we cannot be assured that our customers will accept these credits in lieu of other legal remedies that
may be available to them. Our failure to meet our commitments could also result in substantial customer dissatisfaction or loss. Because of the loss of future
revenue through these credits, potential customer loss and other potential liabilities, our revenue could be significantly impacted if we cannot meet our service
level commitments to our customers.

If we do not prevent security breaches, we may be exposed to lawsuits, lose customers, suffer harm to our reputation, and incur additional costs.
The services we offer involve the transmission of large amounts of sensitive and proprietary information over public communications networks, as well

as the processing and storage of confidential customer information. Unauthorized access, computer viruses, accidents, employee error or malfeasance,
fraudulent service plan orders, intentional misconduct by computer “hackers”, and other disruptions can occur that could compromise the security of our
infrastructure, thereby exposing such information to unauthorized access by third parties and leading to interruptions, delays or cessation of service to our
customers. Techniques used to obtain unauthorized access to, or to sabotage systems, change frequently and generally are not recognized until launched
against a target. We may be unable to implement security measures in a timely manner or, if and when implemented, these measures could be circumvented as
a result of accidental or intentional actions by parties within or outside of our organization. Any breaches that occur could expose us to increased risk of
lawsuits, loss of existing or potential customers, harm to our reputation and increases in our security costs. Although we typically require our customers to
sign agreements that contain provisions attempting to limit our liability for security breaches, we cannot assure you that a court would enforce any contractual
limitations on our liability in the event that one of our customers brings a lawsuit against us as the result of a security breach that they may
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ascribe to us. The outcome of any such lawsuit would depend on the specific facts of the case and legal and policy considerations that we may not be able to
mitigate. In such cases, we could be liable for substantial damage awards that may significantly exceed our liability insurance coverage by unknown but
significant amounts, which could seriously impair our financial condition.

If we fail to hire and retain qualified employees and management personnel, our growth strategy and our operating results could be harmed.
Our growth strategy depends on our ability to identify, hire, train, and retain executives, IT professionals, technical engineers, operations employees,

and sales and senior management personnel who maintain relationships with our customers and who can provide the technical, strategic, and marketing skills
required for our company to grow. There is a shortage of qualified personnel in these fields, specifically in the San Antonio, Texas area, where we are
headquartered and a majority of our employees are located. We compete with other companies for this limited pool of potential employees. There is no
assurance that we will be able to recruit or retain qualified personnel, and this failure could cause our operations and financial results to be negatively
impacted.

Our success and future growth also depends to a significant degree on the skills and continued services of our management team, especially Graham
Weston, our Chairman, and A. Lanham Napier, our Chief Executive Officer and President. We do not have long-term employment agreements with any
members of our management team, including Messrs. Weston and Napier. Mr. Napier is the only member of our management team on whom we maintain key
man insurance.

If we are unable to maintain a high level of customer service, customer satisfaction and demand for our services could suffer.
We believe that our success depends on our ability to provide customers with quality service that not only meets our stated commitments, but meets and

then exceeds customer service expectations. If we are unable to provide customers with quality customer support in a variety of areas, we could face customer
dissatisfaction, decreased overall demand for our services, and loss of revenue. In addition, our inability to meet customer service expectations may damage
our reputation and could consequently limit our ability to retain existing customers and attract new customers, which would adversely affect our ability to
generate revenue and negatively impact our operating results.

Our existing customers could elect to reduce or terminate the services they purchase from us because we do not have long-term contracts with our
customers, which could adversely affect our operating results.

Customer contracts for our managed hosting services typically have initial terms of one to two years which, unless terminated, may be renewed or
automatically extended on a month-to-month basis. Our customers have no obligation to renew their services after their initial contract periods expire. Moreover,
our customers could cancel their managed hosting service agreements before they expire. In addition, most of our other services, such as our cloud computing
services, are provided on a month to month basis and do not have an extended initial term at all. Our costs associated with maintaining revenue from existing
customers are generally much lower than costs associated with generating revenue from new customers. Therefore, a reduction in revenue from our existing
customers, even if offset by an increase in revenue from new customers, could reduce our operating margins. Any failure by us to continue to retain our
existing customers could have a material adverse effect on our operating results.

Our corporate culture has contributed to our success, and if we cannot maintain this culture, we could lose the innovation, creativity, and
teamwork fostered by our culture, and our operating results may be harmed.

We believe that a critical contributor to our success has been our corporate culture, which we believe fosters innovation, creativity, and teamwork. If we
implement more complex organizational management structures
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because of growth or other structural changes, we may find it increasingly difficult to maintain the beneficial aspects of our corporate culture. This could
negatively impact our future operating results. In addition, being a publicly traded company may create disparities in personal wealth among our employees,
which may adversely impact our corporate culture and employee relations.

If we are unable to manage our growth effectively, our financial results could suffer.
The growth of our business and our service offerings has strained our operating and financial resources. Further, we intend to continue expanding our

overall business, customer base, headcount, and operations. Creating a global organization and managing a geographically dispersed workforce requires
substantial management effort and significant additional investment in our operating and financial system capabilities and controls. If our information
systems are unable to support the demands placed on them by our growth, we may be forced to implement new systems which would be disruptive to our
business. We may be unable to manage our expenses effectively in the future due to the expenses associated with these expansions, which may negatively
impact our gross margins or operating expenses. If we fail to improve our operational systems or to expand our customer service capabilities to keep pace with
the growth of our business, we could experience customer dissatisfaction, cost inefficiencies, and lost revenue opportunities, which may materially and
adversely affect our operating results.

If we are unable to adapt to evolving technologies and customer demands in a timely and cost-effective manner, our ability to sustain and grow
our business may suffer.

Our market is characterized by rapidly changing technology, evolving industry standards, and frequent new product announcements, all of which
impact the way hosting services are marketed and delivered. These characteristics are magnified by the continued rapid growth of the Internet and the intense
competition in our industry. The acceptance and growth of cloud computing illustrates these characteristics and the impact that they can have on our market.

To be successful, we must adapt to our rapidly changing market by continually improving the performance, features, and reliability of our services and
modifying our business strategies accordingly. We could also incur substantial costs if we need to modify our services or infrastructure in order to adapt to
these changes. For example, our data center infrastructure could require improvements due to (i) the development of new systems to deliver power to or
eliminate heat from the servers we house, (ii) the development of new server technologies that require levels of critical load and heat removal that our facilities
are not designed to provide, or (iii) a fundamental change in the way in which we deliver services. We may not be able to timely adapt to changing technologies,
if at all. Our ability to sustain and grow our business would suffer if we fail to respond to these changes in a timely and cost-effective manner.

New technologies or industry standards have the potential to replace or provide lower cost alternatives to our hosting services. The adoption of such new
technologies or industry standards could render some or all of our services obsolete or unmarketable. We cannot guarantee that we will be able to identify the
emergence of all of these new service alternatives successfully, modify our services accordingly, or develop and bring new products and services to market in a
timely and cost-effective manner to address these changes. If and when we do identify the emergence of new service alternatives and bring new products and
services to market, those new products and services may need to be made available at lower price points than our then-current services.

Our failure to provide services to compete with new technologies or the obsolescence of our services could lead us to lose current and potential customers
or could cause us to incur substantial costs, which would harm our operating results and financial condition. Our introduction of new service alternative
products and services that have lower price points than current offerings may result in our existing customers switching to the lower cost products, which
could reduce our revenue and have a material, adverse effect of our operating results. For example, the emergence of cloud computing products that provide
reasonable alternatives to our managed
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hosting solutions could cause a Rackspace managed hosting customer to take their business to an outside cloud computing provider or to transfer their
solution to a Rackspace cloud product or service that is available at a lower price point.

We may not be able to continue to add new customers and increase sales to our existing customers, which could adversely affect our operating
results.

Our growth is dependent on our ability to continue to attract new customers while retaining and expanding our service offerings to existing customers.
Growth in the demand for our services may be inhibited and we may be unable to sustain growth in our customer base for a number of reasons, such as:
 

 •  A reduction in the demand for our services due to the economic recession;
 

 •  Our inability to market our services in a cost-effective manner to new customers;
 

 
•  The inability of our customers to differentiate our services from those of our competitors or our inability to effectively communicate such

distinctions;
 

 •  Our inability to successfully communicate the benefits of hosting to businesses;
 

 
•  The decision of businesses to host their Internet sites and web infrastructure internally or in colocation facilities as an alternative to the use of our

hosting services;
 

 •  Our inability to penetrate international markets;
 

 •  Our inability to expand our sales to existing customers;
 

 •  Our inability to strengthen awareness of our brand; and
 

 •  Reliability, quality or compatibility problems with our services.

A substantial amount of our past revenue growth was derived from purchases of service upgrades by existing customers. Our costs associated with
increasing revenue from existing customers are generally lower than costs associated with generating revenue from new customers. Therefore, a reduction in the
rate of revenue increase or a rate of revenue decrease from our existing customers, even if offset by an increase in revenue from new customers, could reduce
our operating margins. Any failure by us to continue attracting new customers or grow our revenue from existing customers for a prolonged period of time
could have a material adverse effect on our operating results.

We may not be able to compete successfully against current and future competitors.
The market for hosting and cloud computing services is highly competitive. We expect to face additional competition from our existing competitors as

well as new market entrants in the future.

Our current and potential competitors vary by size, service offerings and geographic region. These competitors may elect to partner with each other or
with focused companies like us to grow their businesses. They include:
 

 •  Do-it-yourself solutions with a colocation partner such as AT&T, Equinix, SAVVIS, Switch & Data, and other telecommunications companies;
 

 •  IT outsourcing providers such as CSC, HP, and IBM;
 

 •  Hosting providers such as AT&T, British Telecom, SAVVIS, Terremark, The Planet, and Verio; and
 

 •  Large technology companies such as Amazon, Microsoft, Google, IBM and Salesforce.com, who are making investments in cloud computing.
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The primary competitive factors in our market are: customer service and technical expertise; security reliability and functionality; reputation and brand
recognition; financial strength; breadth of services offered; and price.

Many of our current and potential competitors have substantially greater financial, technical and marketing resources, larger customer bases, longer
operating histories, greater brand recognition, and more established relationships in the industry than we do. As a result, some of these competitors may be
able to:
 

 •  Develop superior products or services, gain greater market acceptance, and expand their service offerings more efficiently or more rapidly;
 

 •  Adapt to new or emerging technologies and changes in customer requirements more quickly;
 

 •  Bundle hosting services with other services they provide at reduced prices;
 

 •  Take advantage of acquisition and other opportunities more readily;
 

 •  Adopt more aggressive pricing policies and devote greater resources to the promotion, marketing, and sales of their services; and
 

 •  Devote greater resources to the research and development of their products and services.

Our operating results may be further adversely impacted by the current recession, worldwide political and economic uncertainties and specific
conditions in the markets we address.

Recently, general worldwide economic conditions have experienced a deterioration due to among other things, credit conditions resulting from the
financial crisis affecting the banking system and financial markets including: slower economic activity, concerns about inflation and deflation, volatility in
energy costs, decreased consumer confidence, reduced corporate profits and capital spending, the ongoing effects of the war in Iraq and Afghanistan, recent
international conflicts, terrorist and military activity, and the impact of natural disasters and public health emergencies. These conditions make it extremely
difficult for both us and our customers to accurately forecast and plan future business activities. Additionally, they could cause U.S. and foreign businesses
to slow spending on our services, which could delay and lengthen our new customer sales cycle and cause existing customers to do one or more of the
following:
 

 •  Cancel or reduce planned expenditures for our services;
 

 •  Seek to lower their costs by renegotiating their contracts with us;
 

 •  Move their hosting services in-house; or
 

 •  Switch to lower-priced solutions provided by us or our competitors.

Customer collections are our primary source of cash. We have historically grown through a combination of an increase in new customers and revenue
growth from our existing customers. We have experienced a decrease in our installed base growth and if the economic recession were to continue or deteriorate
further, we may experience additional reductions in our installed base growth, increases in churn and/or longer new customer sales cycles. If these events were
to occur, we could experience a decrease in revenue and a reduction in operating margins. Further, during challenging economic times, our customers may have
difficulty gaining timely access to sufficient credit, which could result in an impairment of their ability to make timely payments to us. We have experienced
an increase in our allowance for doubtful accounts when the economic conditions were difficult, and if our customers’ ability to pay were to further erode, we
may be required to increase our allowance for doubtful accounts. We cannot predict the timing, strength or duration of any economic slowdown or subsequent
economic recovery. If the economy or markets in which we operate do not improve, we may record additional charges related to the impairment of goodwill and
other long-lived assets, and our business, financial condition and results of operations could be materially and adversely affected.
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Finally, like many other companies, our stock price decreased during the onset of the recent economic downturn. Although our stock price has since
recovered, if investors have concerns that our business, financial condition and results of operations will be negatively impacted by a continued or worsened
worldwide economic downturn, our stock price could decrease again.

If we overestimate or underestimate our data center capacity requirements, our operating margins and profitability could be adversely affected.
The costs of construction, leasing, and maintenance of our data centers constitute a significant portion of our capital and operating expenses. In order to

manage growth and ensure adequate capacity for new and existing customers while minimizing unnecessary excess capacity costs, we continuously evaluate
our short and long-term data center capacity requirements. Due to the lead time in expanding existing data centers or building new data centers, we are required
to estimate demand for our services as far as two years into the future. We currently plan to increase our infrastructure as required through the addition and
expansion of data centers in the U.S. and internationally. In contrast to our data centers that we have established to date, several of which were acquired
relatively inexpensively as distressed assets of third parties, our current expansion plans may require us to pay full market rates for new data center facilities.
If we overestimate the demand for our services and therefore overbuild our data center capacity or commit to long term facility leases, our operating margins
could be materially reduced, which would materially impair our profitability.

If we underestimate our data center capacity requirements, we may not be able to service the expanding needs of our existing customers. Additionally, we
may be required to limit new customer acquisition while we work to increase data center capacity to satisfy demand, either of which may materially impair our
revenue growth.

We rely on a number of third-party providers for data center space, equipment, maintenance and other services, and the loss of, or problems with,
one or more of these providers may impede our growth or cause us to lose customers.

We rely on third-party providers to supply data center space, equipment and maintenance. For example, we lease data center space from third party
landlords, lease or purchase equipment from equipment providers, and source equipment maintenance through third parties. While we have entered into
various agreements for these products and services, any failure to obtain additional capacity or space, equipment, or maintenance, if required, would impede
the growth of our business and cause our financial results to suffer. For example, if a data center landlord does not adequately maintain its facilities, or
provide services for which it is responsible, we may not be able to deliver services to our customers according to our standards or at all. Further, the
equipment that we purchase could be deficient in some way, thereby affecting our products and services. If, for any reason, these providers fail to provide the
required services, fail to deliver their equipment, or suffer other failures, we may incur financial losses and our customers may lose confidence in our
company, and we may not be able to retain these customers.

We may not be able to renew the leases on our existing facilities on terms acceptable to us, if at all, which could adversely affect our operating
results.

We do not own the facilities occupied by our current data centers, but occupy them pursuant to commercial leasing arrangements. The initial terms of
our main existing data center leases expire over a period ranging from 2012 to 2027, with each having at least one renewal period of no less than three years.
Upon the expiration or termination of our data center facility leases, we may not be able to renew these leases on terms acceptable to us, if at all. If we fail to
renew any data center lease and are required to move the data center to a new facility, we would face significant challenges due to the technical complexity, risk,
and high costs of relocating the equipment. For example, if we are required to migrate customer servers to a new facility, such migration could result in
significant downtime for our affected customers. This could damage our reputation and lead us to lose current and potential customers, which would harm our
operating results and financial condition.
 

15



Table of Contents

Even if we are able to renew the leases on our existing data centers, we expect that rental rates, which will be determined based on then-prevailing market
rates with respect to the renewal option periods and which will be determined by negotiation with the landlord after the renewal option periods, will be higher
than rates we currently pay under our existing lease agreements. If we fail to increase revenue in our existing data centers by amounts sufficient to offset any
increases in rental rates for these facilities, our operating results may be materially and adversely affected.

We rely on third-party hardware that may be difficult to replace or could cause errors or failures of our service, which could adversely affect our
operating results or harm our reputation.

We rely on hardware acquired from third parties in order to offer our services. This hardware may not continue to be available on commercially
reasonable terms in quantities sufficient to meet our business needs, which could adversely affect our ability to generate revenue. Any errors or defects in third-
party hardware could result in errors or a failure of our service, which could harm our reputation and operating results. Indemnification from hardware
providers, if any, would likely be insufficient to cover any damage to our business or our customers resulting from such hardware failure.

We rely on third-party software that may be difficult to replace or which could cause errors or failures of our service that could lead to lost
customers or harm to our reputation.

We rely on software licensed from third parties to offer our services. This software may not continue to be available to us on commercially reasonable
terms, or at all. Any loss of the right to use any of this software could result in delays in the provisioning of our services until equivalent technology is either
developed by us, or, if available, is identified, obtained, and integrated, which could harm our business. Any errors or defects in third-party software or
inadequate or delayed support by the third party could result in errors or a failure of our service which could harm our operating results by adversely affecting
our revenue or operating costs.

We engage and rely on third-party consultants who may fail to provide effective guidance or solutions which could result in increased costs and
loss of business opportunity.

We engage third-party consultants who provide us with guidance and solutions relating to everything from overall corporate strategy to data center design
to employee engagement. We engage these parties based on our perception of their expertise and ability to provide valuable insight or solutions in the areas that
we believe need to be addressed in our business. However, these consultants may fail to provide us with effective guidance or solutions, which could result in
a loss of resources, operational failures or a loss of critical business opportunities.

Increased energy costs, power outages, and limited availability of electrical resources may adversely affect our operating results.
Our data centers are susceptible to increased regional, national or international costs of power and to electrical power outages. Our customer contracts do

not allow us to pass on any increased costs of energy to our customers, which could affect our operating margins. Further, power requirements at our data
centers are increasing as a result of the increasing power demands of today’s servers. Increases in our power costs could impact our operating results and
financial condition. Since we rely on third parties to provide our data centers with power sufficient to meet our needs, our data centers could have a limited or
inadequate amount of electrical resources necessary to meet our customer requirements. We attempt to limit exposure to system downtime due to power outages
by using backup generators and power supplies. However, these protections may not limit our exposure to power shortages or outages entirely. Any system
downtime resulting from insufficient power resources or power outages could damage our reputation and lead us to lose current and potential customers, which
would harm our operating results and financial condition.
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Increased Internet bandwidth costs and network failures may adversely affect our operating results.
Our success depends in part upon the capacity, reliability, and performance of our network infrastructure, including the capacity leased from our

Internet bandwidth suppliers. We depend on these companies to provide uninterrupted and error-free service through their telecommunications networks. Some
of these providers are also our competitors. We exercise little control over these providers, which increases our vulnerability to problems with the services they
provide. We have experienced and expect to continue to experience interruptions or delays in network service. Any failure on our part or the part of our third-
party suppliers to achieve or maintain high data transmission capacity, reliability or performance could significantly reduce customer demand for our services
and damage our business.

As our customer base grows and their usage of telecommunications capacity increases, we will be required to make additional investments in our
capacity to maintain adequate data transmission speeds, the availability of which may be limited or the cost of which may be on terms unacceptable to us. If
adequate capacity is not available to us as our customers’ usage increases, our network may be unable to achieve or maintain sufficiently high data
transmission capacity, reliability or performance. In addition, our business would suffer if our network suppliers increased the prices for their services and
we were unable to pass along the increased costs to our customers.

Our operating results may fluctuate significantly, which could make our future results difficult to predict and could cause our operating results to
fall below investor or analyst expectations.

Our operating results may fluctuate due to a variety of factors, including many of the risks described in this section, which are outside of our control.
As a result, comparing our operating results on a period-to-period basis may not be meaningful. You should not rely on our operating results for any prior
periods as an indication of our future operating performance. Fluctuations in our revenue can lead to even greater fluctuations in our operating results. Our
budgeted expense levels depend in part on our expectations of long-term future revenue. Given relatively fixed operating costs related to our personnel and
facilities, any substantial adjustment to our expenses to account for lower than expected levels of revenue will be difficult and time consuming. Consequently,
if our revenue does not meet projected levels, our operating expenses would be high relative to our revenue, which would negatively affect our operating
performance.

If our revenue or operating results do not meet or exceed the expectations of investors or securities analysts, the price of our common stock may decline.

We could be required to repay substantial amounts of money to certain state and local governments if we lose tax exemptions or grants previously
awarded to us, which could adversely affect our operating results.

In August 2007, we entered into an agreement with the State of Texas (Texas Enterprise Fund Grant) under which we may receive up to $22.0 million in
state enterprise fund grants on the condition that we meet certain employment levels in the State of Texas paying an average compensation of at least $56,000
per year (subject to increases). To the extent we fail to meet these requirements, we may be required to repay all or a portion of the grants plus interest. In
September 2007, we received the initial installment of $5.0 million from the State of Texas, which was recorded as a non-current liability.

On July 27, 2009, the Texas Enterprise Fund Grant agreement was amended to modify the job creation requirements. Under the amendment, the grant
has been divided into four separate tranches. The first tranche, called “Basic Fund” in the amendment, is $8.5 million with a Job Target of 1,225 new jobs
by December 2012 (in addition to the 1,436 jobs in place as of August 1, 2007 for a total of 2,661 jobs in Texas). We already have drawn $5.0 million of this
grant. We can draw an additional $3.5 million when we reach 1,225 new jobs. If we do not create 1,225 new jobs in Texas by 2012, we will be required to
repay the grant at a rate of $1,263 per job missed per year (clawback). As of December 31, 2009, we had created 617 new jobs. The maximum clawback
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would be the amounts we draw plus 3.4% interest on such amounts per year. The remaining three tranches are at our option. We can draw an additional $13.5
million, based on the following amounts and milestones: $5.5 million if we create a total of 2,100 new jobs in Texas; another $5.25 million if we create a total
of 3,000 new jobs in Texas; and $2.75 million more if we create a total of 4,000 new jobs in Texas. We are responsible for maintaining the jobs through
January 2022. If we eliminate jobs for which we have drawn funds, the clawback is triggered.

In October 2008, we received a grant in partnership with the State of Texas and Alamo Community College District, which will provide us the
opportunity to be reimbursed for up to $4.7 million for certain training expenses conducted through Alamo Community College over the next three years. In
order to fulfill our requirements, we must meet the employment requirements defined in the original Texas Enterprise Fund Grant agreement, which is unlikely.
Although we have not received any reimbursements, we are in the process of evaluating this grant and the need to renegotiate its terms.

On August 3, 2007, we entered into a lease for approximately 67 acres of land and a 1.2 million square foot facility in Windcrest, Texas, which is in the
San Antonio, Texas area, to house our corporate headquarters and potentially a future data center operation. In connection with this lease, we also entered into a
Master Economic Incentives Agreement (“MEIA”) with the Cities of Windcrest and San Antonio, Texas, Bexar County, and certain other parties, pursuant to
which we agreed to locate existing and future employees at the new facility location. The agreement requires that we meet certain employment levels each year,
with an ultimate job requirement of 4,500 jobs by December 31, 2012, provided that if the job requirement in any grant agreement with the State of Texas is
lower, then the job requirement under the MEIA is automatically adjusted downward. Consequently, because the Texas Enterprise Fund Grant agreement has
been amended to reduce the state job requirement, we believe the job requirement under the MEIA has been reduced to 1,774. In addition, the MEIA requires
that the median compensation of those employees be no less than $51,000 per year. In exchange for meeting these employment obligations, the parties agreed to
enter into the lease structure, pursuant to which, as a lessee of the Windcrest Economic Development Corporation, we will not be subject to most of the
property taxes associated with the property for a 14 year period. If we fail to meet these job creation requirements, we could lose a portion or all of the tax benefit
being provided during the 14 year period by having to make payments in lieu of taxes (PILOT) to the City of Windcrest. The amount of the PILOT payment
would be calculated based on the amount of taxes that would have been owed for that period if the property were not exempt, and then such amount would be
adjusted pursuant to certain factors, such as the percentage of employment achieved compared to the stated requirements.

We have significant debt obligations that include restrictive covenants limiting our flexibility to manage our business; failure to comply with these
covenants could trigger an acceleration of our outstanding indebtedness and adversely affect our financial position and operating results.

As of December 31, 2009, outstanding indebtedness under our credit facility totaled $50.0 million, with an outstanding letter of credit of $0.7 million.
Our credit facility requires that we maintain specific financial ratios and comply with covenants, including financial covenants, which contain numerous
restrictions on our ability to incur additional debt, pay dividends or make other restricted payments, sell assets, enter into affiliate transactions and take other
actions. Our existing credit facility is, and any future financing arrangements may be, secured by all of our assets. If we are unable to meet the terms of the
financial covenants or if we breach any of these covenants, a default could result under one or more of these agreements, which may require us to repay all
amounts owed under our credit facility.

If we are unable to generate sufficient cash to repay our debt obligations when they become due and payable, either when they mature or in the event of a
default, we may not be able to obtain additional debt or equity financing on favorable terms, if at all, which may negatively impact our ability to continue as a
going concern.
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We also have substantial equipment lease obligations, the principal balance of which totaled approximately $109.7 million as of December 31, 2009.
The payment obligations under these equipment leases are secured by a significant portion of the hardware used in our data centers. If we are unable to generate
sufficient cash flow from our operations or cash from other sources in order to meet the payment obligations under these equipment leases, we may lose the
right to possess and operate the equipment used in our data centers, which would substantially impair our ability to provide our services, which could have a
material adverse effect on our liquidity or results of operations.

We may require additional capital and may not be able to secure additional financing on favorable terms to meet our future capital needs, which
could adversely affect our financial position and result in stockholder dilution.

In order to fund future growth, we will be dependent on significant capital expenditures. We may need to raise additional funds through equity or debt
financings in the future in order to meet our operating and capital needs. We may not be able to secure additional debt or equity financing on favorable terms,
or at all, at the time when we need such funding. If we are unable to raise additional funds, we may not be able to pursue our growth strategy and our business
could suffer. If we raise additional funds through further issuances of equity or convertible debt securities, our existing stockholders could suffer significant
dilution in their percentage ownership of our company, and any new equity securities we issue could have rights, preferences, and privileges senior to those of
holders of our common stock. In addition, any debt financing that we may obtain in the future could have restrictive covenants relating to our capital raising
activities and other financial and operational matters, which may make it more difficult for us to obtain additional capital and to pursue business
opportunities, including potential acquisitions.

We are exposed to commodity and market price risks that have the potential to substantially influence our profitability and liquidity.
We are a large consumer of power. During 2009, we expensed approximately $17.5 million to utility companies to power our data centers. We anticipate

an increase in our consumption of power in the future as our sales grow. Power costs vary by locality and are subject to substantial seasonal fluctuations and
changes in energy prices. Our largest exposure to energy prices currently exists at our Grapevine, Texas facility in the Dallas-Fort Worth area, where the energy
market is deregulated. Power costs have historically tracked the general costs of energy, and continued increases in electricity costs may negatively impact our
gross margins or operating expenses. We periodically evaluate the advisability of entering into fixed price utilities contracts. If we choose not to enter into a fixed
price contract, we expose our cost structure to this commodity price risk.

Our main credit facility is a revolving line of credit with a base rate determined by the London Interbank Offered Rate, or LIBOR. This market rate of
interest is fluctuating and exposes our interest expense to risk. Our credit agreement obligates us to hedge part of that interest rate risk with appropriate
instruments, such as interest rate swaps or interest rate options. On December 10, 2007, we entered into an at-the-market fixed-payer interest rate swap with a
notional amount of $50.0 million at an annual rate of 4.135%. This swap essentially fixes the rate we pay on the first $50.0 million outstanding on our
revolving credit facility. As we borrow more, we may enter into additional swaps to continuously control our interest rate risk. Generally, we do not hedge our
complete exposure. As a result, we may be exposed to interest rate risk on the un-hedged portion of our borrowings. For example, a 100 basis point increase in
LIBOR would increase the interest expense on $10 million of borrowings that are not hedged by $0.1 million annually. As of December 31, 2009 we did not
have exposure to interest rate risk as we only had $50.0 million outstanding on our revolving credit facility.

The majority of our customers are invoiced, and substantially all of our expenses are paid, by us or our subsidiaries in the functional currency of our
company or our subsidiaries, respectively. However, some of our customers are currently invoiced in currencies other than the applicable functional currency.
As a result, we may incur foreign currency losses based on changes in exchange rates between the date of the invoice and the date of
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collection. In addition, large changes in foreign exchange rates relative to our functional currencies could increase the costs of our services to non-U.S.
customers relative to local competitors, thereby causing us to lose existing or potential customers to these local competitors. Thus, our results of operations and
cash flows are subject to fluctuations due to changes in foreign currency exchange rates. Further, as we grow our international operations, our exposure to
foreign currency risk could become more significant. To date, we have not entered into any foreign currency hedging contracts, although we may do so in the
future.

We may be accused of infringing the proprietary rights of others, which could subject us to costly and time-consuming litigation and require us to
discontinue services that infringe the rights of others.

There may be intellectual property rights held by others, including issued or pending patents, trademarks, and service marks that cover significant
aspects of our technologies, branding or business methods, including technologies and intellectual property we have licensed from third parties. Companies in
the technology industry, and other patent and trademark holders seeking to profit from royalties in connection with grants of licenses, own large numbers of
patents, copyrights, trademarks, service marks, and trade secrets and frequently enter into litigation based on allegations of infringement or other violations of
intellectual property rights. These or other parties could claim that we have misappropriated or misused intellectual property rights and any such intellectual
property claim against us, regardless of merit, could be time consuming and expensive to settle or litigate and could divert the attention of our technical and
management personnel. An adverse determination also could prevent us from offering our services to our customers and may require that we procure or develop
substitute services that do not infringe. For any intellectual property rights claim against us or our customers, we may have to pay damages, indemnify our
customers against damages or stop using technology or intellectual property found to be in violation of a third party’s rights. We may be unable to replace those
technologies with technologies that have the same features or functionality and that are of equal quality and performance standards on commercially reasonable
terms or at all. Licensing replacement technologies and intellectual property may significantly increase our operating expenses or may require us to restrict our
business activities in one or more respects. We may also be required to develop alternative non-infringing technology and intellectual property, which could
require significant effort, time, and expense.

Our use of open source software could impose limitations on our ability to provide our services, which could adversely affect our financial
condition and operating results.

We utilize open source software, including Linux-based software, in providing a substantial portion of our services. The terms of many open source
licenses have not been interpreted by U.S. courts, and there is a risk that such licenses could be construed in a manner that could impose unanticipated
conditions or restrictions on our ability to offer our services. Additionally, the use and distribution of open source software can lead to greater risks than the
use of third-party commercial software, as open source software does not come with warranties or other contractual protections regarding infringement claims
or the quality of the code. From time to time parties have asserted claims against companies that distribute or use open source software in their products and
services, asserting that open source software infringes their intellectual property rights. We could be subject to suits by parties claiming infringement of
intellectual property rights with respect to what we believe to be open source software. In such event, we could be required to seek licenses from third parties in
order to continue using such software or offering certain of our services or to discontinue the use of such software or the sale of our affected services in the
event we could not obtain such licenses, any of which could adversely affect our business, operating results and financial condition. In addition, if we
combine our proprietary software with open source software in a certain manner, we could, under some of the open source licenses, be required to release the
source code of our proprietary software.

We may not be successful in protecting and enforcing our intellectual property rights, which could adversely affect our financial condition and
operating results.

We rely primarily on copyright, trademark, service mark, and trade secret laws, as well as confidentiality procedures and contractual restrictions, to
establish and protect our proprietary rights, all of which provide only
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limited protection. We rely on copyright laws to protect software and certain other elements of our proprietary technologies, although to date we have not
registered for copyright protection. We cannot assure you that any future copyright, trademark or service mark registrations will be issued for pending or
future applications or that any registered or unregistered copyrights, trademarks or service marks will be enforceable or provide adequate protection of our
proprietary rights. We currently have one patent in the U.S. Our patent may be contested, circumvented, found unenforceable or invalidated.

We endeavor to enter into agreements with our employees and contractors and agreements with parties with whom we do business to limit access to and
disclosure of our proprietary information. The steps we have taken, however, may not prevent unauthorized use or the reverse engineering of our technology.
Moreover, others may independently develop technologies that are substantially equivalent, superior to, or otherwise competitive to the technologies we employ
in our services or that infringe our intellectual property. We may be unable to prevent competitors from acquiring trademarks or service marks and other
proprietary rights that are similar to, infringe upon, or diminish the value of our trademarks and service marks and our other proprietary rights. Enforcement
of our intellectual property rights also depends on successful legal actions against infringers and parties who misappropriate our proprietary information and
trade secrets, but these actions may not be successful, even when our rights have been infringed.

In addition, the laws of some foreign countries do not protect our proprietary rights to the same extent as the laws of the U.S. Despite the measures taken
by us, it may be possible for a third party to copy or otherwise obtain and use our technology and information without authorization. Policing unauthorized
use of our proprietary technologies and other intellectual property and our services is difficult, and litigation could become necessary in the future to enforce
our intellectual property rights. Any litigation could be time consuming and expensive to prosecute or resolve, result in substantial diversion of management
attention and resources, and harm our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

We may be liable for the material that content providers distribute over our network and we may have to terminate customers that provide content
that is determined to be illegal, which could adversely affect our operating results.

The law relating to the liability of private network operators for information carried on, stored on, or disseminated through their networks is still
unsettled in many jurisdictions. We have been and expect to continue to be subject to legal claims relating to the content disseminated on our network,
including claims under the Digital Millennium Copyright Act, other similar legislation and common law. In addition, there are other potential customer
activities, such as online gambling and pornography, where we, in our role as a hosting provider, may be held liable as an aider or abettor of our customers. If
we need to take costly measures to reduce our exposure to these risks, terminate customer relationships and the associated revenue or defend ourselves against
such claims, our financial results could be negatively affected.

Government regulation of data networks is largely unsettled, and depending on its evolution, may adversely affect our operating results.
We are subject to varying degrees of regulation in each of the jurisdictions in which we provide services. Local laws and regulations, and their

interpretation and enforcement, differ significantly among those jurisdictions. These laws can be costly to comply with, can be a significant diversion to
management’s time and effort, and can subject us to claims or other remedies, as well as negative publicity. Many of these laws were adopted prior to the
advent of the internet and related technologies and, as a result, do not contemplate or address the unique issues that the internet and related technologies
produce. Some of the laws that do reference the internet and related technologies have been and continue to be interpreted by the courts, but their applicability
and scope remain largely uncertain.

In addition, future regulatory, judicial, and legislative changes may have a material adverse effect on our ability to deliver services within various
jurisdictions. National regulatory frameworks that are consistent with
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the policies and requirements of the World Trade Organization have only recently been, or are still being, put in place in many countries. Accordingly, many
countries are still in the early stages of providing for and adapting to a liberalized telecommunications market. As a result, in these markets we may encounter
more protracted and difficult procedures to obtain any necessary licenses or negotiate interconnection agreements, which could negatively impact our ability to
expand in these markets or increase our operating costs in these markets.

Privacy concerns relating to our technology could damage our reputation and deter current and potential users from using our products and
services.

Since our products and services are web based, we store substantial amounts of data for our customers on our servers (including personal information).
Any systems failure or compromise of our security that results in the release of our customers’ data could (i) subject us to substantial damage claims from our
customers, (ii) expose us to costly regulatory remediation and (iii) harm our reputation and brand. We may also need to expend significant resources to protect
against security breaches. The risk that these types of events could seriously harm our business is likely to increase as we expand our hosting footprint.

Regulatory authorities around the world are considering a number of legislative proposals concerning data protection. In addition, the interpretation and
application of data protection laws in Europe and elsewhere are still uncertain and in flux. It is possible that these laws may be interpreted and applied in a
manner that is inconsistent with our data practices. If so, in addition to the possibility of fines, this could result in an order requiring that we change our data
practices, which could have an adverse effect on our business. Complying with these various laws could cause us to incur substantial costs or require us to
change our business practices in a manner adverse to our business.

Our ability to operate and expand our business is susceptible to risks associated with international sales and operations.
We anticipate that, for the foreseeable future, a significant portion of our revenue will continue to be derived from sources outside of the U.S. A key

element of our growth strategy is to further expand our customer base internationally and successfully operate data centers in foreign markets. We have limited
experience operating in foreign jurisdictions other than the U.K. and expect to continue to grow our international operations. Managing a global organization is
difficult, time consuming, and expensive. Our inexperience in operating our business globally increases the risk that international expansion efforts that we
may undertake will not be successful. In addition, conducting international operations subjects us to new risks that we have not generally faced. These risks
include:
 

 •  Localization of our services, including translation into foreign languages and adaptation for local practices and regulatory requirements;
 

 •  Lack of familiarity with and unexpected changes in foreign regulatory requirements;
 

 •  Longer accounts receivable payment cycles and difficulties in collecting accounts receivable;
 

 •  Difficulties in managing and staffing international operations;
 

 •  Fluctuations in currency exchange rates;
 

 
•  Potentially adverse tax consequences, including the complexities of transfer pricing, foreign value added tax systems, and restrictions on the

repatriation of earnings;
 

 •  Dependence on certain third parties, including channel partners with whom we do not have extensive experience;
 

 •  The burdens of complying with a wide variety of foreign laws and legal standards;
 

 •  Increased financial accounting and reporting burdens and complexities;
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 •  Political, social, and economic instability abroad, terrorist attacks and security concerns in general; and
 

 •  Reduced or varied protection for intellectual property rights in some countries.

Operating in international markets also requires significant management attention and financial resources. The investment and additional resources
required to establish operations and manage growth in other countries may not produce desired levels of revenue or profitability.

We rely on our Partner Network Program members for a significant portion of our revenues, and we benefit from our association with them. The
loss of these members could adversely affect our business.

Our Partner Network Program drives a significant amount of revenue to our hosting services business. Most of our member partners offer services that
are complementary to our hosting services. Some of the participants in our network, however, may actually compete with us in one or more of product or
service offering. These network partners may decide in the future to terminate their agreements with us and to use a competitor’s or their own services, which
would likely cause our revenue to decline.

Also, we derive tangible and intangible benefits from our association with some of our network partners, particularly high profile partners that reach a
large number of companies through the internet. If a substantial number of these relationships terminate their relationship with us, our business could be
adversely affected.

Our acquisitions may divert our management’s attention, result in dilution to our stockholders and consume resources that are necessary to
sustain our business.

We have made acquisitions and, if appropriate opportunities present themselves, we may make additional acquisitions or investments or enter into joint
ventures or strategic alliances with other companies. Risks commonly encountered in such transactions include:
 

 •  The difficulty of assimilating the operations and personnel of the combined companies;
 

 •  The risk that we may not be able to integrate the acquired services or technologies with our current services, products, and technologies;
 

 •  The potential disruption of our ongoing business;
 

 •  The diversion of management attention from our existing business;
 

 •  The inability of management to maximize our financial and strategic position through the successful integration of the acquired businesses;
 

 •  Difficulty in maintaining controls, procedures, and policies;
 

 •  The impairment of relationships with employees, suppliers, and customers as a result of any integration;
 

 •  The loss of an acquired base of customers and accompanying revenue; and
 

 
•  The assumption of leased facilities, other long-term commitments or liabilities that could have a material adverse impact on our profitability and

cash flow.

As a result of these potential problems and risks, businesses that we may acquire or invest in may not produce the revenue, earnings, or business
synergies that we anticipated. In addition, there can be no assurance that any potential transaction will be successfully identified and completed or that, if
completed, the acquired business or investment will generate sufficient revenue to offset the associated costs or other potential harmful effects on our business.
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Concerns about greenhouse gas emissions and the global climate change may result in environmental taxes, charges, assessments or penalties.
The effects of human activity on the global climate change have attracted considerable public and scientific attention, as well as the attention of the

United States government. Efforts are being made to reduce greenhouse emissions, particularly those from coal combustion by power plants, some of which
we may rely upon for power. The added cost of any environmental taxes, charges, assessments or penalties levied on these power plants could be passed on to
us, increasing the cost to run our data centers. Additionally, environmental taxes, charges, assessments or penalties could be levied directly on us in proportion
to our carbon footprint. Any enactment of laws or passage of regulations regarding greenhouse gas emissions by the United States, or any domestic or foreign
jurisdiction we perform business in, could adversely affect our operations and financial results.

Terrorist activity throughout the world and military action to counter terrorism could adversely impact our operating results.
Terrorist attacks and other acts of violence, as well as governments’ responses to such activities, may have an adverse effect on business, financial,

and general economic conditions internationally. Terrorist activities may disrupt our ability to provide our services or may increase our costs due to the need to
provide enhanced security, which would have a material adverse effect on our business and results of operations. These circumstances may also adversely
affect our ability to attract and retain customers, our ability to raise capital, and the operation and maintenance of our facilities. We may not have adequate
property and liability insurance to cover catastrophic events or attacks brought on by terrorist attacks and other acts of violence. In addition, we depend
heavily on the physical infrastructure, particularly as it relates to power, that exists in the markets in which we operate. Any damage to such infrastructure in
these markets where we operate may materially and adversely affect our operating results.

We have and will continue to incur significant increased costs as a result of operating as a public company, and our management will be required
to devote substantial time to new compliance initiatives.

As a public company, we have and will continue to incur significant legal, accounting, and other expenses that we did not incur as a private company.
In addition, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 as well as rules subsequently implemented by the Securities and Exchange Commission, and the New York
Stock Exchange, have imposed various requirements on public companies, including requiring changes in corporate governance practices. Our management
and other personnel have and will need to continue to devote a substantial amount of time to these new compliance initiatives. Moreover, these rules and
regulations have and are expected to continue to increase our legal and financial compliance costs, making some activities more time-consuming and costly. For
example, these new rules and regulations make it more difficult and more expensive for us to obtain director and officer liability insurance, and we may be
required to accept reduced policy limits and coverage or incur substantial costs to maintain the same or similar coverage. These rules and regulations could
also make it more difficult for us to attract and retain qualified persons to serve on our board of directors, our board committees or as executive officers.

In order to respond to additional regulations applicable to public companies, such as Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, we have hired a number of
finance and accounting personnel. In the future, we may be required to hire additional full-time accounting employees to fill these and other related finance and
accounting positions. Some of these positions require candidates with public company experience, and we may be unable to locate and hire such individuals
as quickly as needed, if at all. In addition, new employees will require time and training to learn our business and operating processes and procedures. If our
finance and accounting organization is unable for any reason to respond adequately to the increased demands resulting from being a public company, the
quality and timeliness of our financial reporting may suffer and we could experience internal control weaknesses. Any consequences resulting from
inaccuracies or delays in our reported financial statements could have an adverse effect on the trading price of our common stock as well as an adverse effect
on our business, operating results, and financial condition.
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Risks Related to the Ownership of Our Common Stock

The trading price of our common stock may be volatile.
The market price of our common stock has been highly volatile and could be subject to wide fluctuations in response to, among other things, the risk

factors described in this periodic report, and other factors beyond our control, such as stock market volatility and fluctuations in the valuation of companies
perceived by investors to be comparable to us.

Further, the stock markets have experienced price and volume fluctuations that have affected and continue to affect our stock price and the market
prices of equity securities of many other companies. These fluctuations often have been unrelated or disproportionate to the operating performance of those
companies. These broad market and industry fluctuations, as well as general economic, political, and market conditions, such as recessions, interest rate
changes or international currency fluctuations, may negatively affect the market price of our common stock. We may experience additional volatility as a result
of the limited number of our shares available for trading in the market.

In the past, many companies that have experienced volatility in the market price of their stock have been subject to securities class action litigation. We
may be the target of this type of litigation in the future. Securities litigation against us could result in substantial costs and divert our management’s attention
from other business concerns, which could seriously harm our business.

Our common stock has only been publicly traded since our initial public offering on August 7, 2008 and the price of our common stock has
fluctuated substantially since then and may fluctuate substantially in the future.

Our common stock has only been publicly traded since our initial public offering on August 7, 2008. The trading price of our common stock has
fluctuated significantly since then. For example, between December 31, 2008 and December 31, 2009, the closing trading price of our common stock was very
volatile, ranging between $4.38 and $23.06 per share, including single-day increases of up to 12.9% and declines up to 11.7%. Our trading price could
fluctuate substantially in the future due to the factors discussed in this Risk Factors section and elsewhere in this annual report on Form 10-K.

Contractual lock-up restrictions on the sale of approximately 99 million shares held by certain stockholders expired on February 3, 2009 and to the
extent a stockholder is not an affiliate, its shares are now eligible for sale without restriction. Affiliate sales are subject to the volume, manner of sale and other
restrictions of Rule 144 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1933 which allow the holder to sell up to the greater of 1% of our outstanding common stock or our
average weekly trading volume during any three-month period. Shares beneficially held by Graham Weston, Wells Fargo and Company and certain other
parties will be subject to such requirements to the extent they are deemed to be our “affiliates” as that term is defined in Rule 144. Additionally, Weston, Wells
Fargo and Company and other holders possess registration rights with respect to some of the shares of our common stock that they hold. If they choose to
exercise such rights, their sale of the shares that are registered would not be subject to the Rule 144 limitations. If a significant amount of the shares that become
eligible for resale enter the public trading markets in a short period of time, the market price of our common stock may decline.

Additionally, certain of our large stockholders are entities that may from time to time distribute the shares of our stock held by them to their beneficial
owners in order to provide them with liquidity with respect to their investment in our stock. The distributed shares may be eligible for immediate resale, in
which case all or a significant portion of these shares may be sold by these beneficial owners in the public markets during a short period of time following
their receipt of these shares, which may cause the market price for our stock to decline.
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The issuance of additional stock in connection with acquisitions, our stock option plans, or otherwise will dilute all other stockholdings.
We have a large number of shares of common stock authorized but unissued and not reserved for issuance under our stock option plans or otherwise.

We may issue all of these shares without any action or approval by our stockholders. We intend to continue to actively pursue strategic acquisitions. We may
pay for such acquisitions, partly or in full, through the issuance of additional equity. In addition, our Amended and Restated 2007 Stock Plan contains an
evergreen provision, which annually increases the number of shares issuable under the plan. Any issuance of shares in connection with our acquisitions, the
exercise of stock options or otherwise would dilute the percentage ownership held by our then existing stockholders.

Your ability to influence corporate matters may be limited because a small number of stockholders beneficially own a substantial amount of our
common stock.

Our directors and executive officers and their affiliates beneficially own a significant portion of our outstanding common stock. As a result, these
stockholders will be able to exercise significant influence over all matters requiring stockholder approval, including the election of directors and approval of
significant corporate transactions, such as a merger or other sale of our company or its assets. Although our directors and executive officers are not currently
party to any agreements or understandings to act together on matters submitted for stockholder approval, this concentration of ownership could limit your
ability to influence corporate matters and may have the effect of delaying or preventing a third party from acquiring control over us.

Anti-takeover provisions in our organizational documents and Delaware law may discourage or prevent a change of control, even if an
acquisition would be beneficial to our stockholders, which could affect our stock price adversely and prevent attempts by our stockholders to
replace or remove our current management.

Our restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws contain provisions that could delay or prevent a change of control of our
company or changes in our board of directors deemed undesirable by our board of directors that our stockholders might consider favorable. Some of these
provisions:
 

 
•  Authorize the issuance of blank check preferred stock which can be created and issued by our board of directors without prior stockholder

approval, with voting, liquidation, dividend, and other rights senior to those of our common stock;
 

 •  Provide for a classified board of directors, with each director serving a staggered three-year term;
 

 
•  Prohibit our stockholders from filling board vacancies or increasing the size of our board, calling special stockholder meetings or taking action by

written consent;
 

 
•  Provide for the removal of a director only with cause and by the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the shares then entitled to vote at an

election of our directors; and
 

 •  Require advance written notice of stockholder proposals and director nominations.

In addition, we are subject to the provisions of Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, which may prohibit certain business combinations
with stockholders owning 15% or more of our outstanding voting stock. These and other provisions in our restated certificate of incorporation, amended and
restated bylaws and Delaware law could make it more difficult for stockholders or potential acquirers to obtain control of our board of directors or initiate
actions that are opposed by our then current board of directors, including a merger, tender offer or proxy contest involving our company. Any delay or
prevention of a change of control transaction or changes in our board of directors could cause the market price of our common stock to decline.
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ITEM IB—UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.

ITEM 2—PROPERTIES

Office Space
Our corporate headquarter facility is located in San Antonio, Texas and consists of a 1.2 million square foot facility located on approximately 67 acres

of land. We have remodeled and are currently using approximately 230,000 square feet of office space and will continue to remodel the formerly vacant facility
as needed to facilitate our future growth and office requirements. Besides our corporate headquarters, we have additional U.S. office locations in Texas,
Virginia, Missouri, Illinois and Georgia and additional office space located in the U.K., the Netherlands, and Hong Kong. As of December 31, 2009, we
utilized approximately 568,000 square feet of our leased office space and used it for customer service, operations, sales, corporate and administrative
functions.

Data Centers
As of December 31, 2009, we leased eight main data centers located in the U.S., the U.K., and in Hong Kong with approximately 220,000 available

technical square feet, of which 162,800 were utilized. The six data centers in the U.S are located in Texas, Virginia and Illinois.

We believe that our existing office space and data center facilities are adequate for our current needs and that suitable additional or alternative space will
be available in the future to meet our anticipated needs.

ITEM 3—LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We are party to various legal proceedings which we consider routine and incidental to our business. On October 22, 2008, Benjamin E. Rodriguez
D/B/A Management and Business Advisors vs. Rackspace Hosting, Inc. and Graham Weston , was filed in the 37  District Court in Bexar County Texas
by a former consultant to the company, Benjamin E. Rodriguez. The suit alleges breach of an oral agreement to issue Mr. Rodriguez a 1% interest in our stock
in the form of options or warrants for compensation for services he was engaged to perform for us. We believe that the plaintiff’s position is without merit and
intend to vigorously defend this lawsuit. We do not expect the results of this claim or any other current proceeding to have a material adverse effect on our
business, results of operations or financial condition.

ITEM 4—SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

No matters were submitted to a vote of security holders during the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2009.
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PART II

ITEM 5—MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF
EQUITY SECURITIES

Market Information for Common Stock
Our common stock began trading on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol “RAX” beginning on August 8, 2008. Prior to that time, there

was no public market for our common stock.

The following table sets forth for the indicated periods the high and low closing prices for our common stock for the periods indicated, as reported by
the New York Stock Exchange.
 

    High   Low
Fiscal Year 2009 Quarters:     
First Quarter   $ 7.81  $ 4.38
Second Quarter    14.50   7.37
Third Quarter    18.33   12.24
Fourth Quarter    23.06   16.75

Fiscal Year 2008 Quarters:     
Third Quarter (from August 8, 2008)   $11.71  $ 8.24
Fourth Quarter    8.33   4.79

The last reported sale price for our common stock on the New York Stock Exchange was $19.81 per share on February 19, 2010.

Dividend Policy

We have never paid any cash dividends on our common stock. Our board of directors currently intends to retain any future earnings to support
operations and to finance the growth and development of our business and does not intend to pay cash dividends on our common stock for the foreseeable
future. Any future determination related to our dividend policy will be made at the discretion of our board.

Stockholders

As of February 19, 2010, there were 226 registered stockholders of record of our common stock. Because many of our shares of common stock are
held by brokers and other institutions on behalf of stockholders, we are unable to estimate the total number of stockholders represented by these stockholders
of record.

Securities Authorized For Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans
For information regarding securities authorized for issuance under equity compensation plans, see Part III “Item 12—Security Ownership of Certain

Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters.”
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Stock Performance Graph
The graph set forth below compares the cumulative total stockholder return on our common stock between August 7, 2008 (the date of our initial public

offering, or IPO) and December 31, 2009, with the cumulative total return of (i) the Russell 2000 Index and (ii) the Nasdaq Internet Total Return Index, over the
same period. This graph assumes the investment of $100 on August 7, 2008 in our common stock at our IPO offering price of $12.50 per share, the Russell
2000 Index and the Nasdaq Internet Total Return Index, and assumes the reinvestment of dividends, if any. We are currently included in the Russell 2000
Index. The Nasdaq Internet Total Return Index consists of U.S. listed companies engaged in internet-related businesses.

The comparisons shown in the graph below are based upon historical data. We caution that the stock price performance shown in the graph below is not
necessarily indicative of, nor is it intended to forecast, the potential future performance of our common stock.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities
None
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ITEM 6—SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following selected consolidated financial data should be read in conjunction with the financial statements and the notes to those statements
and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and our consolidated financial statements included
elsewhere in this document. The selected consolidated financial data in this section are not intended to replace the financial statements and are
qualified in their entirety by the consolidated financial statements and related notes thereto included elsewhere in this document.

The statements of income and cash flow data for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2007, 2008 and 2009 and the balance sheet data as of
December 31, 2008 and 2009 have been derived from our audited consolidated financial statements, which have been audited by KPMG, LLP,
independent registered public accounting firm, and included elsewhere in this document. The statements of income data for the years ended
December 31, 2005 and 2006 and the balance sheet data as of December 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007 have been derived from our audited consolidated
financial statements, which have been audited by KPMG, LLP, independent registered public accounting firm, but are not included in this document.
Historical results are not necessarily indicative of future results. See note 3 to the financial statements for an explanation of the method used to
determine the number of shares used in computing basic and diluted net income per common share.
 
   Year Ended December 31,  
(In thousands, except per share data)   2005   2006   2007   2008   2009  
Net revenue   $ 138,768   $223,966   $ 362,017   $ 531,933   $ 628,987  
Costs and expenses:       

Cost of revenue    40,987    64,889    118,225    172,583    200,943  
Sales and marketing    21,837    35,667    53,930    80,323    79,458  
General and administrative    38,968    59,832    102,777    148,706    168,116  
Depreciation and amortization    20,193    32,335    56,476    90,172    125,229  

Total costs and expenses    121,985    192,723    331,408    491,784    573,746  
Income from operations    16,783    31,243    30,609    40,149    55,241  

Other income (expense):       
Interest expense    (808)   (1,095)   (3,643)   (8,229)   (8,950) 
Interest and other income    633    572    828    768    255  

Total other income (expense)    (175)   (523)   (2,815)   (7,461)   (8,695) 
Income before income taxes    16,608    30,720    27,794    32,688    46,546  

Income taxes    5,836    10,900    9 ,965    10,985    16,328  
Net income   $ 10,772   $ 19,820   $ 17,829   $ 21,703   $ 30,218  

Net income per share       
Basic   $ 0.12   $ 0.20   $ 0.18   $ 0.20   $ 0.25  
Diluted   $ 0.11   $ 0.19   $ 0.17   $ 0.19   $ 0.24  

Balance sheet data       
Cash and cash equivalents   $ 8,022   $ 8,374   $ 24,937   $ 238,407   $ 125,425  
Total assets    83,645    132,983    301,813    685,261    668,645  
Long term obligations    8,417    16,391    96,213    283,053    161,024  
Total stockholders’ equity    46,713    70,490    96,873    269,684    349,427  
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ITEM 7—MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF
FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and the related notes contained elsewhere in
this document.

Overview of our Business
Rackspace Hosting, Inc. is the world leader in the hosting and cloud computing industry. Our growth is the result of our commitment to serving our

customers, known as Fanatical Support , and our exclusive focus on hosting and cloud computing. We have been successful in attracting and retaining
thousands of customers and in growing our business. We are a pioneer in an emerging category, hybrid hosting, which combines the benefits of both
traditional dedicated hosting and cloud computing. We are committed to maintaining our service-centric focus and will follow our vision to be considered one
of the world’s greatest service companies.

Rackspace offers a portfolio of hosting services, including managed hosting, cloud hosting, and cloud application hosting. The equipment required
(servers, routers, switches, firewalls, load balancers, cabinets, software, wiring, etc.) to deliver services is typically purchased and managed by us.

We sell our services to small and medium-sized businesses as well as large enterprises. During 2009, 25.6% of our net revenue was generated by our
operations outside of the U.S., mainly from the U.K. Additionally, late in 2008, we began operating a Hong Kong data center and a sales office, which
generated minimal revenue in 2008 and 2009. Our growth strategy includes, among other strategies, targeting international customers as we plan to expand our
activities in continental Europe and Asia.

As we grow our business, we believe our operations are exposed to certain risks and uncertainties, which could negatively impact our operating results
and financial condition. See the section entitled “Risk Factors” for further discussion of these risks.

How We Earn Revenue and Measure Growth
Our subscription-based business model generates almost all of our revenue on a recurring basis. Our customers pay us a recurring fee based on the size

and complexity of the IT systems we manage and the level of service intensity we provide, pursuant to service agreements that typically provide for monthly
payments. Our cloud business offers pay-as-you go services that are earned and recognized as the services are provided. Revenue is reduced by credits issued
to customers, primarily for service interruptions, and also includes revenue related to customers who have cancelled their service. Net revenue for the years
ended December 31, 2007, 2008 and 2009 was $362.0 million, $531.9 million, and $629.0 million, respectively, representing year-over-year increases of
46.9% in 2008 and 18.3% in 2009.

Our revenue growth is primarily due to increased volume of services provided, both due to an increasing number of new customers and incremental
services rendered to existing customers, as well as a broader suite of hosting services acquired through acquisitions and research and development activities.
“Growth in installed base” is a metric we use to measure the growth of revenue derived only from our existing customer base.

The growth in installed base metric consists of “net upgrades” minus defection “churn”. Net upgrades measure the incremental monthly recurring
revenue from customer upgrades less downgrades as a percentage of total monthly recurring revenue. Churn measures the reduction of monthly revenue as a
percentage of total monthly recurring revenue due to customer terminations. Terminations typically result from customers who (i) no longer need hosting
services, (ii) are unable to pay for hosting services, (iii) decide to provide their services in-house, or (iv) switch to another hosting provider. For the year ended
December 31, 2009, our average monthly growth in installed base was 0.2%.
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We measure net upgrades at the time a customer upgrades or downgrades services with us and we measure churn in the month we stop providing
services to the customer. Net upgrades and churn are expressed as percentage increases (decreases) in the contractual monthly recurring fee associated with a
service agreement for a given customer.

Our net revenue is denominated in U.S. dollars as well as other foreign currencies including the pound sterling, the euro, and Hong Kong dollars.
Changes in related currency exchange rates may affect our net revenue. The decrease in net revenue, due to foreign currency fluctuations, was approximately
$28 million, or 5% in 2009.

Nature of Our Operating Expenses
Our operating expense categories include cost of revenue, sales and marketing, general and administrative, and depreciation and amortization.

Employee related costs have historically been the primary driver of our operating expenses and we expect this trend to continue. Employee related costs
include items such as wages, commissions, variable compensation, vacation, benefits, and share-based compensation. Employee variable compensation is
dependent upon the financial results of the company, thus favorable changes in the financial results are partially offset by additional variable compensation
expense and vice versa. We had 2,611 and 2,774 employees as of December 31, 2008 and 2009, respectively. The year-over-year increases were primarily
attributable to increases in our customer and data center support teams. To maintain our service focus, our support teams have continued to grow with the
growth of our business. Our headcount is expected to increase in 2010 as we continue to grow our business.

Cost of revenue primarily consists of employee related costs of our customer support teams and data center employees, as well as the costs to operate our
data centers. The majority of our data center costs vary with the volume of services sold and include: power, bandwidth, and rent; costs associated with
licenses; and costs related to maintenance and the replacement of IT equipment components. Our contracts with network operators for bandwidth capacity
generally commit us to pay a monthly fee based on usage. Our data centers rely on local and regional utility companies as their primary source of power. We
entered into a fixed-price power arrangement with the electricity provider of our Grapevine, Texas data center which expires in September 2011. We also entered
into a fixed price contract for our Slough U.K. data center, which expires in May 2011. We enter into contracts with software providers that allow us to
provide licenses to our customers. Our arrangements with these software vendors are typically one to three years in length and we generally pay a fixed fee per
license.

Sales and marketing activities are directed toward both the acquisition of new customers and increasing our business with existing customers. We pay
commissions to our sales representatives generally upon execution of a service agreement. Sales and marketing expense also includes compensation to our
channel partners. Marketing expenditures are intended to communicate the advantages of our services and to generate customer demand. The majority of our
marketing expenditures relate to lead generation through pay-per-click placements on major Internet search engines.

General and administrative activities are comprised of employee related costs, professional fees, general corporate costs and overhead. In 2008, we
invested in our administrative infrastructure and personnel to support our continued growth and expenses related to becoming a publicly traded company,
including increased audit and legal fees, costs of compliance with securities and other regulations, implementation costs for Sarbanes-Oxley certification and
compliance with Section 404, investor relations expense, and higher insurance premiums. In late 2008 and continuing into 2009, we began to scale our
administrative costs with a focus on operational excellence projects, process improvement initiatives and decreased discretionary spending.

Depreciation and amortization expense includes amortization of leasehold improvements associated with our data centers and corporate facilities, as well
as depreciation of our data center infrastructure and equipment.
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Amortization expense is also comprised of the amortization of our customer based intangible assets related to acquisitions, internally developed technology, and
software licenses purchased from third-party vendors.

Our operating expenses are denominated in U.S. dollars as well as other foreign currencies including the pound sterling, the euro, and Hong Kong dollar.
Changes in related currency exchange rates may affect our operating results. The decrease in operating expenses, due to foreign currency fluctuations, was
approximately $22 million, or 4%, in 2009.

Capital Expenditures
Our capital expenditures primarily relate to customer gear, data center infrastructure, corporate office build-outs, and internally developed software and

other projects. Each category is defined below:

Customer gear—Includes servers, firewalls, load balancers, cabinets, switches, backup libraries, storage arrays and drives and network cabling.

Data center infrastructure—Includes generators, uninterruptible power supplies or UPS, power distribution units, mechanical and electrical plants,
chillers, raised floor and other building improvements.

Corporate office build-outs—Includes demolition, raised floor, chillers, furniture and general building improvements.

Internally developed software and other—Includes salaries and payroll-related costs of employees and consultants who devote time to the development
of certain internal-use software projects, and other projects that meet the criteria for capitalization.

In 2009, we expended cash or entered into lease arrangements for the purchase of customer gear of $108.8 million, data center infrastructure costs of
$37.2 million, corporate office build-outs of $14.7 million and $25.0 million related to internally developed software and other capitalized projects. In 2010,
we expect to have capital expenditures between $185 million and $235 million in the aggregate consisting of $140 million to $160 million for customer gear,
$10 million to $20 million for data center infrastructure costs, $10 million to $20 million for office build-outs, and $25 million to $35 million for capitalized
software and other projects.

Our data center infrastructure is built to accommodate future revenue growth. While we try to minimize the amount of excess capacity, we consider
appropriate lead times for these build outs, which requires us to build capacity ahead of actual revenue growth. We also strive to align our investment in data
center infrastructure with our revenue growth to keep utilization rates high. We measure our utilization rate as the power being consumed by all electrical
equipment relative to the total available capacity in our data centers excluding portions of the data center that have not been placed on line. We pursue a
modular build out strategy within our data centers that expands the operational footprint when needed. From time to time, we will be required to make
significant investments in new data centers or enter into long-term facility leases to support expected growth beyond our ability to build out additional modules
in existing facilities.

While many factors may influence our margins, in periods when we make large investments, margins may decrease. Such investments may be made in
connection with data center and office expansion, as well as significant product and market development initiatives.

In February 2009 and July 2009, we entered into operating lease agreements with subsidiaries of DuPont Fabros Technology to lease approximately
11,000 and 36,700 square feet of technical square feet in a data center facility in the Northern Virginia area and the Chicago area, respectively. This current
strategy of entering into operating lease agreements for data center space reduces the capital investments required to increase our data center square footage.
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Disciplined Use of Capital and Management of Profitability
We have achieved net income profitability since the first quarter of 2004 through focused management of capital and profitability. We use the Economic

Value Added model (EVA ), which was developed by Stern Stewart & Co., as a tool to help ensure our growth and capital investments create stockholder
value. Virtually all capital expenditures are evaluated against this metric using a standard cost of capital. EVA is calculated for our product offerings to
evaluate our profitability.

We are also very careful with our facility and data center expansion practices. Currently, we sell to businesses in more than 120 countries. Unlike a
colocation provider, we do not need to be located near our customers, allowing us to build or lease centralized, cost-optimized facilities with teams of highly-
trained staff. We strive to locate our regional facilities and data centers in lower-cost locations, which reduces rent, power and labor costs. We also focus on
either leasing or building sections of data centers in increments so that capital expenditures are more closely matched to revenue growth.

We have made significant investments in cloud computing. Over the last 3 years, we have made three acquisitions that have expanded our product set
into cloud computing (cloud hosting and cloud applications). We will continue to identify and pursue strategic investments that have the potential to generate
savings, enhance our competitive advantage, and increase our capabilities to serve customers.

Economies of Scale—We have achieved a critical mass that generates long term cost advantages. Like any service that moves from distributed to
centralized production, scale is a factor in ensuring costs are low enough to drive mass adoption. We are able to generate significant cost advantages based on
our large installed customer base and growth profile. We purchase large quantities of computing and data center assets, which allows us to negotiate higher
volume pricing savings. We are also able to make larger R&D investments than many of our smaller competitors due to our ability to spread these costs across
a larger base of revenue.
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Key Metrics
We carefully track several financial and operational metrics to monitor and control our growth, financial performance, and capacity. Our key metrics

are structured around growth, profitability, capital efficiency, infrastructure capacity, and utilization. The following data should be read in conjunction with
the consolidated financial statements, the notes to the financial statements and other financial information included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
 
   Year Ended  
(Dollar amounts in thousands, except annualized net
revenue per average technical square foot)   

December 31,
2007   

December 31,
2008   

December 31,
2009  

Growth     
Managed hosting customers at period end    15,454    18,480    19,304  
Cloud customers at period end **    13,739    34,820    71,621  
Number of customers at period end    29,193    53,300    90,925  
Managed hosting, net revenue   $ 356,519   $ 506,855   $ 572,606  
Cloud, net revenue   $ 5,498   $ 25,078   $ 56,381  
Net revenue   $ 362,017   $ 531,933   $ 628,987  
Revenue growth (year over year)    61.6%   46.9%   18.2% 
Net upgrades (monthly average)    2.5%   1.8%   1.2% 
Churn (monthly average)    -0.9%   -1.2%   -1.0% 
Growth in installed base (monthly average) *    1.6%   0.6%   0.2% 
Number of employees (Rackers) at period end    2,021    2,611    2,774  
Number of servers deployed at period end    36,692    47,518    56,671  

Profitability     
Income from operations   $ 30,609   $ 40,149   $ 55,241  
Depreciation and amortization   $ 56,476   $ 90,172   $ 125,229  
Share-based compensation expense     

Cost of revenue   $ 433   $ 2,465   $ 2,850  
Sales and marketing   $ 598   $ 2,141   $ 2,884  
General and administrative   $ 3,221   $ 10,411   $ 14,390  

Total share-based compensation expense   $ 4,252   $ 15,017   $ 20,124  
Adjusted EBITDA (1)   $ 91,337   $ 145,338   $ 200,594  
Adjusted EBITDA margin    25.2%   27.3%   31.9% 
Operating income margin    8.5%   7.5%   8.8% 

Income from operations   $ 30,609   $ 40,149   $ 55,241  
Effective tax rate    35.9%   33.6%   35.1% 
Net operating profit after tax (NOPAT) (1)   $ 19,620   $ 26,659   $ 35,851  
NOPAT margin    5.4%   5.0%   5.7% 

Capital efficiency and returns     
Interest bearing debt   $ 111,451   $ 300,413   $ 167,386  
Stockholders’ equity   $ 96,873   $ 269,684   $ 349,427  
Less: Excess cash   $ —     $ (200,620)  $ (105,083) 
Capital base   $ 208,324   $ 369,477   $ 411,730  
Average capital base   $ 144,783   $ 292,238   $ 390,472  
Capital turnover (annualized)    2.50    1.82    1.61  
Return on capital (annualized) (1)    13.6%   9.1%   9.2% 

Capital expenditures     
Purchases of property and equipment, net   $ 140,383   $ 165,396   $ 117,292  
Vendor financed equipment purchases   $ 44,149   $ 85,490   $ 68,382  

Total capital expenditures   $ 184,532   $ 250,886   $ 185,674  
Customer gear   $ 85,162   $ 105,606   $ 108,829  
Data center build outs   $ 38,239   $ 79,820   $ 37,208  
Office build outs   $ 35,383   $ 41,214   $ 14,672  
Capitalized software and other projects   $ 25,748   $ 24,246   $ 24,965  

Total capital expenditures   $ 184,532   $ 250,886   $ 185,674  

Infrastructure capacity and utilization     
Technical square feet of data center space at period end    114,749    134,923    162,848  
Annualized net revenue per average technical square foot   $ 3,604   $ 4,189   $ 3,929  
Utilization rate at period end    60.9%   70.4%   65.3% 

 
 * Due to rounding, totals may not equal the sum of the line items in the table above.
 

** Beginning in 2009, amounts include SaaS customers for Jungle Disk using a Rackspace storage solution. Jungle Disk customers using a third party storage solution are excluded.
 

(1) See discussion and reconciliation of our Non-GAAP financial measures to the most comparable GAAP measures.
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Executive Overview

To aid in understanding our operating results for the periods covered by this report, we have provided an executive overview and a summary of the
significant events that affected the most recent fiscal year. These sections should be read in conjunction with the more detailed discussion and analysis of our
financial condition and results of operations in Item 7, our “Risk Factors” section included in Item 1A of Part I, and our audited consolidated financial
statements and notes included in Item 8 of Part II of this report.

We have focused on three areas in 2009, which include the continued growth of our business (albeit at lower rates than in the past primarily due to the
recent economic conditions), scaling our profits and returns, and focusing on the minimal use of cash to achieve our growth.

Growth of Our Business. Our business has grown in 2009 with net revenue year over year growth of $97.1 million, or 18.3%, to $629.0 million
compared to $531.9 million in 2008. Our increase in net revenue was primarily due to increased volume of services provided, due to both an increasing
number of new customers and incremental services rendered to existing customers. Year-over-year revenue increases were 13.0% for our managed hosting
service and 124.8% for our cloud computing service. Partially offsetting the revenue increase was the negative impact of a stronger U.S. dollar relative to the
pound sterling. Net revenue in 2009 would have been approximately $28 million higher had the U.S. dollar to the pound sterling exchange rate remained
constant from the prior year.

Our 2009 performance was the result of a combination of continued market demand for our hosting services as well as our focused execution on our
growth strategy. As of December 31, 2009, we served over 90,000 customers running on over 56,600 servers within our data centers in the U.S., the U.K.,
and Hong Kong, which represented incremental increases in each category as compared to 2008. The recent economic downturn caused many of our customers
to respond with reductions in their IT spending. As a result, we experienced fewer upgrades from our installed base customers that resulted in slower revenue
growth when compared to previous years. However, during 2009, we experienced a monthly average churn rate of 1.0%, which slightly decreased from 1.2%
for 2008. Overall, our installed base continued to provide a portion of our growth in 2009, growing at an average rate of 0.2% in 2009, compared to 0.6% in
2008 and 1.6% in 2007, respectively. In the fourth quarter of 2009, our churn rate was 0.8% and installed base growth was 0.4%.

Despite the current challenging economic environment, we believe there are fundamental aspects of our business that will allow us to differentiate from
our competitors. Our hosting services provide customers with a mission critical service and world class support and we believe this provides us with
substantial growth opportunities, even in a more constrained spending environment. We also believe that the investments in our portfolio of services and our
ability to deliver a superior service outcome to our customers will lead to an increase in market share once the economy begins to recover.

Our revenue growth has moved us into a new competitive landscape where our direct competitors are much larger and stronger financially. We will be
competing more directly with Amazon, Microsoft, IBM and Google as hosting services become increasingly more virtualized. Accordingly, we anticipate
increased infrastructure investments to complement and leverage Fanatical Support , our principal differentiation from our competitors across our multiple
service lines.

Scaling Profits and Returns. During 2008 and continuing into 2009, we implemented a series of operational excellence initiatives and began to
experience the benefit in 2009 with a reduction in each cost category on a percentage of revenue basis as compared to the previous year resulting in improved
margins. Our initiatives focused on scaling expenses, and redirecting our spend to areas that would provide more value, particularly in the area of sales and
marketing. In addition, initiatives were put into place to more efficiently deploy our capital.

Income from operations increased $15.1 million, or 37.7%, to $55.2 million in 2009, compared to $40.1 million in 2008. Operating income margin
was 8.8% in 2009 as compared to 7.5% in 2008. Adjusted EBITDA
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increased $55.3 million, or 38.1%, to $200.6 million in 2009, compared to $145.3 million in 2008. In addition, Adjusted EBITDA as a percentage of revenue
was 31.9% in 2009 compared to 27.3% in 2008. See the following section on non-GAAP financial measures for a discussion of Adjusted EBITDA.  Net
income was $30.2 million or $0.24 per share on a diluted basis in 2009, compared to net income of $21.7 million, or $0.19 per share on a diluted basis in
2008. Net income margin was 4.8% in 2009 as compared to 4.1% in 2008.

Use of Cash. For the year ended December 31, 2009, we generated adjusted free cash flow of $13.8 million. See below for our discussion of Non-GAAP
Financial Measures.

During 2009, except for $150 million of repayments of our line of credit, we were able to maintain a consistent level of cash and cash equivalents while
growing our business by maintaining our disciplined use of capital. Our capital expenditures for 2009 were $185.7 million of which $68.4 million was
vendor financed, while our cash provided by operating activities was $196.9 million. In 2009, we deployed an additional 9,153 servers, bringing our total
servers to 56,671, an increase of 19.3%. We also completed the build out of our Grapevine, Texas and data center and the second phase of our Slough, U.K.
data center, in the first half of the year. As of December 31, 2009, we had $64.7 million in cash deposits and $60.7 million in money market funds.

We will continue to focus on these three areas in 2010. We expect to grow our business by broadening our portfolio of offerings in dedicated hosting and
cloud computing, and we will continue to look at growth opportunities through acquisitions. We will continue our focus on expense management while
improving our resource allocation to fund investment in strategic initiatives related to our data center expansion efforts and further growth in our portfolio of
services, while striving to minimize our use of cash.

Company Highlights and Developments
Cloud Computing Offerings
We continue to invest in our cloud computing business and believe it is a critical part of our future success. Cloud computing, which consists of Cloud

Hosting and Cloud Applications, continues to emerge as a new technology, with high adoption rates and investment, which is reflected in its high revenue
growth rate. The primary benefit of cloud computing is the value proposition that it provides for businesses. It enables businesses to match costs directly to
revenue to scale up and down on a real time basis as necessary. We do not believe that cloud computing will replace traditional dedicated hosting offerings, but
rather complement them, allowing customers to choose from a portfolio of offerings to meet need their business needs.

During 2009, we released the specifications for our Cloud Servers and Cloud Files APIs under the Creative Commons 3.0 Attribution open source license
and we launched Cloud Tools, which is an online service for sharing tools, applications and services built by our strategic partners and independent
developers for The Rackspace Cloud, and Rackspace Archiving, which enables our hosted email customers to automatically keep a long-term backup of
incoming and outgoing email.

In May 2009, we launched a new release of our business-class email hosting service. Rackspace hosts over 1.6 million mailboxes across its hosted
email offerings, Rackspace Email and Microsoft Exchange.

In February 2010, we launched a beta version of Cloud Servers for Windows. This offering combines Microsoft technology with utility pricing and on-
demand service, which will allow Windows users to deploy servers in minutes and pay only for what they use. This offering expands the number of potential
customers for our Cloud offering.

Data Center Infrastructure and Growth
During 2009, we continued to add to our existing data center footprint both in the U.S. and internationally to support our growth. We added an

approximate net 27,900 technical square feet of data center space.

In June 2009 and December 2009, we experienced service interruptions in a portion of our data center operations in Grapevine, Texas. As a result, certain
customers experienced downtime and in the second and
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fourth quarters we extended approximately $2.4 million and $1.3 million, respectively, in service credits to them. We have been working to reduce the
likelihood of further incidents at this data center and our other data centers throughout the world. While we have not experienced larger than normal customer
attrition following these interruptions, the extent of any damage to our reputation is difficult to access.

Results of Operations
The following tables set forth our results of operations for the specified periods and as a percentage of our revenue for those periods. The period-to-period

comparison of financial results is not necessarily indicative of future results.

Consolidated Statements of Income:
 
   Year Ended December 31,  
(In thousands)   2007   2008   2009  
Net revenue   $ 362,017   $ 531,933   $628,987  
Costs and expenses:     

Cost of revenue    118,225    172,583    200,943  
Sales and marketing    53,930    80,323    79,458  
General and administrative    102,777    148,706    168,116  
Depreciation and amortization    56,476    90,172    125,229  

Total costs and expenses    331,408    491,784    573,746  
Income from operations    30,609    40,149    55,241  

Other income (expense):     
Interest expense    (3,643)   (8,229)   (8,950) 
Interest and other income (expense)    828    768    255  

Total other income (expense)    (2,815)   (7,461)   (8,695) 
Income before income taxes    27,794    32,688    46,546  

Income taxes    9 ,965    10,985    16,328  
Net income   $ 17,829   $ 21,703   $ 30,218  

Consolidated Statements of Income, as a Percentage of Net Revenue:
 
   Year Ended December 31,  
(Percent of net revenue)   2007   2008   2009  
Net revenue   100.0%  100.0%  100.0% 
Costs and expenses:     

Cost of revenue   32.7%  32.4%  31.9% 
Sales and marketing   14.9%  15.1%  12.6% 
General and administrative   28.4%  28.0%  26.7% 
Depreciation and amortization   15.6%  17.0%  19.9% 

Total costs and expenses   91.5%  92.5%  91.2% 
Income from operations   8.5%  7.5%  8.8% 

Other income (expense):     
Interest expense   -1.0%  -1.5%  -1.4% 
Interest and other income (expense)   0.2%  0.1%  0.0% 

Total other income (expense)   -0.8%  -1.4%  -1.4% 
Income before income taxes   7.7%  6.1%  7.4% 

Income taxes   2.8%  2.1%  2.6% 
Net income   4.9%  4.1%  4.8% 

Due to rounding, totals may not equal the sum of the line items in the table above.
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Years ended December 31, 2008 and December 31, 2009
Net Revenue
Our net revenue was $531.9 million during 2008 and $629.0 million during 2009, an increase of $97.1 million, or 18.3%. The increase in net revenue

was primarily due to increased volume of services provided, due to both an increasing number of new customers and incremental services rendered to existing
customers. Partially offsetting the revenue increase was the negative impact of a stronger U.S. dollar relative to the pound sterling in 2009 compared to 2008.
Net revenue for 2009 would have been approximately $28 million higher had the U.S. dollar to the pound sterling exchange rate remained constant from the
prior year with a minimal impact to our margins as the majority of these customers are invoiced, and substantially all of our expenses associated with these
customers are paid, by us or our subsidiaries in the functional currency of our company or our subsidiaries, respectively.

Cost of Revenue
Our cost of revenue was $172.6 million during 2008 and $200.9 million during 2009, an increase of $28.3 million, or 16.4%. Of this increase,

$12.8 million was attributable to an increase in salaries, benefits, and share-based compensation expense. Total compensation increased as a result of the
hiring of data center and support personnel to support our growth. The cost increase was further attributable to an increase in data center costs of $6.8 million
related to bandwidth, power and rent, and an increase in license costs of approximately $8.9 million. Included in the $6.8 million increase in bandwidth,
power and rent is an increase of $2.3 million in rent expense primarily related to the data center operating leases entered into in Northern Virginia and the
Chicago area. Impacting the $8.9 million increase in license costs was a $2.1 million decrease related to the reversal of a previously recorded obligation relating
to an unresolved contractual issue with a vendor. During the fourth quarter of 2009, we concluded that the obligation was no longer probable, and accordingly,
we reversed the liability, which reduced cost of revenue.

Sales and Marketing Expenses
Our sales and marketing expenses were $80.3 million during 2008 and $79.5 million during 2009, a decrease of $0.8 million, or 1.0%. The decrease

was primarily attributable to a $7.1 million decrease to advertising and Internet-related marketing expenditures as a result of a concentrated effort to decrease
marketing spend, with a focus on areas that generate more efficient growth opportunities. Partially offsetting the decrease was a $6.2 million increase in
salaries, commissions, benefits, and share-based compensation expense. Total compensation increased as a result of the hiring of additional sales and
marketing personnel and the impact of commissions associated with increased sales.

General and Administrative Expenses
Our general and administrative expenses were $148.7 million during 2008 and $168.1 million during 2009, an increase of $19.4 million, or 13.0%. Of

this increase, $12.0 million was attributable to an increase in salaries and benefits, of which share-based compensation expense increased by $4.0 million in
2009 as a result of stock option and restricted stock unit grants to employees in previous years. Bad debt expense increased $3.4 million primarily due to
customers generally extending payment terms or not being able to pay as a result of the recent economic conditions. Also contributing to the increase in bad debt
expense was a larger accounts receivable balance in conjunction with the 18.3% increase in revenue from 2008 to 2009.

Depreciation and Amortization Expense
Our depreciation and amortization expense was $90.2 million during 2008 and $125.2 million during 2009, an increase of $35.0 million, or 38.8%.

This increase in depreciation and amortization expense was a direct result of an increase in property and equipment related to depreciable assets including
increases in data center equipment and
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leasehold improvements due to data center build outs (primarily the expansion of our data center in Grapevine, Texas and the opening, as well as expansion, of
the data center in Slough, U.K.) and internally developed and purchased software, as well as intangible assets acquired through acquisitions.

Other Income (Expense)
Our interest expense was $8.2 million during 2008 and $9.0 million during 2009, an increase of $0.8 million or 9.8%. This increase was primarily due

to the increased level of indebtedness (including capital leases), which was mostly offset by decreased borrowing rates. Interest expense was partially offset by
capitalized interest of $2.7 million during 2008 and $0.8 million during 2009.

Interest and other income (expense) was $0.8 million during 2008 and $0.3 million during 2009. In 2008, we recognized $1.4 million in interest income,
partially offset by foreign currency losses of $0.6 million. In 2009, we recognized $0.4 million of interest and other income, partially offset by foreign
currency losses of $0.2 million.

Income Taxes
Our effective tax rate increased from 33.6% for 2008 to 35.1% for 2009. The increase in the overall tax rate from 2008 to 2009 was primarily the result

of a larger benefit recognized in 2008 with respect to the Research and Development credit. The differences between our effective tax rate and the U.S. federal
statutory rate of 35% principally result from our geographical distribution of taxable income, research and development credits, and permanent differences
between the book and tax treatment of certain items. Our foreign earnings are generally taxed at lower rates than in the United States.

For a full reconciliation of our effective tax rate to the U.S. federal statutory rate of 35% and further explanation of our provision for taxes, see Item 8 of
Part II, “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data— Note 18—Income Taxes.”

Years ended December 31, 2007 and December 31, 2008
Net Revenue
Our net revenue was $362.0 million during 2007 and $531.9 million during 2008, an increase of $169.9 million, or 46.9%. The increase in net

revenue was primarily due to increased volume of services provided, due to both an increasing number of customers and incremental services rendered to
existing customers. Revenue from our acquisitions was not significant.

Cost of Revenue
Our cost of revenue was $118.2 million during 2007 and $172.6 million during 2008, an increase of $54.4 million, or 46.0%. Of this increase,

$26.7 million was attributable to an increase in salaries, benefits, and share-based compensation expense. The cost increase was further attributable to an
increase in license costs of approximately $12.8 million, an increase in data center costs of $9.6 million related to bandwidth, power, and rent, as well as
maintenance and the replacement of IT equipment parts in the amount of $5.2 million.

Sales and Marketing Expenses
Our sales and marketing expenses were $53.9 million during 2007 and $80.3 million during 2008, an increase of $26.4 million, or 49.0%. Of this

increase, $13.9 million was primarily attributable to an increase in salaries, commissions, benefits, and share-based compensation expense. Total
compensation increased as a result of the hiring of additional sales and marketing personnel and the impact of commissions associated with
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increased sales. An additional $12.5 million of this increase was primarily attributable to advertising, Internet-related marketing expenditures and partnership
programs to support revenue growth for new and existing customer accounts.

General and Administrative Expenses
Our general and administrative expenses were $102.8 million during 2007 and $148.7 million during 2008, an increase of $45.9 million, or 44.6%. Of

this increase, $33.1 million was attributable to an increase in salaries and benefits, of which share-based compensation expense increased from $3.2 million
2007 to $10.4 million in 2008 as a result of broad based stock option grants to employees in 2008. Our general overhead expenses increased approximately
$4.0 million as a result of higher general corporate costs due to additional headcount. In addition, we experienced an increase in professional fees of $2.2
million and credit card fees of $1.4 million, as well as costs related to our overall growth, including property taxes, insurance and increased office rents of
$5.2 million.

Depreciation and Amortization Expense
Our depreciation and amortization expense was $56.5 million during 2007 and $90.2 million during 2008, an increase of $33.7 million, or 59.6%.

This increase in depreciation and amortization expense was a direct result of an increase in property and equipment related to depreciable assets, as well as
intangible assets acquired in an acquisition.

Other Income (Expense)
Our interest expense was $3.6 million during 2007 and $8.2 million during 2008, an increase of $4.6 million or 127.8%. This relative increase was

primarily due to the increased level of indebtedness partially offset by an increase in capitalized interest. We capitalized interest of $1.0 million during 2007
and $2.7 million during 2008, an increase of $1.7 million primarily due to data center and office build outs.

Interest and other income (expense) was $0.8 million during 2007 and $0.8 million during 2008. In 2008, we recognized $1.4 million in interest income,
partially offset with foreign currency losses of $0.6 million due to the appreciation of the U.S. dollar against the pound sterling. In 2007, we recognized $0.8
million of interest income and minimal foreign currency gains or losses.

Income Taxes
Our effective tax rate decreased from 35.9% during 2007 to 33.6% during 2008, primarily a result of earnings in 2008 being realized in countries where

we have lower statutory rates than in the previous year and research and development credits utilized by our U.S. subsidiaries in 2008. The differences
between our effective tax rate and the U.S. federal statutory rate of 35% principally result from our geographical distribution of taxable income, the research
and development credits, and permanent differences between the book and tax treatment of certain items. Our foreign earnings are generally taxed at lower rates
than in the United States.

Quarterly Key Metrics and Results of Operations
The following tables set forth our unaudited quarterly key metrics and condensed consolidated statement of operations data in dollars and as a

percentage of revenue for each of our most recent five quarters as of the period ended December 31, 2009. The quarterly data presented below has been
prepared on a basis consistent with the audited consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this document, and in the opinion of management
reflect all adjustments, consisting only of normal recurring adjustments, necessary for a fair presentation of this information. You should read this
information together with our consolidated financial statements and related notes included elsewhere in this document. Our quarterly results of operations may
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fluctuate in the future due to a variety of factors. As a result, comparing our operating results on a period-to-period basis may not be meaningful. Our results
for these quarterly periods are not necessarily indicative of the results of operations for a full year or any period.
 
  Three Months Ended  
  (Unaudited)  
(Dollar amounts in thousands, except annualized net
revenue per average technical square foot)  

December 31,
2008   

March 31,
2009   

June 30,
2009   

September 30,
2009   

December 31,
2009  

Growth      
Managed hosting customers at period end   18,480    19,048    19,363    19,328    19,304  
Cloud customers at period end **   34,820    43,030    51,440    61,616    71,621  
Number of customers at period end   53,300    62,078    70,803    80,944    90,925  
Managed hosting, net revenue  $ 134,275   $ 134,204   $ 138,943   $ 147,065   $ 152,394  
Cloud, net revenue  $ 8,862   $ 10,873   $ 13,052   $ 15,334   $ 17,122  
Net revenue  $ 143,137   $ 145,077   $ 151,995   $ 162,399   $ 169,516  
Revenue growth (year over year)   34.2%   21.3%   16.2%   17.4%   18.4% 
Net upgrades (monthly average)   1.4%   0.9%   1.2%   1.2%   1.3% 
Churn (monthly average)   -1.3%   -1.1%   -1.0%   -1.1%   -0.8% 
Growth in installed base (monthly average) *   0.1%   -0.2%   0.2%   0.1%   0.4% 
Number of employees (Rackers) at period end   2,611    2,661    2,648    2,730    2,774  
Number of servers deployed at period end   47,518    50,038    52,269    54,655    56,671  

Profitability      
Income from operations  $ 12,125   $ 13,021   $ 13,403   $ 13,128   $ 15,689  
Depreciation and amortization  $ 26,310   $ 27,804   $ 29,711   $ 32,696   $ 35,018  
Share-based compensation expense      

Cost of revenue  $ 678   $ 629   $ 675   $ 778   $ 768  
Sales and marketing  $ 595   $ 698   $ 721   $ 826   $ 639  
General and administrative  $ 2,871   $ 2,910   $ 3,621   $ 4,008   $ 3,851  

Total share-based compensation expense  $ 4,144   $ 4,237   $ 5,017   $ 5,612   $ 5,258  
Adjusted EBITDA (1)  $ 42,579   $ 45,062   $ 48,131   $ 51,436   $ 55,965  
Adjusted EBITDA margin   29.7%   31.1%   31.7%   31.7%   33.0% 
Operating income margin   8.5%   9.0%   8.8%   8.1%   9.3% 
Income from operations  $ 12,125   $ 13,021   $ 13,403   $ 13,128   $ 15,689  
Effective tax rate   27.7%   36.6%   36.2%   33.9%   34.0% 
Net operating profit after tax (NOPAT) (1)  $ 8,766   $ 8,255   $ 8,551   $ 8,678   $ 10,355  
NOPAT margin   6.1%   5.7%   5.6%   5.3%   6.1% 

Capital efficiency and returns      
Interest bearing debt  $ 300,413   $ 201,507   $210,284   $ 167,976   $ 167,386  
Stockholders’ equity  $ 269,684   $282,880   $308,823   $ 330,392   $ 349,427  
Less: Excess cash  $ (200,620)  $ (117,611)  $(129,638)  $ (83,462)  $ (105,083) 
Capital base  $ 369,477   $ 366,776   $ 389,469   $ 414,906   $ 411,730  
Average capital base  $ 350,499   $ 368,127   $ 378,123   $ 402,188   $ 413,318  
Capital turnover (annualized)   1.63    1.58    1.61    1.62    1.64  
Return on capital (annualized) (1)   10.0%   9.0%   9.0%   8.6%   10.0% 

Capital expenditures      
Purchases of property and equipment, net  $ 32,547   $ 25,589   $ 31,027   $ 26,024   $ 34,652  
Vendor financed equipment purchases  $ 14,848   $ 11,683   $ 23,637   $ 20,664   $ 12,398  

Total capital expenditures  $ 47,395   $ 37,272   $ 54,664   $ 46,688   $ 47,050  
Customer gear  $ 23,073   $ 19,255   $ 32,448   $ 28,705   $ 28,421  
Data center build outs  $ 14,240   $ 11,386   $ 13,914   $ 4,028   $ 7,880  
Office build outs  $ 8,340   $ 2,239   $ 1,651   $ 5,432   $ 5,350  
Capitalized software and other projects  $ 1,742   $ 4,392   $ 6,651   $ 8,523   $ 5,399  

Total capital expenditures  $ 47,395   $ 37,272   $ 54,664   $ 46,688   $ 47,050  
Infrastructure capacity and utilization      

Technical square feet of data center space at period end ***   134,923    157,523    177,371    167,821    162,848  
Annualized net revenue per average technical square foot  $ 4,212   $ 3,969   $ 3,631   $ 3,764   $ 4,101  
Utilization rate at period end   70.4%   64.6%   59.8%   62.3%   65.3% 

 
* Due to rounding, totals may not equal the sum of the line items in the table above.
 

** Beginning March 31, 2009, amounts include SaaS customers for Jungle Disk using a Rackspace storage solution. Jungle Disk customers using a third party storage solution are excluded.
 

*** The technical square feet in the second half of 2009 was impacted by the decommissioning of operations at U.K. data centers that were migrated to the Slough data center.
 

(1) See discussion and reconciliation of our Non-GAAP financial measures to the most comparable GAAP measures.
 

42



Table of Contents

Consolidated Statements of Income by Quarter:
 
  Three Months Ended  

(In thousands)  
December 31,

2008   
March 31,

2009   
June 30,

2009   
September 30,

2009   
December 31,

2009  
  Unaudited  
Net revenue  $ 143,137   $ 145,077   $151,995   $162,399   $169,516  
Costs and expenses:      

Cost of revenue   45,019    46,210    48,235    53,093    53,405  
Sales and marketing   21,447    20,502    19,080    19,860    20,016  
General and administrative   38,236    37,540    41,566    43,622    45,388  
Depreciation and amortization   26,310    27,804    29,711    32,696    35,018  

Total costs and expenses   131,012    132,056    138,592    149,271    153,827  
Income from operations   12,125    13,021    13,403    13,128    15,689  

Other income (expense):      
Interest expense   (3,153)   (2,535)   (2,172)   (2,147)   (2,096) 
Interest and other income (expense)   492    (91)   (267)   523    90  

Total other income (expense)   (2,661)   (2,626)   (2,439)   (1,624)   (2,006) 
Income before income taxes   9,464    10,395    10,964    11,504    13,683  

Income taxes   2,620    3,807    3,973    3,900    4,648  
Net income  $ 6,844   $ 6,588   $ 6,991   $ 7,604   $ 9,035  

Consolidated Statements of Income by Quarter, as a Percentage of Net Revenue:
 
   Three Months Ended  

(Percent of net revenue)   
December 31,

2008   
March 31,

2009   
June 30,

2009   
September 30,

2009   
December 31,

2009  
   Unaudited  
Net revenue   100.0%  100.0%  100.0%  100.0%  100.0% 
Costs and expenses:       

Cost of revenue   31.5%  31.9%  31.7%  32.7%  31.5% 
Sales and marketing   15.0%  14.1%  12.6%  12.2%  11.8% 
General and administrative   26.7%  25.9%  27.3%  26.9%  26.8% 
Depreciation and amortization   18.4%  19.2%  19.5%  20.1%  20.7% 

Total costs and expenses   91.5%  91.0%  91.2%  91.9%  90.7% 
Income from operations   8.5%  9.0%  8.8%  8.1%  9.3% 

Other income (expense):       
Interest expense   -2.2%  -1.7%  -1.4%  -1.3%  -1.2% 
Interest and other income (expense)   0.3%  -0.1%  -0.2%  0.3%  0.1% 

Total other income (expense)   -1.9%  -1.8%  -1.6%  -1.0%  -1.2% 
Income before income taxes   6.6%  7.2%  7.2%  7.1%  8.1% 

Income taxes   1.8%  2.6%  2.6%  2.4%  2.7% 
Net income   4.8%  4.5%  4.6%  4.7%  5.3% 

Due to rounding, totals may not equal the sum of the line items in the table above.
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Fourth Quarter 2009 Overview
Revenue increased sequentially in each of the quarters presented due to increased sales of our services to new and existing customers. Net revenue for the

three-month period ended December 31, 2009 was $169.5 million, up 18.4% from $143.1 million in the three-month period ended December 31, 2008.
Throughout 2009, the growth rate was negatively impacted by the economic conditions and decreased IT spending by our customers. In the three months
ended March 31, 2009 and December 31, 2009, the growth rate was negatively impacted by the strengthening U.S. dollar versus the pound sterling. For the
three months ended June 30, 2009 and September 30, 2009 we experienced a favorable impact by a weakening U.S. dollar versus the pound sterling. For the
twelve month period ended December 31, 2009, our average monthly growth in installed base was 0.2% per month.

Because of the growth of our revenue, total operating expenses increased sequentially in each of the quarters presented; however, most operating expense
categories were relatively flat as a percentage of revenue. During the second half of 2008 and continuing into 2009 we focused on scaling our expenditures,
which is evidenced in the reduction in sales and marketing expenses as a percentage of revenue. Sales and marketing continued to scale through 2009 as we
identified more efficient use of our sales resources. These reductions were partially offset by increasing depreciation and amortization expense resulting from
equipment expenditures and facility additions to support our customer growth. Rackspace completed strategic build outs during this time period including the
completion of the third phase of our Grapevine, Texas data center in January 2009, the second phase of our Slough U.K. data center in June 2009, and the
addition of new data centers in Northern Virginia and the Chicago area, as well as capital expenditures related to the build out of the corporate facility.

During the fourth quarter of 2009, we recognized an increase in income from operations as compared to the previous quarter. Our operating income
margin increased from 8.1% in third quarter 2009, to 9.3% in the fourth quarter 2009 and increased sequentially in each of the quarters presented. This
change was, in a large part, due to the growth in revenue and decrease in operating expenses as a percentage of revenue, which was attributable to our efforts to
better manage expenses. In addition, we previously recorded a $2.1 million charge to cost of revenue related to an unresolved contractual issue with a vendor.
During 2009, we concluded that the obligation was no longer probable, and accordingly, during the fourth quarter of 2009 we reversed the liability, which
reduced cost of revenue. Due to the lapsing of the associated contractual period, we believe the contingency has been resolved.

Also during the fourth quarter of 2009, our churn was 0.8%, which is our lowest level of churn since the fourth quarter of 2007. Installed base growth
was 0.4% and bad debt expense was $436 thousand, a decrease of $1.8 million from the previous quarter.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
At December 31, 2009, we held $125.4 million in cash and cash equivalents. We use our cash and cash equivalents, cash flow from operations, capital

leases, and existing amounts available under our revolving credit facility as our primary sources of liquidity. We believe that internally generated cash flows,
along with cash and cash equivalents currently available to us are generally sufficient to support business operations, capital expenditures, and management’s
strategic initiatives.

In June 2009, we amended our revolving credit facility agreement to provide us the ability to borrow from our credit facility in pounds sterling and
euros, rather than restricting borrowings to U.S. dollars. We are limited to borrowings of $75 million in alternate currencies. The option to borrow in other
foreign currencies provides some protection against fluctuations in currencies in the countries in which we do business. The credit facility also has financial
covenants that include a minimum fixed charge coverage ratio of at least 1.25 to 1.00 until the three months ended December 31, 2009 and 1.50 to 1.00 for
every quarter thereafter and a maximum funded debt to EBITDA of not greater than 3.00 to 1.00. Also, our foreign cash balance is limited to a balance of $25
million. As of December 31, 2009, we were in compliance with all of the covenants under our facility.
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We maintain debt levels that we establish through consideration of a number of factors, including cash flow expectations, cash requirements for
operations, investment plans (including acquisitions), and our overall cost of capital. Outstanding debt under our line of credit decreased from $200.0 million
as of December 31, 2008 to $50.0 million at December 31, 2009. The decrease in amounts outstanding under our line of credit was due to the repayment of
$150.0 million in 2009. As of December 31, 2009, we had an additional $194.3 million available for future borrowings. Our credit facility expires in August
2012.

We have vendor finance arrangements in the form of leases and notes payable with our major vendors that permit us to finance our purchases of data
center equipment. As of December 31, 2008 and 2009 we had $100.4 million and $117.4 million outstanding with respect to these arrangements. We believe
our borrowings from these arrangements will continue to be available, and as long as they are competitive, we most likely will continue to finance purchases
through these arrangements.

Capital Expenditure Requirements
In 2010, we expect to have capital expenditures between $185 million and $235 million in the aggregate consisting of $140 million to $160 million for

customer gear, $10 million to $20 million for data center infrastructure costs, $10 million to $20 million for office build-outs, and $25 million to $35 million
for capitalized software and other projects.

Our available cash and cash equivalents are held in bank deposits, overnight sweep accounts, and money market funds. Our money market mutual
funds invest exclusively in high-quality, short-term securities that are issued or guaranteed by the U.S. government or by U.S. government agencies. We
actively monitor the third-party depository institutions that hold our cash and cash equivalents. Our emphasis is primarily on safety of principal while
secondarily maximizing yield on those funds. The balances may exceed the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation or “FDIC” insurance limits or are not
insured by the FDIC. While we monitor the balances in our accounts and adjust the balances as appropriate, these balances could be impacted if the
underlying depository institutions fail or could be subject to other adverse conditions in the financial markets. To date, we have experienced no loss or lack of
access to our invested cash and cash equivalents; however, we can provide no assurances that access to our funds will not be impacted by adverse conditions
in the financial markets.

We currently believe that current cash and cash equivalents, cash generated by operations, as well as available borrowings through vendor financing
arrangements and our credit facility will be sufficient to meet our operating and capital needs in the foreseeable future. Our long-term future capital
requirements will depend on many factors, most importantly our growth of revenue, and our investments in new technologies and services. Our ability to
generate cash depends on our financial performance, general economic conditions, technology trends and developments, and other factors. We could be
required, or could elect, to seek additional funding in the form of debt or equity.

The following table sets forth a summary of our cash flows for the periods indicated:
 
   Years Ended December 31,  
(In thousands)   2007   2008   2009  
Cash provided by operating activities   $ 104,935   $ 136,582   $196,868  
Cash used in investing activities   $(140,721)  $(175,135)  $ (124,114) 
Cash provided by (used in) financing activities   $ 52,379   $ 255,413   $(187,287) 
Acquisition of property and equipment by capital leases and equipment notes payable   $ 44,149   $ 85,490   $ 68,382  
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Operating Activities
Net cash provided by operating activities is primarily a function of our profitability, the amount of non-cash charges included in our profitability, and

our working capital management. Net cash provided by operating activities was $136.6 million in 2008 compared to $196.9 million in 2009, an increase of
$60.3 million, or 44.1%. Net income increased from $21.7 million in 2008 to $30.2 million in 2009. A summary of the significant changes in non-cash
adjustments affecting net income and changes in assets and liabilities impacting operating cash flows is as follows:
 

 
•  Depreciation and amortization expense was $90.2 million in 2008 compared to $125.2 million in 2009. The increase in depreciation and

amortization was due to the purchases of servers, networking gear and computer software (internally developed technology), electrical equipment,
and leasehold improvements primarily for data center expansion, as well as amortization of intangibles related to acquisitions.

 

 
•  Our provision for bad debts and customer credits increased from $4.1 million in 2008 to $10.3 million in 2009 primarily due to certain

customers’ inability to pay as a result of the economic conditions throughout 2009 and increased service credits.
 

 
•  Share-based compensation expense was $15.0 million in 2008 compared to $20.1 million in 2009. The increase in expense was due to stock

options and restricted stock units granted in 2008 and 2009.
 

 
•  The change in accounts receivable was a cash outflow of $12.2 million in 2008 compared to a cash outflow of $17.1 million in 2009. Our

accounts receivable balance has increased during 2009 as a result of increased sales and slower customer payment patterns that are being
influenced by the economic conditions throughout 2009.

 

 
•  The change in income taxes receivable was a cash outflow of $12.3 million in 2008 compared to a cash inflow of $4.8 million in 2009. As we

anticipated a net loss on a tax basis in 2008, the December 31, 2008 balance sheet included an income tax receivable for a carryback claim for our
loss. We received federal income tax refunds totaling $10.1 million in 2009, related to the 2008 tax period.

 

 
•  The change in accounts payable and accrued expenses was a cash inflow of $13.4 million in 2008 compared to a cash inflow of $14.6 million in

2009. The change resulted from the timing of payments for trade payables.
 

 
•  The change in deferred revenue was a cash inflow of $1.9 million in 2008 compared to a cash outflow of $1.2 million in 2009. The change is

primarily due to the company billing fewer customers for setup fees as well as fewer customers prepaying for their services.

Net cash provided by operating activities was $104.9 million in 2007 compared to $136.6 million in 2008, an increase of $31.7 million or 30.2%. Net
income increased from $17.8 million in 2007 to $21.7 million in 2008.

During 2007 and 2008, we incurred depreciation and amortization charges in the amount of $56.5 million and $90.2 million, respectively. The increase
in depreciation and amortization was due to the acquisition of servers, networking gear and computer software. We further incurred non-cash compensation
expense in the amount of $4.4 million and $15.3 million in 2007 and 2008, respectively. The increase was mainly due to share-based compensation from
stock option grants to certain strategic hires and employees, and increased fair values for granted stock options.

Our changes in certain assets and liabilities in 2008 compared to 2007 primarily consisted of the recognition of a $12.3 million income tax receivable in
2008 resulting from accelerated tax depreciation and research and development credits and cash inflows from accounts payable and accrued expenses. Cash
inflows from accounts payable and accrued expenses were $39.2 million in 2007 compared to $13.4 million in 2008. The increases in accounts payable and
accrued expenses are a direct result of the growth of our business, increases in headcount and timing of payments.
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Investing Activities
Net cash used in investing activities was primarily expenditures to meet the demands of our growing customer base. Historically our main investing

activities have consisted of purchases of IT equipment for our data center infrastructure, furniture, equipment and leasehold improvements to support our
operations.

Our net cash used in investing activities was $175.1 million during 2008 compared to $124.1 million during 2009, a decrease of $51.0 million, or
29.1%. This decrease in net cash used in investing activities comes from a decrease in the purchase of property and equipment of $48.1 million, and a $2.9
million decrease related to acquisitions. Cash outflows from earnout payments in 2009 relate to acquisitions that occurred in 2008.

The combined total of capital expenditures for property and equipment, net decreased from $250.9 million during 2008 to $185.7 million in 2009. Of
the 2009 amount, $108.8 million was used to purchase dedicated customer equipment, $37.2 million for data center build outs, $14.7 million related to build
out of office space and $25.0 million was invested in capitalized software, including internally developed software that is focused on improving our service
offerings, and other purchases. Of the dedicated customer equipment, $68.4 million was vendor financed by capital leases and notes payable in 2009
compared to $85.5 million in 2008.

The decrease in capital expenditures from 2008 to 2009 was primarily comprised of decreases in spending on data center build outs and build outs of
office space. The decrease in data center build outs was the result of capital expenditures made in 2008 for the completion of the last phase of the Grapevine,
Texas data center that was completed in January 2009. Additionally, in 2009 we entered into leases for approximately 47,700 technical square feet in data
center facilities in Northern Virginia and the Chicago area. The decrease in build outs of office space was the result of lower spending on our headquarters
facility in 2009 as compared to 2008.

Our net cash used in investing activities was $140.7 million during 2007 compared to $175.1 million during 2008, an increase of $34.4 million, or
24.5%. This increase in net cash used in investing activities comes from an increase in the purchase of property and equipment of $25.0 million. The
remaining increase of $9.4 million was related to the acquisition of Jungle Disk and Slicehost.

The combined total of capital expenditures for property and equipment, net increased from $184.5 million during 2007 to $250.9 million in 2008 to
support our growth including an increase in customer gear of $20.4 million and data center build outs of $41.6 million. Of the 2008 amount, $105.6 million
was used to purchase dedicated customer equipment, $79.8 million for data center build outs, $41.2 million related to build out of office space and $24.2
million was invested in capitalized software, including internally developed software that is focused on improving our service offerings, and other purchases.
Of the dedicated customer equipment, $85.5 million was vendor financed by capital leases and notes payable in 2008 compared to $44.1 million during 2007.

Financing Activities
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities was $255.4 million during 2008 compared to $(187.3) million during 2009, a change of $442.7

million. This change was due primarily to $144.6 million of funds received from the completion of our initial public offering in August 2008 plus net
advances from our revolving line of credit of $142.7 million during 2008 compared to net payments of $150.0 million to our revolving line of credit during
2009. Our net leverage as of December 31, 2009 was 0.21 times. See below for our discussion of Non-GAAP Financial Measures.

Net cash provided by financing activities was $52.4 million during 2007 compared to $255.4 million during 2008, an increase of $203.0 million or
387.4%. This increase was due primarily to $144.6 million of funds received from the completion of our initial public offering plus net advances from our
revolving line of credit of $142.7 million 2008 compared to net advances of $56.1 million from our revolving line of credit during 2007. Partially offsetting
the cash inflows were principal payments related to capital leases and notes payable in the amounts of $17.8 million during 2007 and $39.2 million during
2008.
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Contractual Obligations, Commitments and Contingencies
The following table summarizes our contractual obligations as of December 31, 2009:

 

(In thousands)   Total   2010   2011-2012   2013-2014   
2015 and

Beyond
   (Unaudited)
Capital leases (1)   $ 117,142  $52,698  $ 61,949  $ 2,495  $ —  
Operating leases    235,358   16,585   38,387   35,245   145,141
Purchase commitments    14,794   13,519   1,275   —     —  
Revolving credit facility (2)    50,000   —     50,000   —     —  
Software and equipment notes (2)    7,684   4,893   2,791   —     —  
Total contractual obligations   $ 424,978  $87,695  $154,402  $ 37,740  $ 145,141
 

 
(1) Represents principal and interest.
 

(2) Represents principal only.

Leases
Capital leases are primarily related to expenditures for IT equipment. Our operating leases are primarily for office space and data center facilities.

In February 2009, Rackspace entered into an agreement to lease 11,000 technical square feet in a data center facility located in Northern Virginia. The
lease has a term of 15 years from the commencement date and a total estimated financial obligation of approximately $75 to $80 million over the 15 year term,
inclusive of base lease payments, power costs and Rackspace’s pro-rata share of operating expenses. Rackspace has a one-time option to terminate the lease
after ten years.

In July 2009, Rackspace entered into an agreement to lease approximately 36,700 square feet of raised floor space and approximately 10,000 square feet
of office and storage space in a data center facility located in the Chicago area. The lease has a term of 15 years from the commencement date and a total
financial obligation of approximately $140 million to $150 million over the 15 year term, inclusive of base lease payments and Rackspace’s pro-rata share of
operating expenses. Upon expiration of the 15 year term, Rackspace has the option to renew the lease for two successive five year periods.

Purchase Commitments
Our purchase commitments are primarily related to costs associated with our data centers including bandwidth and consulting services.

Revolving Credit Facility
We entered into our credit facility in March 2007. In February 2008, we amended the credit facility and increased the committed amount from $200.0

million to $245.0 million. As of December 31, 2009, we had $50.0 million of revolving loans outstanding and a $0.7 million letter of credit outstanding under
the credit facility, and $194.3 million available. The credit facility has a variable interest rate, which is generally the London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR)
margin plus a margin spread. The rate was equal to 1.29% at December 31, 2009.

In December 2007, we entered into an interest rate swap agreement converting a portion of our interest rate exposure from a floating rate basis to a fixed
rate of 4.135% per annum. The interest rate swap agreement has a notional amount of $50.0 million and matures in December 2010.
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Software and Equipment Notes
We finance certain software and equipment from third-party vendors. The terms of these arrangements are generally one to five years. The interest rates

on the arrangements range from 0.0% to 6.0%.

Non-GAAP Financial Measures
Return on Capital (ROC) (Non-GAAP financial measure)
We define Return on Capital (ROC) as follows:

 
ROC 

 = 

 Net Operating Profit After Tax (NOPAT)
  Average Capital Base

NOPAT = Income from operations x (1 – Effective tax rate)

Average Capital Base = Average of (Interest bearing debt + stockholders’ equity - excess cash) = Average of (Total assets – excess cash - accounts
payables and accrued expenses – deferred revenue – other non-current liabilities and deferred income taxes)

Beginning in 2009 we define excess cash as the amount of cash and cash equivalents that exceeds our operating cash requirements, which for these
periods is calculated as three percent of our annualized net revenue for the three months prior to the period end. For prior periods, we defined excess cash as our
investments in money market funds. As a result of a decrease in capital requirements due to the completion of the last phase of our Grapevine, Texas data
center build out and phase 2 of our Slough, U.K. data center, as well as the signing of leases to occupy data centers that have minimal data center build out
costs, our operating cash needs have declined. We will periodically review the calculation and adjust it to reflect our projected cash requirements for the
upcoming year.

We believe that ROC is an important metric for investors in evaluating our company’s performance. ROC relates to after-tax operating profits with the
capital that is placed into service. It is therefore a performance metric that incorporates both the Statement of Income and the Balance Sheet. ROC measures
how successfully capital is deployed within a company.

Note that ROC is not a measure of financial performance under GAAP and should not be considered a substitute for return on assets, which we
consider to be the most directly comparable GAAP measure. ROC has limitations as an analytical tool, and when assessing our operating performance, you
should not consider ROC in isolation, or as a substitute for other financial data prepared in accordance with GAAP. Other companies may calculate ROC
differently than we do, limiting its usefulness as a comparative measure.

ROC decreased from 13.6% in 2007 to 9.1% in 2008 and increased to 9.2% in 2009. The overall decrease from 2007 is due to a proportionately larger
increase in the average capital base compared to the increase in income from operations over the same time period. Beginning in 2008, the average capital base
includes capital expenditures related to our new corporate headquarter facility and data centers that were or are in the process of being built out. Return on
assets decreased from 8.5% in 2007 to 4.5% in 2008 and increased to 4.7% in 2009 due to the significant investments over the time periods. In addition,
beginning in the second half of 2008 we had higher cash and cash equivalent balances due to our IPO in August 2008, and a draw on our revolving credit
facility resulting from the uncertainty in the credit markets.
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See our reconciliation of the calculation of annual return on assets to ROC in the following table:
 
   Year Ended December 31,  
(Dollars in thousands)   2007   2008   2009  
Income from operations   $ 30,609   $ 40,149   $ 55,241  

Effective tax rate    35.9%   33.6%   35.1% 
Net operating profit after tax (NOPAT)   $ 19,620   $ 26,659   $ 35,851  

Net income   $ 17,829   $ 21,703   $ 30,218  

Total assets at period end   $ 301,813   $685,261   $668,645  
Less: Excess cash    —      (200,620)   (105,083) 
Less: Accounts payable and accrued expenses    (76,494)   (71,387)   (89,773) 
Less: Deferred revenues (current and non-current)    (19,762)   (20,167)   (19,444) 
Less: Other non-current liabilities and deferred taxes    (9,624)   (23,610)   (42,615) 

Capital base   $195,933   $ 369,477   $ 411,730  

Average total assets   $ 210,606   $ 487,183   $ 647,493  
Average capital base   $ 144,783   $ 292,238   $ 390,472  
Return on assets (Net income/Average total assets)    8.5%   4.5%   4.7% 
Return on capital (NOPAT/Average capital base)    13.6%   9.1%   9.2% 

See our reconciliation of the calculation of quarterly return on assets to ROC in the following table:
 
   Three Months Ended  
   (Unaudited)  

(In thousands, except financial metrics)   
December 31,

2008   
March 31,

2009   
June 30,

2009   
September 30,

2009   
December 31,

2009  
Income from operations   $ 12,125   $ 13,021   $ 13,403   $ 13,128   $ 15,689  

Effective tax rate    27.7%   36.6%   36.2%   33.9%   34.0% 
Net operating profit after tax (NOPAT)   $ 8,766   $ 8,255   $ 8,551   $ 8,678   $ 10,355  

Net income   $ 6,844   $ 6,588   $ 6,991   $ 7,604   $ 9,035  

Total assets at period end   $685,261   $ 601,434   $ 656,793   $ 625,330   $668,645  
Less: Excess cash    (200,620)   (117,611)   (129,638)   (83,462)   (105,083) 
Less: Accounts payable and accrued expenses    (71,387)   (71,211)   (87,316)   (77,108)   (89,773) 
Less: Deferred revenues (current and non-current)    (20,167)   (20,374)   (20,011)   (18,222)   (19,444) 
Less: Other non-current liabilities and deferred

taxes    (23,610)   (25,462)   (30,359)   (31,632)   (42,615) 
Capital base   $ 369,477   $ 366,776   $ 389,469   $ 414,906   $ 411,730  

Average total as-sets   $ 685,236   $ 643,348   $ 629,114   $641,062   $ 646,988  
Average capital base   $ 350,499   $ 368,127   $ 378,123   $ 402,188   $ 413,318  
Return on assets (annualized)    4.0%   4.1%   4.4%   4.7%   5.6% 
Return on capital (annualized)    10.0%   9.0%   9.0%   8.6%   10.0% 
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Adjusted EBITDA (Non-GAAP financial measure)
We use Adjusted EBITDA as a supplemental measure to review and assess our performance. We define Adjusted EBITDA as Net income, plus income

taxes, total other income (expense), depreciation and amortization, and non-cash charges for share-based compensation.

Adjusted EBITDA is a metric that is used in our industry by the investment community for comparative and valuation purposes. We disclose this
metric in order to support and facilitate the dialogue with research analysts and investors.

Note that Adjusted EBITDA is not a measure of financial performance under accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (GAAP) and
should not be considered a substitute for net income, which we consider to be the most directly comparable GAAP measure. Adjusted EBITDA has limitations
as an analytical tool, and when assessing our operating performance, you should not consider Adjusted EBITDA in isolation, or as a substitute for net income
or other consolidated income statement data prepared in accordance with GAAP. Other companies may calculate Adjusted EBITDA differently than we do,
limiting its usefulness as a comparative measure. See our annual Adjusted EBITDA reconciliation below.
 
   Year Ended December 31,  
(Dollars in thousands)   2007   2008   2009  
Net revenue   $362,017   $531,933   $628,987  
Income from operations   $ 30,609   $ 40,149   $ 55,241  

Net income   $ 17,829   $ 21,703   $ 30,218  
Plus: Income taxes    9 ,965    10,985    16,328  
Plus: Total other (income) expense    2,815    7,461    8,695  
Plus: Depreciation and amortization    56,476    90,172    125,229  
Plus: Share-based compensation expense    4,252    15,017    20,124  

Adjusted EBITDA   $ 91,337   $ 145,338   $ 200,594  
Operating income margin    8.5%   7.5%   8.8% 
Adjusted EBITDA margin    25.2%   27.3%   31.9% 

See our quarterly Adjusted EBITDA reconciliation below.
 
   Three Months Ended  
   (Unaudited)  

(Dollars in thousands)   
December 31,

2008   
March 31,

2009   
June 30,

2009   
September 30,

2009   
December 31,

2009  
Net revenue   $ 143,137   $145,077   $151,995   $162,399   $169,516  
Income from operations   $ 12,125   $ 13,021   $ 13,403   $ 13,128   $ 15,689  

Net income   $ 6,844   $ 6,588   $ 6,991   $ 7,604   $ 9,035  
Plus: Income taxes    2,620    3,807    3,973    3,900    4,648  
Plus: Total other (income) expense    2,661    2,626    2,439    1,624    2,006  
Plus: Depreciation and amortization    26,310    27,804    29,711    32,696    35,018  
Plus: Share-based compensation expense    4,144    4,237    5,017    5,612    5,258  

Adjusted EBITDA   $ 42,579   $ 45,062   $ 48,131   $ 51,436   $ 55,965  
Operating income margin    8.5%   9.0%   8.8%   8.1%   9.3% 
Adjusted EBITDA margin    29.7%   31.1%   31.7%   31.7%   33.0% 
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Adjusted Free Cash Flow (Non-GAAP financial measure)
We define Adjusted Free Cash Flow as Adjusted EBITDA plus non-cash deferred rent, less total capital expenditures (including vendor financed

equipment purchases), cash payments for interest, net, and cash payments for income taxes, net.

We believe that Adjusted Free Cash Flow is an important metric for investors in evaluating how a company is currently using cash generated, and may
indicate its ability to generate cash that can potentially be used by the business for capital investments, acquisitions, reduction of debt, payment of dividends,
etc. Note that Adjusted Free Cash Flow is not a measure of financial performance under GAAP and may not be comparable to similarly titled measures
reported by other companies.

See our Adjusted Free Cash Flow reconciliation to Adjusted EBITDA below, as well as our reconciliation of Net income to Adjusted EBITDA provided
above.
 

(In thousands)   

Year Ended
December 31,

2009  
Adjusted EBITDA   $ 200,594  

Non-cash deferred rent    4,378  
Total capital expenditures    (185,674) 
Cash payments for interest, net    (8,005) 
Cash refunds (payments) for income taxes, net    2,502  

Adjusted free cash flow   $ 13,795  

Net Leverage (Non-GAAP financial measure)
We define Net Leverage as Net Debt divided by Adjusted EBITDA (trailing twelve months). We believe that Net Leverage is an important metric for

investors in evaluating a company’s liquidity. Note that Net Leverage is not a measure of financial performance under GAAP and may not be comparable to
similarly titled measures reported by other companies.

See our Net Leverage calculation below.
 

(Dollars in thousands)   
As of December 31,

2009  
Obligations under capital leases   $ 109,702  
Debt    57,684  

Total debt   $ 167,386  
Less: Cash and cash equivalents    (125,425) 

Net debt   $ 41,961  
Adjusted EBITDA (trailing twelve months)   $ 200,594  

Net leverage    0.21x  

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
During the periods presented, we did not have any relationships with unconsolidated entities or financial partnerships, such as entities often referred to

as structured finance or special purpose entities. These entities are typically established for the purpose of facilitating off-balance sheet arrangements or other
contractually narrow or limited purposes.

We have entered into various indemnification arrangements with third parties, including vendors, customers, landlords, our officers and directors,
stockholders of acquired companies, and third parties to whom
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and from whom we license technology. Generally, these indemnification agreements require us to reimburse losses suffered by third parties due to various
events, such as lawsuits arising from patent or copyright infringement or our negligence. Certain of these agreements require us to indemnify the other party
against certain claims relating to property damage, personal injury or the acts or omissions by us, our employees, agents or representatives. To date, there have
been no claims against us or our customers pertaining to such indemnification provisions and no amounts have been recorded.

These indemnification obligations are considered off-balance sheet arrangements. To date, we have not encountered material costs as a result of such
obligations and have not accrued any liabilities related to such indemnification obligations in our financial statements.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
Our consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with GAAP. In many cases, the accounting treatment of a particular transaction is

specifically dictated by GAAP and does not require management’s judgment in its application, while in other cases, significant judgment is required in
making estimates, and selecting among available alternative accounting standards that allow different accounting treatment for similar transactions. These
judgments and estimates affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue, costs and expenses and related disclosures. We consider these policies
requiring significant management judgment and estimates used in the preparation of our financial statements to be critical accounting policies.

We review our estimates and judgments on an ongoing basis, including those related to revenue recognition, service credits, allowance for doubtful
accounts, property and equipment, goodwill and intangibles, contingencies, the fair valuation of stock related to share-based compensation, software
development, and income taxes.

We base our estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances to determine
the carrying values of assets and liabilities. In many instances, we could have reasonably used different accounting estimates, and in other instances changes
in the accounting estimates are reasonably likely to occur from period-to-period. Accordingly, actual results could differ significantly from the estimates made
by our management. To the extent that there are material differences between these estimates and actual results, our future financial statement presentation,
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows will be affected.

Critical Accounting Policies
Revenue Recognition
Because we provide our hosting services to our customers and do not sell individual hardware and software products, we recognize revenue when all of

the following conditions are met:
 

 •  There is persuasive evidence that an arrangement exists;
 

 •  The service has been provided to the customer;
 

 •  The amount of fees to be paid by the customer is fixed or determinable; and
 

 •  The collection of the fees is reasonably assured.

We recognize hosting revenue, including implementation and set-up fees on a monthly basis, beginning on the date the customer commences use of our
services. Implementation fees are amortized over the estimated average customer life. If a customer terminates their relationship with us before the expiration of
the estimated average customer life, any unamortized installation fees are recognized as revenue at that time. Amounts that
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have been invoiced are recorded in accounts receivable and in deferred revenue or revenue, depending on whether the revenue recognition criteria have been met.
Therefore, deferred revenue primarily consists of prepaid service fees and set-up fees. Professional services are recognized in the period services are provided.

Our customers generally have the right to cancel their contracts by providing prior written notice to us of their intent to cancel the remainder of the
contract term. In the event that a customer cancels their contract, they are not entitled to a refund for services already rendered.

Valuation of Accounts Receivable and Service Credits
Estimates that further impact revenue recognition relate primarily to allowance for doubtful accounts and customer service credits. Both estimates are

relatively predictable based on historical experience.

We make judgments as to our ability to collect outstanding receivables and provide allowances when collection becomes doubtful. Judgment is required
to assess the likelihood of ultimate realization of recorded accounts receivable. If the financial condition of our customers were to deteriorate, resulting in an
impairment of either their ability or willingness to make payments, an increase in the allowance for doubtful accounts would be required. Similarly, a change
in the payment behavior of customers generally may require an adjustment in the calculation of the appropriate allowance. Each month, management reviews
customer payment patterns, historical data and anticipated customer default rates of the various aging categories of accounts receivables in order to determine
the appropriate allowance for doubtful accounts. We write off customer accounts receivable balances to the allowance for doubtful accounts when it becomes
likely that we will not collect from the customer.

All of our customer agreements provide that we will achieve certain service levels. To the extent that such service levels are not achieved, we record
service credits, which are a reduction to revenue, and a corresponding increase in the allowance for customer credits to provide for estimated adjustments to
receivables. We base these provisions on historical experience and evaluate the estimate of service credits on a regular basis, and adjust the amount reserved
accordingly.

Property, Equipment and Other Long Lived Assets
We utilize significant amounts of property and equipment in providing services to our customers. We use straight-line depreciation for property,

equipment, and leasehold improvements over the estimated useful lives. We use estimated useful lives of three to five years for equipment and software.
Changes in technology or changes in the intended use of property and equipment may cause the estimated useful life or the value of these assets to change. We
periodically review the appropriateness of the estimated economic useful lives for each category of property and equipment.

Periodically we assess potential impairment of our property and equipment. We perform an impairment review whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value of an asset may not be recoverable. Factors we consider important which could trigger an impairment review
include, but are not limited to, significant under-performance relative to historical or projected future operating results, significant changes in the manner of
our use of the acquired assets or our overall business strategy, and significant industry or economic trends. When we determine that the carrying value of a
long-lived asset may not be recoverable based upon the existence of one or more of the above indicators, we determine the recoverability by comparing the
carrying amount of the asset to net future undiscounted cash flows that the asset is expected to generate. We recognize an impairment charge equal to the
amount by which the carrying amount exceeds the fair market value of the asset.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets
Goodwill, which consists of the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of identifiable net assets of businesses acquired, is evaluated for

impairment on an annual basis on October 1, or whenever events or
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circumstances indicate that impairment may have occurred. The goodwill impairment test requires judgment, including the identification of reporting units,
assignment of assets and liabilities to reporting units, assignment of goodwill to reporting units, and determination of the fair value of each reporting unit.
When evaluating goodwill for impairment we first compare the book value of net assets to the fair value of the related operations. If the fair value is determined
to be less than book value, a second step is performed to compute the amount of impairment. We estimate fair value using a discounted cash flow
methodology. We allocate goodwill to reporting units based on the reporting unit expected to benefit from the combination. We evaluate our reporting units on an
annual basis and, if necessary, reassign goodwill using a relative fair value allocation approach. We did not identify any triggering events in 2009 that would
require an update to our annual impairment test. Additionally, upon conclusion of our 2009 annual test we noted that the fair value of each of our reporting
units with goodwill was substantially in excess of the respective reporting unit’s carrying value of its net assets.

Intangible assets, including technology, contracts, customer relationships, license agreements, and non-compete agreements arising principally from
acquisitions, are recorded at cost less accumulated amortization. Intangible assets deemed to have indefinite useful lives, such as certain tradenames, are not
amortized and are subject to annual impairment tests or whenever events or circumstances indicate impairment may have occurred. An impairment exists if the
carrying value of the indefinite-lived intangible asset exceeds its fair value. For other intangible assets subject to amortization, impairment is recognized if the
carrying amount is not recoverable and the carrying amount exceeds the fair value of the intangible asset.

There are many assumptions and estimates used that directly impact the results of impairment testing, including an estimate of future expected revenue,
earnings and cash flows, and discount rates applied to such expected cash flows in order to estimate fair value. Changes in these estimates and assumptions
could materially affect the estimated fair value of an asset.

Contingencies
We accrue for contingent obligations, including estimated legal costs, when the obligation is probable and the amount is reasonably estimable. As facts

concerning contingencies become known, we reassess our position and make appropriate adjustments to the financial statements. Estimates that are
particularly sensitive to future changes include those related to tax, legal, and other regulatory matters, changes in the interpretation and enforcement of
international laws, and the impact of local economic conditions and practices, which are all subject to change as events evolve and as additional information
becomes available during the administrative and litigation process.

Share-Based Compensation
Prior to January 1, 2006, we recognized compensation cost for share-based awards based on the minimum value taking into account the exercise price of

the option and the fair value of our common stock on the date of grant. Effective January 1, 2006, we adopted a new accounting treatment for share-based
awards and used the prospective-transition method, as required for nonpublic companies that previously used the minimum value method. As such, we
continue to use the minimum value method in future periods to unvested equity awards outstanding at the date of adoption. All share-based payment awards
made to employees and directors beginning January 1, 2006 are measured and recognized as compensation expense based on the estimated fair values on the
grant date.

We use the Black-Scholes pricing model to determine the fair value of the stock options on the grant dates for share awards made on or after January 1,
2006. The Black-Scholes option valuation model requires the use of highly subjective and complex assumptions to determine the fair value of share-based
awards, including the deemed fair value of the underlying common stock on the date of grant and the expected volatility of the stock over the expected term of
the related grants. The value of the award is recognized as expense over the requisite service periods on a straight-line basis in our consolidated statements of
income, and reduced for estimated forfeitures. Forfeitures are required to be estimated at the time of grant and revised, if necessary, in subsequent periods if
actual forfeitures differ from those estimates.
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In addition to stock options, we also granted restricted stock units (RSUs) to our chief executive officer and another member of our executive team. The
RSUs have either a three-year or five-year performance period and shares are issued at the end of the period if the performance measure is met. The
performance measure is based on the company’s total shareholder return (TSR) on its common stock compared to other companies in the Russell 2000 Index.
In addition, the company’s TSR must be positive for vesting to occur. We use a Monte Carlo simulation to estimate the fair value of the awards. We have also
granted RSUs to certain executives that vest ratably over the requisite service period.

Software Development
We capitalize the salaries and payroll-related costs of employees and consultants who devote time to the development of certain internal-use software

projects. If a project constitutes an enhancement to previously developed software, we assess whether the enhancement is significant and creates additional
functionality to the software, thus resulting in capitalization. All other software development costs are expensed as incurred. We amortize capitalized software
development costs over periods ranging from 12 to 36 months, which represents the estimated useful lives of the software.

Income Taxes
We are subject to income taxes in the U.S. and numerous foreign jurisdictions. Significant judgment is required in evaluating our tax positions and

determining our provision for income taxes. During the ordinary course of business, there are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax
determination is uncertain. We establish reserves for tax-related uncertainties based on estimates of whether, and the extent to which, additional taxes and
interest will be due. These reserves are established when we believe that certain positions are likely to be challenged and may not be sustained on review by tax
authorities. We adjust these reserves in light of changing facts and circumstances, such as the closing of a tax audit. The provision for income taxes includes
the impact of reserve provisions and changes to reserves that are considered appropriate.

Our effective tax rates have differed from the statutory rate primarily due to the tax impact of foreign operations, research and development tax credits,
state taxes, and certain benefits realized related to stock option activity. Our effective tax rate was 35.9%, 33.6% and 35.1% for 2007, 2008 and 2009,
respectively. Our future effective tax rates could be adversely affected by earnings being lower than anticipated in countries where we have lower statutory rates
and higher than anticipated in countries where we have higher statutory rates, by changes in the valuation of our deferred tax assets or liabilities, or by changes
in tax laws, regulations, accounting principles, or interpretations thereof. In addition, we are subject to the continuous examination of our income tax returns
by the Internal Revenue Service and other tax authorities. We regularly assess the likelihood of adverse outcomes resulting from these examinations to determine
the adequacy of our provision for income taxes.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements
See Item 8 of Part II, “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data—Note 2—Summary of Significant Accounting Policies—Recent Accounting

Pronouncements.”
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ITEM 7A—QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Power Prices. We are a large consumer of power. During 2009, we expensed approximately $17.5 million that was paid to utility companies to power
our data centers, representing 2.8% of our net revenue. Because we anticipate further revenue growth for the foreseeable future, we expect to consume more
power in the future. Power costs vary by geography, the source of power generation, and seasonal fluctuations and are subject to certain proposed legislation
that may increase our exposure to increased power costs. Our largest exposure to energy prices based on consumption currently exists at our Grapevine, Texas
data center in the Dallas-Fort Worth area, a deregulated energy market. In August 2008, we entered into a fixed price contract with a provider of electricity for
power for our Grapevine data center. The contract allows the company to periodically convert the price to a floating market price during the arrangement. The
original term of the contract was 19 months and allowed the provider an option to extend the contract for an additional 19 months. The provider opted to
extend the option in January 2010 for an additional 19 months. Also, in June 2009, we entered into a fixed price contract for 12 months for our Slough U.K.
data center that has since been extended for an additional 12 months to expire in May 2011.

Interest Rates. Our main credit facility is a revolving line of credit with a base rate determined by the London Interbank Offered Rate, or LIBOR. This
market rate of interest is fluctuating and exposes our interest expense to risk. Our credit agreement obligates us to hedge part of that interest rate risk with
appropriate instruments, such as interest rate swaps or interest rate options. On December 10, 2007, we entered into an at-the-market fixed-payer interest rate
swap with a notional amount of $50.0 million at an annual rate of 4.135%. This swap essentially fixes the rate we pay on the first $50.0 million outstanding
on our revolving credit facility. As we borrow more, we may enter into additional swaps to continuously control our interest rate risk. Generally, we do not
hedge our complete exposure. As a result, we may be exposed to interest rate risk on the un-hedged portion of our borrowings. For example, a 100 basis point
increase in LIBOR would increase the interest expense on $10 million of borrowings that are not hedged by $0.1 million annually. As of December 31, 2009 we
did not have exposure to interest rate risk as we only had $50.0 million outstanding on our revolving credit facility.

Leases. The majority of our purchases of customer gear are vendor financed through capital leases with fixed payment terms generally over three to five
years, coinciding with the depreciation period of the equipment. As of December 31, 2009, we have a principal liability for these leases of $109.7 million on
our consolidated balance sheet, of which $46.4 million is classified as current. Although we believe our borrowings from these arrangements will continue to
be available, we have exposure that vendor financing may no longer be available or the borrowing rates, which are fixed rates, may increase.

Foreign Currencies. The majority of our customers are invoiced, and substantially all of our expenses are paid, by us or our subsidiaries in the
functional currency of our company or our subsidiaries, respectively. A relatively insignificant amount of customers are invoiced in currencies other than the
applicable functional currency. Therefore, our results of operations and cash flows are subject to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates. We also have
exposure to foreign currency transaction gains and losses as the result of certain receivables due from our foreign subsidiaries, which are denominated in both
U.S. dollars and the pound sterling. During 2009, we recognized foreign currency losses of $0.2 million within other income (expense). We have not entered
into any currency hedging contracts, although we may do so in the future. We recently amended our revolving credit facility agreement to provide us the ability
to borrow from our credit facility in pounds sterling and euros, rather than restricting borrowings to U.S. dollars. We currently do not have borrowings in any
alternative currencies from our credit facility. As we grow our international operations, our exposure to foreign currency risk could become more significant.
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ITEM 8—FINANCIAL STATEMENT AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Rackspace Hosting, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Rackspace Hosting, Inc. and subsidiaries (the Company) as of December 31, 2009
and 2008, and the related consolidated statements of income, stockholders’ equity and comprehensive income, and cash flows for each of the years in the
three-year period ended December 31, 2009. In connection with our audits of the consolidated financial statements, we also have audited financial statement
schedule II. These consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedule are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility
is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that
our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Rackspace
Hosting, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2009 and 2008, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the years in the three-
year period ended December 31, 2009, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Also in our opinion, the related financial statement
schedule, when considered in relation to the basic consolidated financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly, in all material respects, the information
set forth therein.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), Rackspace Hosting, Inc.’s
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2009, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework  issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO), and our report dated February 26, 2010 expressed an unqualified opinion on
the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

/s/    KPMG LLP
San Antonio, Texas
February 26, 2010
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Rackspace Hosting, Inc.:

We have audited Rackspace Hosting, Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2009, based on criteria established in  Internal
Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). Rackspace Hosting, Inc.’s
management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over
financial reporting, included in the accompanying Report of Management on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require
that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all
material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness
exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audit also included performing
such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting
and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control
over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly
reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit
preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being
made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or
timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation
of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, Rackspace Hosting, Inc. maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2009,
based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework  issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the consolidated balance
sheets of Rackspace Hosting, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2009 and 2008, and the related consolidated statements of income, stockholders’
equity and comprehensive income, and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2009, and our report dated February 26,
2010 expressed an unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial statements.

/s/    KPMG LLP
San Antonio, Texas
February 26, 2010
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RACKSPACE HOSTING, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES—
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

 

(In thousands, except share and per share data)   
December 31,

2008   
December 31,

2009  
ASSETS    
Current assets:    

Cash and cash equivalents   $ 238,407   $ 125,425  
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts and customer credits of $3,295 as of

December 31, 2008, and $4,298 as of December 31, 2009    30,932    38,732  
Income taxes receivable    12,318    7,509  
Deferred income taxes    3,050    9,764  
Prepaid expenses and other current assets    7,788    10,239  

Total current assets    292,495    191,669  
Property and equipment, net    362,042    432,971  
Goodwill    6,942    22,329  
Intangible assets, net    15,101    10,790  
Other non-current assets    8,681    10,886  

Total assets   $685,261   $ 668,645  
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY    
Current liabilities:    

Accounts payable and accrued expenses   $ 71,387   $ 89,773  
Current portion of deferred revenue    16,284    17,113  
Current portion of obligations under capital leases    38,909    46,415  
Current portion of debt    5,944    4,893  

Total current liabilities    132,524    158,194  
Non-current deferred revenue    3,883    2,331  
Non-current obligations under capital leases    50,781    63,287  
Non-current debt    204,779    52,791  
Non-current deferred income taxes    13,398    30,850  
Other non-current liabilities    10,212    11,765  

Total liabilities    415,577    319,218  

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES    

Stockholders’ equity:    
Common stock, $0.001 par value per share: 300,000,000 shares authorized; 117,154,094 shares issued and

outstanding as of December 31, 2008, 123,773,977 shares issued and outstanding as of December 31,
2009    117    124  

Additional paid-in capital    207,589    251,337  
Accumulated other comprehensive loss    (16,027)   (10,257) 
Retained earnings    78,005    108,223  

Total stockholders’ equity    269,684    349,427  
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity   $685,261   $ 668,645  

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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RACKSPACE HOSTING, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES—
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

 
   Year Ended December 31,  
(In thousands, except per share data)   2007   2008   2009  
Net revenue   $ 362,017   $ 531,933   $628,987  
Costs and expenses:     

Cost of revenue    118,225    172,583    200,943  
Sales and marketing    53,930    80,323    79,458  
General and administrative    102,777    148,706    168,116  
Depreciation and amortization    56,476    90,172    125,229  

Total costs and expenses    331,408    491,784    573,746  
Income from operations    30,609    40,149    55,241  

Other income (expense):     
Interest expense    (3,643)   (8,229)   (8,950) 
Interest and other income    828    768    255  

Total other income (expense)    (2,815)   (7,461)   (8,695) 
Income before income taxes    27,794    32,688    46,546  

Income taxes    9 ,965    10,985    16,328  
Net income   $ 17,829   $ 21,703   $ 30,218  

Net income per share     
Basic   $ 0.18   $ 0.20   $ 0.25  
Diluted   $ 0.17   $ 0.19   $ 0.24  

Weighted average number of shares outstanding     
Basic    101,278    108,528    120,570  
Diluted    106,618    115,406    127,420  

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
 

61



Table of Contents

RACKSPACE HOSTING, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES—
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

 
   Year Ended December 31,  
(In thousands)   2007   2008   2009  
Cash Flows From Operating Activities     

Net income   $ 17,829   $ 21,703   $ 30,218  
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities     

Depreciation and amortization    56,476    90,172    125,229  
Loss on disposal of equipment, net    1,895    2,888    1,027  
Provision for bad debts and customer credits    4,094    4,149    10,347  
Deferred income taxes    (3,479)   12,099    9,379  
Deferred rent    383    (211)   4,378  
Share-based compensation expense    4,252    15,017    20,124  
Other non-cash compensation expense    156    289    5 6 5  
Excess tax benefits from share-based compensation arrangements    (562)   (3,212)   —    

Changes in certain assets and liabilities     
Accounts receivable    (13,357)   (12,202)   (17,075) 
Income taxes receivable    —      (12,318)   4,809  
Accounts payable and accrued expenses    39,192    13,398    14,603  
Deferred revenue    6,578    1,931    (1,163) 

All other operating activities    (8,522)   2,879    (5,573) 
Net cash provided by operating activities    104,935    136,582    196,868  

Cash Flows From Investing Activities     
Purchases of property and equipment, net    (140,383)   (165,396)   (117,292) 
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired    (338)   (9,739)   —    
Earnout payments for acquisitions    —      —      (6,822) 

Net cash used in investing activities    (140,721)   (175,135)   (124,114) 

Cash Flows From Financing Activities     
Principal payments of capital leases    (13,877)   (32,376)   (44,680) 
Principal payments of notes payable    (3,901)   (6,851)   (6,729) 
Borrowings on line of credit    61,146    200,000    —    
Payments on line of credit    (5,000)   (57,301)   (150,000) 
Payments for debt issuance costs    (301)   (158)   (367) 
Proceeds from sale leaseback transactions    8,456    1,543    —    
Receipt of Texas Enterprise Fund Grant    5,000    —      —    
Proceeds from issuance of common stock at IPO net of offering expenses of $14,196    —      144,554    —    
Proceeds from issuance of common stock, net    —      548    —    
Proceeds from exercise of warrants    —      278    —    
Proceeds from employee stock plans    294    1,964    14,489  
Excess tax benefits from share-based compensation arrangements    562    3,212    —    

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities    52,379    255,413    (187,287) 
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents    (30)   (3,390)   1,551  

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents    16,563    213,470    (112,982) 
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period    8,374    24,937    238,407  
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period   $ 24,937   $ 238,407   $ 125,425  

Supplemental cash flow information:     
Acquisition of property and equipment by capital leases   $ 37,458   $ 73,556   $ 64,692  
Acquisition of property and equipment by notes payable    6,691    11,934    3,690  

Vendor financed equipment purchases   $ 44,149   $ 85,490   $ 68,382  
Shares issued in business combinations   $ 3,507   $ 1,785   $ 8,680  
Cash payments for interest, net of amount capitalized   $ 3,148   $ 9,616   $ 8,213  
Cash payments for income taxes   $ 13,945   $ 6,364   $ 8,651  

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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RACKSPACE HOSTING, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES—
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

 
  Years Ended December 31, 2007, 2008 and 2009  
  Preferred Stock   Common Stock  Treasury Stock   

Additional
Paid-In
Capital

 Accumulated
other

comprehensive
income (loss)  

 

Retained
Earnings

 Total
stockholders

’
equity  (In thousands except share data)  Shares   Amount  Shares  Amount Shares   Amount     

Balance at December 31, 2006  1,214,837   $ 1   99,750,483 $ 100 (82,705)  $ (126)  $ 31,312 $ 730   $ 38,473 $ 70,490  
Issuance of common stock           

Exercise of stock options (including excess tax benefit of $562)  —      —     472,760  —   —      —      856  —      —    856  
Issuance of common stock to board of directors  —      —     31,580  —   —      —      156  —      —    156  
Issuance of restricted stock to Mailtrust employees  —      —     353,805  —   —      —      —    —      —    —    
Shares issued in business combination  —      —     587,595  1 —      —      3,419  —      —    3,420  
Shares issued in Mosso equity acquisition  —      —     15,000  —   —      —      87  —      —    87  

Total issuance of common stock  —      —     1,460,740  1 —      —      4,518  —      —    4,519  
Share-based compensation expense  —      —     —    —   —      —      4,252  —      —    4,252  
Comprehensive income:           

Net income           17,829  17,829  
Unrealized gain (loss) on derivative instrument, net of tax effect          (322)    (322) 
Cumulative translation adjustment          105     105  

Total comprehensive income            17,612  
Balance at December 31, 2007  1,214,837   $ 1   101,211,223 $ 101 (82,705)  $ (126)  $ 40,082 $ 513   $ 56,302 $ 96,873  

Issuance of common stock           
Exercise of stock options (including excess tax benefit of $3,212)  —      —     1,427,334  2   —      5,175  —      —    5,177  
Issuance of common stock to board of directors  —      —     24,405  —     —      289  —      —    289  
Issuance of warrants at IPO offering  —      —     268,750  —     —      278  —      —    278  
Proceeds from issuance of common stock net of offering costs of $14,196  —      —     12,700,000  13   —      144,541  —      —    144,554  
Conversion of preferred shares to common stock at IPO offering  (1,214,837)   (1)  1,214,837  1   —      —    —      —    —    
Sale of common stock for cash  —      —     60,000  —     —      548  —      —    548  
Shares issued in business combination  —      —     247,545  —   82,705    126    1,659  —      —    1,785  

Total issuance of common stock  (1,214,837)   (1)  15,942,871  16 82,705    126    152,490  —      —    152,631  
Share-based compensation expense  —      —     —    —   —      —      15,017  —      —    15,017  
Comprehensive income:           

Net income           21,703  21,703  
Unrealized gain (loss) on derivative instrument, net of tax effect          (1,564)    (1,564) 
Cumulative translation adjustment          (14,976)    (14,976) 

Total comprehensive income            5,163  
Balance at December 31, 2008  —     $ —     117,154,094 $ 117 —     $ —     $ 207,589 $ (16,027)  $ 78,005 $ 269,684  

Issuance of common stock           
Exercise of stock options and release of stock awards (including excess tax

benefit of $0)  —      —     5,723,772  6 —      —      14,023  —      —    14,029  
Issuance of common stock to board of directors  —      —     50,376  —   —      —      462  —      —    462  
Issuance of common stock (earn out)  —      —     818,899  1 —      —      8,679  —      —    8,680  
Issuance of shares from Employee Stock Purchase Plan  —      —     26,836  —   —      —      460  —      —    460  

Total issuance of common stock  —      —     6,619,883  7 —      —      23,624  —      —    23,631  
Share-based compensation expense  —      —     —    —   —      —      20,124  —      —    20,124  
Comprehensive income:           

Net income           30,218  30,218  
Unrealized gain (loss) on derivative instrument, net of tax effect          704     704  
Cumulative translation adjustment          5,066     5,066  

Total comprehensive income            35,988  
Balance at December 31, 2009  —     $ —     123,773,977 $ 124 —     $ —     $ 251,337 $ (10,257)  $108,223 $ 349,427  

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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RACKSPACE HOSTING, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES—
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Overview and Basis of Presentation
Nature of Operations

As used in this report, the terms “Rackspace”, “Rackspace Hosting”, “we”, “our company”, “the company”, “us,” or “our” refer to Rackspace
Hosting, Inc. and its subsidiaries. Rackspace Hosting, Inc., through its operating subsidiaries, is a provider of hosting solutions. We provide IT as a service,
managing web-based IT systems for small and medium-sized businesses as well as large enterprises. We focus on providing a service experience for our
customers, which we call Fanatical Support .

Rackspace Hosting, Inc. was incorporated in Delaware on March 7, 2000. However, our operations began in 1998 as a limited partnership which
became our subsidiary through a corporate reorganization completed on August 21, 2001.

We operate consolidated subsidiaries which include, among others, Rackspace US, Inc., our domestic operating entity, and Rackspace Limited, our
United Kingdom (U.K.) operating entity.

In September 2007, we acquired Webmail.us., Inc., an email hosting business, which we rebranded as Mailtrust. Accordingly, its operating results have
been included in our consolidated financial statements since the date of acquisition.

In October 2008, we completed the acquisition of Jungle Disk, Inc., a company specializing in cloud storage. Also in October 2008, we completed the
acquisition of Slicehost LLC, a company specializing in cloud hosting. Accordingly, their operating results have been included in our consolidated financial
statements since the date of acquisition.

Basis of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of our wholly owned subsidiaries located in the United States of America (U.S.), the United

Kingdom (U.K.), the Netherlands, and Hong Kong. Intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated in consolidation.

Certain reclassifications have been made to prior year balances in order to conform to the current year’s presentation.

Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires us to make

estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the
financial statements, and reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. On an
ongoing basis, we evaluate our estimates, including those related to accounts receivable and customer credits, property and equipment, fair values of intangible
assets and goodwill, useful lives of intangible assets, fair value of stock options, contingencies, and income taxes, among others. We base our estimates on
historical experience and on other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying
values of assets and liabilities. We engaged third party valuation consultants to assist management in the purchase price allocation of significant acquisitions.
We also engaged third party valuation consultants to assist management in the valuations of our common stock price, which affected transactions recorded in
our consolidated financial statements prior to Rackspace becoming a public company.
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Initial Public Offering
In August 2008, we completed our initial public offering (IPO), issuing 12.7 million shares of common stock at an IPO price of $12.50 per share. As a

result of the offering we received $144.6 million in net proceeds, after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions of $11.1 million and additional
offering-related expenses of approximately $3.1 million.

In conjunction with the IPO, all outstanding warrants were exercised, resulting in an issuance of 268,750 shares of common stock, having a weighted
average exercise price of $1.034 per share. We received proceeds of $278 thousand from the exercise of these warrants. Also, all shares of our outstanding
preferred stock were automatically converted to shares of common stock as a result of the IPO.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
The accompanying financial statements reflect the application of certain significant accounting policies. There have been no material changes to our

significant accounting policies that are disclosed in our audited consolidated financial statements and notes thereof during 2009.

Concentrations of Risk
Our revenue is primarily derived from hosting, the market for which is highly competitive and rapidly changing. Significant changes in this industry or

changes in customer buying behavior could adversely impact our operating results. See the Segment Information footnote for information concerning operations
located outside of the U.S.

Financial instruments, which potentially subject us to concentrations of credit risk, consist principally of cash and cash equivalents and accounts
receivable. We place our cash and cash equivalents in money market accounts with high credit quality financial institutions which may exceed Federal Deposit
Insurance Corporation “FDIC” insurance limits, or may not be insured. While we monitor the balances in our accounts and adjust the balances as
appropriate, these balances could be impacted if the underlying depository institutions fail or could be subject to other adverse conditions in the financial
markets. To date, we have experienced no material loss or lack of access to our invested cash and cash equivalents; however, we can provide no assurances
that access to our funds will not be impacted by adverse conditions in the financial markets.

We perform ongoing credit evaluations and collateral is generally not required for trade receivables. At December 31, 2008 and 2009, no customer,
reseller or strategic partner comprised more than 5% of total accounts receivable.

We rely on equipment and software purchased from third parties to provide our services. This equipment and software may not continue to be available
on commercially reasonable terms, and equipment may not be available in quantities sufficient to meet our business needs. Any errors or defects in third-party
equipment and software could result in errors or a failure of our service, which could harm our business. Indemnification from equipment and software
providers, if any, would likely be insufficient to cover any damage to our business or our customers resulting from such failures.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
For the purposes of the consolidated financial statements, we consider all highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less when

acquired to be cash equivalents. Our available cash and cash equivalents are held in bank deposits, overnight sweep accounts, and money market funds.
Gains and losses are included in interest and other income in our accompanying consolidated statements of income.
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Accounts Receivable, Net
We classify as trade accounts receivable amounts due within twelve months, arising from the provision of services in the normal course of business. We

assess collectability based on a number of factors, including customer payment history and creditworthiness. We generally do not request collateral from our
customers although in certain cases we may require the customer to prepay for services. When evaluating the adequacy of allowances, we analyze accounts
receivable, current economic conditions and trends, historical bad debt write-offs, customer creditworthiness, and changes in customer payment terms. We
write off customer accounts receivable balances to the allowance for doubtful accounts when it becomes likely that we will not collect from the customer.

In addition, at the end of a given period, we estimate customer service level credits based on historical data and known credits yet to be issued to our
customers. Customer credits reduce revenue and accounts receivable in the period the estimate is recorded.

Prepaid Expenses and Other Assets
Prepaid expenses and other assets consist primarily of software and equipment maintenance contracts, and prepaid operating expenses. Software

maintenance contracts are amortized over the agreement period, generally one to three years. Prepaid operating expenses are expensed in the period in which
services are received.

Property and Equipment, Net
Property and equipment is stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation. Property and equipment is depreciated on a straight-line basis over the

estimated useful lives of the assets. Replacements and major improvements are capitalized; maintenance and repairs are charged to expense as incurred. Upon
retirement or sale, the cost of assets disposed of and related accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts and any resulting gain or loss is credited
or charged to operations.

Business Combinations
We account for business combinations using the purchase method of accounting. We determine the recognition of intangible assets based on the

following criteria: (i) the intangible asset arises from contractual or other rights; or (ii) the intangible is separable or divisible from the acquired entity and
capable of being sold, transferred, licensed, returned, or exchanged. We allocate the purchase price of business combinations to the tangible assets, liabilities,
and intangible assets acquired based on their estimated fair values. The excess purchase price over those fair values is recorded as goodwill.

We must make valuation assumptions that require significant estimates, especially with respect to intangible assets. Critical estimates in valuing certain
intangible assets include, but are not limited to, future expected cash flows from customer contracts, customer relationships, non-compete agreements, and
discount rates. We estimate fair value based upon assumptions that we believe to be reasonable, but which are inherently uncertain and unpredictable and, as a
result, actual results may differ from estimates.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets
Goodwill consists of the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of identifiable net assets of businesses acquired. Goodwill is evaluated for

impairment on an annual basis at the beginning of the fourth quarter or whenever events or circumstances indicate that impairment may have occurred.

Intangible assets, including purchased technology, customer contracts and relationships, certain tradenames, license agreements, and non-compete
agreements arising principally from acquisitions are recorded at cost less accumulated amortization and the definite-lived intangibles are amortized using a
method that reflects the pattern in which the economic benefits of the related intangible asset are consumed or utilized.
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Leases
We lease certain property and equipment under capital lease agreements. The assets held under capital lease and related obligations are recorded at the

lesser of the present value of aggregate future minimum lease payments, including estimated bargain purchase options, or the fair value of the assets held
under capital lease. Such assets and the related leasehold improvements are amortized over the shorter of the terms of the leases, or the estimated useful lives of
the assets, which typically range from three to five years for software and equipment, and 30 years for property. For assets for which the lease agreement
includes a bargain purchase option or transfer of ownership at the completion of the lease and the lease term is shorter than the estimated useful life of the
asset, the asset is amortized over its estimated useful life.

We also lease property and equipment under operating lease agreements. The lease terms typically range from two to five years for equipment and one to
twenty years for property, including office space and data center facilities. Rent increases, rent holidays, leasehold incentives or any other unusual provisions
or conditions are considered with total rent payments, and are expensed on a straight-line basis over the lease period.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets
Long-lived assets, including property and equipment and intangible assets, are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances

indicate that the carrying amount should be evaluated. Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of an
asset in conjunction with its asset group compared to the estimated undiscounted future cash flows expected to be generated by the asset group. If the carrying
amount of the asset group exceeds its estimated future cash flows, an impairment charge is recognized in the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset
group exceeds the fair value of the assets.

Revenue and Deferred Revenue
We provide hosting services to our customers and generally do not sell individual hardware and software products. Our customers pay us for a non-

refundable installation fee and a monthly recurring charge based upon the size and complexity of the IT systems we manage and the level of service we
provide. We recognize revenue when all of the following conditions are met:
 

 •  There is persuasive evidence that an arrangement exists;
 

 •  The service has been provided to the customer;
 

 •  The amount of fees to be paid by the customer is fixed or determinable; and
 

 •  The collection of the fees is reasonably assured.

We recognize hosting revenue, including installation fees on a monthly basis, beginning on the date the customer commences use of our services. Hosting
revenue is recognized over the contractual term of the customer contract. Our customers generally continue to utilize our services beyond the initial contract
term which typically ranges from several months to three years. As a result, installation fees are recognized ratably over the estimated average life of a customer
relationship. Amounts that have been invoiced are recorded in accounts receivable and either deferred revenue or revenue, depending on whether the revenue
recognition criteria have been met. Therefore, deferred revenue primarily consists of amounts that have been prepaid or deferred installation fees. As of
December 31, 2009, of the total $19.4 million in deferred revenue recorded on our balance sheet, $17.1 million, $2.2 million, and $0.1 million will be
amortized to revenue in 2010, 2011 and 2012, respectively. Revenue is recorded net of tax.

Revenue from other professional services is recognized in the period the services are provided when deemed separable from any related hosting services.
When other professional services are not separable from any related
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hosting services, we recognize the associated revenue over the term of the related hosting arrangement. For revenue arrangements with multiple units of
accounting, such as an arrangement that includes hosting services and other professional services, we allocate the total amount the customer will pay to the
separate units of accounting based on their relative fair values, as determined by the price of the undelivered items when sold separately.

In determining whether the other professional services can be accounted for separately from hosting revenue, we consider the following factors for each
agreement: availability of the services from other vendors, whether objective and reliable evidence for fair value exists for the undelivered elements, the nature
of the professional services, the timing of when the services contract was signed in comparison to the subscription service start date, and the contractual
dependence of the subscription service on the customer’s satisfaction with the professional services. Revenue related to other professional services was not a
significant component of revenue during 2007, 2008 or 2009.

Our hosting arrangements contain service level commitments with our customers. To the extent that such service levels are not achieved, or are otherwise
disputed due to third party power or service issues, unfavorable weather, or other service interruptions or conditions, we are required to issue service credits
for a portion of the hosting service fees paid by our customers. At each reporting period, we estimate the amount of credits to be issued and record a reduction
to revenue. To estimate service credits, we utilize historical data and known credits yet to be issued to our customers.

Cost of Revenue
Cost of revenue consists primarily of expenses related to our data center facilities and personnel costs. These costs typically include uncapitalized

infrastructure costs, including software licenses, rental fees, replacement components, bandwidth, and power costs. Personnel expenses include the salaries,
share-based compensation and related expenses of our support teams and data center employees.

Installation Costs
Setup and other direct installation activities are performed at the inception of a specific arrangement with each customer to enable us to perform under the

terms of the arrangement. These setup or installation costs are expensed as incurred.

Advertising Costs
We charge advertising costs to expense in the period incurred. Advertising expenses for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2008 and 2009 were

approximately $19.0 million, $30.7 million and $23.5 million, respectfully.

Research and Development Costs
Our research and development efforts are focused on the deployment of new technologies to address emerging trends, development and evolution of

proprietary tools, and enhancement of systems and processes for sales and support. We expense costs related to preliminary project assessment, research and
development, re-engineering, training, and application maintenance as incurred in general and administrative expenses or cost of revenue. These costs
primarily include compensation costs for employees and consultants dedicated to research and development efforts. Administrative and other infrastructure
expenses attributable to research and development are reported in general and administrative expense. For the years ended December 31, 2007, 2008 and 2009,
we recognized $8.6 million, $10.8 million and $12.6 million of research and development expense, respectfully.
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Internally Developed Software
We capitalize certain costs of computer software developed or obtained for internal use. Capitalized computer software costs consists of purchased

software licenses, implementation costs, salaries and related compensation costs of employees and consultants for certain projects that qualify for
capitalization. The capitalized software costs are being amortized on a straight-line basis, which is generally over periods ranging from 12 to 60 months.

Share-Based Compensation
Prior to January 1, 2006, we recognized compensation cost for share-based awards based on the minimum value taking into account the exercise price of

the option and the fair market value of our common stock on the date of grant. Effective January 1, 2006, we began using the prospective transition method.
However, for unvested equity awards outstanding as of the date of January 1, 2006, we continue to amortize those awards using the minimum value method.
Beginning January 1, 2006 measurement and recognition of compensation expense for all share-based payment awards made to employees and directors is
recognized based on estimated fair values. We use the Black-Scholes pricing model to determine the fair value of the stock options on the grant dates for stock
awards made on or after January 1, 2006, and we amortize the fair value of share-based payments on a straight-line basis over the requisite service periods of
the award, which is generally the vesting period.

The Black-Scholes valuation model requires us to make assumptions and judgments about the variables used in the calculation. These variables and
assumptions include the fair value of our common stock, expected term, the expected volatility, the risk-free interest rate, expected dividends, and the estimated
rate of forfeitures of unvested stock options.

We used the following assumptions when determining the fair value of our stock options:
 

 
•  Fair Value of our Common Stock—For valuations prior to our IPO, the fair value of our common stock was determined using both a market and

discounted cash flow approach. The aggregate equity valuation was allocated between our various securities using the treasury stock method.
Subsequent to the IPO, the end of day market price on the grant date was used to determine fair value.

 

 
•  Expected Term—The expected term represents the period that our share-based awards are expected to be outstanding. In order to compute the

expected term, we have elected to use the simplified method.
 

 
•  Expected Volatility—Management estimates volatility for option grants by evaluating the average historical volatility of a peer group, as well as the

volatility of the company’s stock since the IPO. Management believes historical volatility of the identified peer group (while incorporating the
company’s historical volatility) to be the best estimate of future volatility.

 

 
•  Risk-Free Interest Rate—The risk-free interest rate used in the Black-Scholes valuation model is based on the implied yield currently available

on U.S. Treasury zero-coupon issues with an equivalent expected term.
 

 •  Expected Dividend—We have not issued dividends to date and do not anticipate issuing dividends.
 

 
•  Estimated Rate of Forfeitures—We estimate expected forfeitures based on our historical experience. If actual forfeitures differ from our estimates,

we will record the difference as an adjustment in the period we revise our estimates.

We have also granted restricted stock units (RSUs) to our chief executive officer and one other member of our executive team. The RSUs have either a
three-year or five-year performance period and shares are issued at the end of the period if the performance measure is met. The performance measure is based
on the company’s total shareholder return (TSR) on its common stock compared to other companies in the Russell 2000 Index. In addition, the company’s
TSR must be positive for vesting to occur. We use a Monte Carlo simulation to estimate the fair value of the awards. We have also granted RSUs to certain
executives that vest ratably over the requisite service period that are expensed straight-line over the vesting period.
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Income Taxes
Income taxes are accounted for using the asset and liability method.  Deferred income taxes are provided for temporary differences in recognizing certain

income, expense, and credit items for financial reporting purposes and tax reporting purposes. Such deferred income taxes primarily relate to the difference
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their financial reporting amounts. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured by applying enacted
statutory tax rates applicable to the future years in which deferred tax assets or liabilities are expected to be settled or realized. In assessing the realizability of
deferred tax assets, management considers whether it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will be realized. The ultimate
realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable income during the periods in which those temporary differences become
deductible. Management considers the scheduled reversals of deferred tax liabilities, projected future taxable income and tax planning strategies in making this
assessment. Based upon projections of future taxable income over the periods in which the deferred tax assets are deductible, management believes it is more
likely than not that we will realize the benefits of these deductible differences.

We do not provide for a U.S. income tax liability on undistributed earnings of our foreign subsidiaries. The earnings of non-U.S. subsidiaries, which
reflect full provision for non-U.S. income taxes, are currently indefinitely reinvested in non-U.S. operations or will be remitted substantially free of additional
tax.

Derivative Financial Instruments
During 2007, we entered into an interest rate swap contract to limit our exposure to interest rate risk. We recognize derivative instruments as either assets

or liabilities on the balance sheet at fair value. The effective portion of the gain or loss on a derivative instrument designated and qualifying as a cash flow
hedge is initially reported as a component of “other comprehensive income” and is then recorded in income in the period or periods during which the hedged
forecasted transaction affects income. The ineffective portion of the gain or loss on the cash flow derivative instrument, if any, is recognized in income as
incurred.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments
The fair value of certain financial instruments, including cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivables, accounts payable, and accrued expenses

approximate fair value because of the short- term nature of these items. The fair value of our debt approximates the carrying value as of December 31, 2009.
The carrying amount of our revolving credit facility approximates its fair value as it is tied to floating market interest rates.

Foreign Currency
We have assessed the functional currency of each of our subsidiaries in Hong Kong, the Netherlands and the U.K. and have designated the local

currency to be their respective functional currencies. The financial statements of these foreign subsidiaries are translated into the U.S. dollar. All assets and
liabilities are translated to the U.S. dollar at the end-of-period exchange rates. Capital accounts are determined to be of a permanent nature and are therefore
translated using historical exchange rates. Revenue and expenses are translated using average exchange rates. Foreign currency translation adjustments arising
from differences in exchange rates from period to period are included in the foreign currency translation adjustment account in accumulated comprehensive
income (loss) of stockholders’ equity. Transaction gains or losses in currencies other than the functional currency are included as a component of other income
(expense) in the consolidated statements of income.

Earnings Per Share
In years with outstanding preferred stock, our convertible preferred stock is considered a participating security as preferred stockholders are entitled to

receive dividends when dividends are paid to common stockholders. We include the participating convertible preferred stock in the computation of earnings
per share
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using the two-class method. Diluted earnings per share for common stock assumes the potential dilution that could result if securities or other contracts to
issue common stock were exercised or converted into common stock. Diluted earnings per share assumes the exercise of stock options and warrants using the
treasury stock method, and the conversion of our convertible preferred stock using the if-converted method for periods prior to conversion in 2008.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements
In September 2009, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued two Accounting Standards Updates (“ASU”): (i) ASU 2009-13 (EITF

08-1), Multiple-Deliverable Revenue Arrangements , and (ii) ASU 2009-14 (EITF 09-3), Certain Revenue Arrangements that Include Software Elements ,
which will be effective prospectively for revenue arrangements, entered into or materially modified in fiscal years beginning on or after June 15, 2010. ASU
2009-13 amends ASC Subtopic 605-25 to eliminate the requirement that all undelivered elements in a multiple-element revenue arrangement have vendor-
specific objective evidence (VSOE) or third-party evidence (TPE) before an entity can recognize the portion of an overall arrangement fee that is attributable to
items that already have been delivered. In the absence of VOSE or TPE of the standalone selling price for one or more delivered or undelivered elements in a
multiple-element arrangement, entities will be required to estimate the selling prices of those elements. The overall arrangement fee will be allocated to each
element (both delivered and undelivered items) based on their relative selling prices, regardless of whether those selling prices are evidenced by VSOE or TPE
or are based on the entity’s estimated selling price. Application of the “residual method” of allocating an overall arrangement fee between delivered and
undelivered elements will no longer be permitted upon adoption. ASU 2009-14 amends ASC Subtopic 985-605 to exclude from its scope tangible products
that contain both software and non-software components that function together to deliver a product’s essential functionality. We do not expect the adoption of
ASU 2009-13 or 2009-14 to have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.

In December 2009, the FASB issued ASU 2009-17, which codifies SFAS 167, Amendments to FASB Interpretation No. 46(R), issued in June 2009.
This guidance amends FASB Interpretation No. 46 (revised December 2003) to address the elimination of the concept of a qualifying special purpose entity.
ASU 2009-17 also replaces the quantitative-based risks and rewards calculation for determining which enterprise has a controlling financial interest in a
variable interest entity with an approach focused on identifying which enterprise has the power to direct the activities of a variable interest entity and the
obligation to absorb losses of the entity or the right to receive benefits from the entity. Additionally, ASU 2009-17 provides more timely and useful information
about an enterprise’s involvement with a variable interest entity. ASU 2009-17 will become effective in the first annual reporting period that begins after
November 15, 2009 and for interim periods within that first annual reporting period. It will become effective for Rackspace in the first quarter of 2010. We do
not expect the adoption of ASU 2009-17 to have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.
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3. Earnings Per Share
The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings per share:

 
   Year Ended December 31,

(In thousands, except per share data)   2007   2008   2009
Basic net income per share:       

Net income   $ 17,829  $ 21,703  $ 30,218
Weighted average shares outstanding:       

Common stock    100,063   107,798   120,570
Preferred stock    1,215   730   —  

Number of shares used in per share computations    101,278   108,528   120,570
Earnings per share   $ 0.18  $ 0.20  $ 0.25

Diluted net income per share:       
Net income   $ 17,829  $ 21,703  $ 30,218

Weighted average shares outstanding:       
Common stock    100,063   107,798   120,570
Stock options and awards    5,119   6,732   6,850
Preferred stock    1,215   730   —  
Stock warrants    221   146   —  

Number of shares used in per share computations    106,618   115,406   127,420
Earnings per share   $ 0.17  $ 0.19  $ 0.24

We excluded 5.5 million, 6.0 million and 3.8 million potential common shares from the computation of dilutive earnings per share for the periods ended
December 31, 2007, 2008 and 2009, respectively, because the effect would have been anti-dilutive.

As a result of our IPO in August 2008, all outstanding stock warrants were exercised, resulting in an issuance of 268,750 shares of common stock,
and all shares of our outstanding preferred stock were automatically converted to shares of common stock; thus subsequent to the IPO, the impact of stock
warrants exercised and preferred stock on weighted average shares outstanding was reflected in common stock.

4. Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents consisted of:

 

(In thousands)   
December 31,

2008   
December 31,

2009
Cash deposits   $ 37,787  $ 64,716
Money market funds    200,620   60,709

Cash and cash equivalents   $ 238,407  $ 125,425

Our available cash and cash equivalents are held in bank deposits, overnight sweep accounts, and money market funds. We actively monitor the third-
party depository institutions that hold our deposits. Our emphasis is primarily on safety of principal while secondarily maximizing yield on those funds. In
March 2009 and July 2009, we repaid $100.0 million and $50.0 million, respectively, on our revolving credit facility with our money market funds.

Our money market mutual funds invest exclusively in high-quality, short-term securities that are issued or guaranteed by the U.S. government or by
U.S. government agencies.
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5. Fair Value Measurements
Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market

participants at the measurement date. There is a three-tier fair value hierarchy, which prioritizes the inputs used in measuring fair value as follows:

Level 1 – Observable inputs such as quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

Level 2 – Inputs other than Level 1 that are observable, either directly or indirectly, such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities, quoted prices
in markets that are not active; or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term of the
assets or liabilities; and

Level 3 – Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity, which require management judgment or estimation.

We measure our financial instruments at fair value. Our money market funds are classified within Level 1 because these funds are valued using quoted
market prices. Our interest rate swap is classified within Level 2 as the valuation inputs are based on quoted prices and market observable data of similar
instruments.

The carrying values of cash deposits, accounts receivable, prepaid expenses and other assets, accounts payable and accrued expenses are reasonable
estimates of their fair values due to the short maturity of these financial instruments and are classified within Level 2.

Assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis are summarized by level below. The table does not include assets and liabilities that are
measured at historical costs or any other basis other than fair value.
 
   December 31, 2008

(In thousands)   

Quoted Prices in
Active Markets for

Identical Assets
(Level 1)   

Significant Other
Observable Inputs

(Level 2)   

Significant
Unobservable

Inputs 
(Level 3)   

Total
Assets/Liabilities

at Fair Value
Assets:         

Money market funds (1)   $ 200,620  $ —    $ —    $ 200,620
Total   $ 200,620  $ —    $ —    $ 200,620

Liabilities:         
Interest rate swap agreement (1)   $ —    $ 2,901  $ —    $ 2,901
Deferred compensation (2)    296   —     —     296

Total   $ 296  $ 2,901  $ —    $ 3,197

   December 31, 2009

(In thousands)   

Quoted Prices in
Active Markets for

Identical Assets
(Level 1)   

Significant Other
Observable Inputs

(Level 2)   

Significant
Unobservable

Inputs
(Level 3)   

Total
Assets/Liabilities

at Fair Value
Assets:         

Money market funds (1)   $ 60,709  $ —    $ —    $ 60,709
Rabbi trust (3)    576   —     —     576

Total   $ 61,285  $ —    $ —    $ 61,285
Liabilities:         

Interest rate swap agreement (1)   $ —    $ 1,818  $ —    $ 1,818
Deferred compensation (2)    586   —     —     586

Total   $ 586  $ 1,818  $ —    $ 2,404
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(1) Money market funds are classified in cash and cash equivalents. As of December 31, 2008 the interest rate swap agreement was classified in other non-

current liabilities, and in accounts payable and accrued expenses as of December 31, 2009.
 

(2) Obligations to pay benefits under a non-qualified deferred compensation plan that are classified in accounts payable and accrued expenses as of
December 31, 2008 and in other non-current liabilities as of December 31, 2009.

 

(3) Investments in marketable securities held in a Rabbi Trust associated with a non-qualified deferred compensation plan located in other non-current
assets.

Our Rabbi Trust was established in January 2009 and we elected the fair value option, which allows for the recognition of gains and losses to be
recorded in the statement of income in the same period as the gains and losses are incurred as part of the non-qualified deferred compensation plan. During
2009, we recognized a net gain of $89 thousand as interest and other income (expense).

6. Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets
Prepaid expenses and other current assets consisted of:

 

(In thousands)   
December 31,

2008   
December 31,

2009
Prepaid expenses   $ 5,481  $ 7,505
Other current assets    2,307   2,734

Prepaid expenses and other current assets   $ 7,788  $ 10,239

7. Property and Equipment, net
Property and equipment consisted of:

 

(In thousands)   
Estimated Useful

Lives   
December 31,

2008   
December 31,

2009  
Computers, software and equipment   1-5 years   $350,697   $ 511,279  
Furniture and fixtures   7 years    12,856    22,311  
Buildings and leasehold improvements   2-30 years    61,839    134,045  
Land   —     13,860    13,860  

Property and equipment, at cost      439,252    681,495  
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization      (188,300)   (298,369) 
Work in process      111,090    49,845  

Property and equipment, net     $ 362,042   $ 432,971  

Depreciation and leasehold amortization expense, not including amortization expense for intangible assets, was $54.7 million, $85.7 million and
$118.8 million for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2008 and 2009, respectively.

At December 31, 2008, the work in process balance consisted of build outs of $47.0 million for office facilities, $53.5 million for data centers, and
$10.6 million for capitalized software and other projects. At December 31, 2009, the work in process balance consisted of build outs of $35.7 million for
office facilities, $8.0 million for data centers and $6.1 million for capitalized software and other projects.

Capitalized interest was $1.0 million, $2.7 million and $0.8 million for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2008 and 2009, respectively.
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The unamortized balance of computer software costs on our consolidated balance sheets was $16.2 million and $29.1 million as of December 31, 2008
and December 31, 2009, respectively. Amortization expense for capitalized computer software costs was $5.4 million, $7.3 million and $12.7 million for the
years ended December 31, 2007, 2008 and 2009, respectively.

8. Business Combinations and Goodwill
In October 2008, we acquired two companies with a total purchase price of $28.0 million, which we accounted for as business combinations. The initial

purchase price of the combined acquisitions was $11.5 million paid in cash and stock, with up to $16.5 million in additional payouts of cash and stock
based on certain earn-out provisions. As a result of the acquisitions, we recorded $3.4 million of goodwill, of which $0.7 million of the goodwill was
deductible for tax purposes. In 2009, earn-outs totaling $15.5 million were achieved and paid in both cash and stock. If the remaining $1.0 million in
additional earn-out is achieved, the payment will be accounted for as additional goodwill. It is possible that this remaining earn-out will be achieved in 2010.

The following table provides a roll forward of our goodwill balance.
 

(In thousands)     
Balance at December 31, 2007   $ 3,574  

Acquisitions    3,424  
Purchase accounting adjustments    (56) 

Balance at December 31, 2008   $ 6,942  
Earn-out payments for acquisitions    15,502  
Purchase accounting adjustments    (115) 

Balance at December 31, 2009   $ 22,329  

We test goodwill at the reporting unit level using a fair value approach. Our annual testing did not result in an impairment of goodwill for the year ended
December 31, 2009 as the fair value of each reporting unit with goodwill was determined to be in excess of its carrying value. If an event occurs or
circumstances change that would more likely than not reduce the fair value of a reporting unit below its carrying value, goodwill will be evaluated for
impairment between annual tests. As of December 31, 2009, there were no indicators that our goodwill was impaired.

9. Intangible Assets
The following tables provide information regarding our intangible assets:

 
   December 31, 2008

   
Gross carrying

amount   
Accumulated
amortization   

Net carrying
amount

   (in thousands)
Intangible assets:   

Licenses   $ 12,738  $ (6,897)  $ 5,841
Purchased technologies    3,398   (938)   2,460
Domain name purchases    426   (385)   41
Noncompete agreements    731   (81)   650
Customer relationships    5,372   (297)   5,075
Trademarks, tradenames and patents    828   (227)   601
Other    631   (198)   433

Total   $ 24,124  $ (9,023)  $ 15,101
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   December 31, 2009

   
Gross carrying

amount   
Accumulated
amortization   

Net carrying
amount

   (in thousands)
Intangible assets:   

Licenses   $ 11,052  $ (6,925)  $ 4,127
Purchased technologies    3,645   (2,045)   1,600
Domain name purchases    431   (418)   13
Noncompete agreements    734   (227)   507
Customer relationships    5,240   (1,340)   3,900
Trademarks, tradenames and patents    865   (442)   423
Other    631   (411)   220

Total   $ 22,598  $ (11,808)  $ 10,790

Amortization expense on intangibles was $1.8 million, $4.5 million and $6.5 million in 2007, 2008 and 2009, respectively. Intangible assets are
recorded at cost and are amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives, which range from one to five years. As of December 31, 2009,
amortization expense on intangible assets for the next five years was expected to be as follows:
 

(In thousands)   Amount
Year ending:   

2010   $ 5,816
2011    2,841
2012    1,218
2013    900
2014    15

Total   $ 10,790

As of December 31, 2009, there were no indicators that our intangible assets were impaired.

10. Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses
Accounts payable and accrued expenses consisted of:

 

(In thousands)   
December 31,

2008   
December 31,

2009
Trade payables   $ 23,459  $ 24,597
Accrued compensation and benefits    19,462   28,469
Foreign income taxes payable    324   6,340
Vendor accruals    19,984   17,806
Other liabilities    8,158   12,561

Accounts payable and accrued expenses   $ 71,387  $ 89,773

Included in vendor accruals as of December 31, 2008 is a $2.1 million liability related to an unresolved contractual issue with a vendor. See note 14 for
further information on this issue. Included in Other liabilities as of December 31, 2009 is a $500 thousand accrual related to a contingent obligation.
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11. Debt
Debt outstanding consisted of:

 

(In thousands)   
December 31,

2008   
December 31,

2009  
Revolving credit facility   $ 200,000   $ 50,000  
Notes payable    10,723    7,684  

Total debt    210,723    57,684  
Less current portion of debt    (5,944)   (4,893) 

Total non-current debt   $204,779   $ 52,791  

Revolving Credit Facility
Our revolving credit facility includes an aggregate commitment of $245.0 million. The facility provides for letters of credit up to $25.0 million. The

interest is based on a floating rate, generally the London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR) plus a margin spread, which changes ratably from 0.675% to
1.55% dependent on the total funded debt to adjusted earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, and amortization (EBITDA) ratio. We are required to pay a
facility fee of 0.2% per annum on the full amount committed under the facility and a quarterly administrative fee. The facility has a 5-year term and matures
in August 2012, and is fully secured by our assets and governed by financial and non-financial covenants. Financial covenants under our facility include a
minimum fixed charge coverage ratio and a maximum total funded debt to EBITDA ratio.

In June 2009, we amended the revolving credit facility agreement to provide us with the ability to borrow under our credit facility in Pounds Sterling and
euros, rather than only allowing our borrowings in U.S. dollars. We have the ability to borrow up to $75 million in alternate currencies. In addition, the
amendment provides for changes in regard to certain other items in the credit agreement, including but not limited to (i) the calculation to determine our
“Minimum Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio”, (ii) our banking account maintenance, and (iii) requirements for access to collateral located at our various real
property locations. These changes were made in order to provide clarifications that reflected compliance expectations that already existed among the parties. We
incurred fees of $367 thousand in connection with the amendment which have been capitalized and are being amortized over the remaining term of the revolver.
As of December 31, 2009 we did not have any borrowings on our credit facility in alternate currencies.

As of December 31, 2009, the amount outstanding under the facility was $50.0 million, with an outstanding letter of credit of $0.7 million, and an
additional $194.3 million available for future borrowings.

Our average borrowing under the facility was $96.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2009. In the same period, the revolving credit facility
accrued interest at an average rate of 1.58%.

The credit facility has financial and non financial covenants. Financial covenants under our facility include a minimum fixed charge coverage ratio of at
least 1.25 to 1.00 until the three months ended December 31, 2009 and 1.50 to 1.00 for every quarter thereafter and a maximum funded debt to EBITDA of not
greater than 3.00 to 1.00. Also, our foreign cash balance is limited to a balance of $25 million. As of December 31, 2009, we were in compliance with all of the
covenants under our facility.

Interest Rate Swap
We use cash flow hedges to limit our exposure that may result from the variability of floating interest rates. Effective December 10, 2007, we entered into

an interest rate swap agreement with a notional amount of $50.0 million to hedge a portion of our outstanding floating-rate debt. This swap converts floating
rate interest based on the London Interbank Offered Rate, or LIBOR, into fixed-rate interest as part of the arrangement with our primary lender and expires in
December 2010.
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We are required to pay the counterparty a stream of fixed interest payments at a rate of 4.135%, and in turn, receive variable interest payments based on
1-month LIBOR. The margin spread as of December 31, 2009 was 1.05% resulting in an effective fixed rate of 5.19%. The net receipts or payments from the
swap are recorded as interest expense. The swap is designated and qualifies as a cash flow hedge. As such, the swap is accounted for as an asset or a liability
in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets at fair value. We are utilizing the dollar offset method to assess the effectiveness of the swap. Under this
methodology, the swap was deemed to be highly effective for the period ended December 31, 2007 and the years ended December 31, 2008 and December 31,
2009. There was no hedge ineffectiveness recognized in earnings for the period ended December 31, 2007 or the years ended December 31, 2008 and
December 31, 2009. If the hedge becomes ineffective, certain terms of the revolving line of credit change, the revolving line of credit is extinguished, or if the
swap is terminated prior to maturity, the fair value of the swap and subsequent changes in fair value may be recognized in the accompanying consolidated
statements of income.

The fair value of the swap was estimated based on the yield curve as of December 31, 2008 and December 31, 2009, and represents its carrying value.
See Note 5 for further disclosure on the fair value of the interest rate swap and Note 19 for further information on comprehensive income.

As of December 31, 2009, we were in a liability position to the counterparty of the swap and therefore had limited counterparty credit risk.

The following table presents the impact of the interest rate swap on the consolidated balance sheets:
 

(In thousands)   
December 31,

2008   
December 31,

2009  
Accounts payable and accrued expenses   $ —     $ 1,818  
Other non-current liabilities   $ 2,901   $ —    
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax   $ (1,886)  $ (1,182) 
 
   Year Ended December 31,

(In thousands)   2007   2008   2009
Effective gain (loss) recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income,

net of tax   $(322)  $(1,564)  $704

Notes Payable
We have entered into various financing arrangements with multiple equipment and software vendors. As of December 31, 2009, the total amount

financed under these relationships was $7.7 million with various terms extending to June 2012, and stated rates ranging from 0.0% to 6.0%. For arrangements
with below market interest rates, we impute an interest charge based on our average borrowing rate. The weighted average effective interest rate of the various
arrangements with third party vendors was 4.03% as of December 31, 2009.

The future principal payments on the revolving credit facility and notes payable as of December 31, 2009 was as follows:
 

(In thousands)   Amount
Year ending:   

2010   $ 4,893
2011    1,912
2012    50,879
2013    —  
2014 and beyond    —  

Total debt payments   $57,684
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12. Other Non-Current Liabilities
Other non-current liabilities consisted of:

 

(In thousands)   
December 31,

2008   
December 31,

2009
Texas Enterprise Fund Grant   $ 5,000  $ 5,000
Deferred rent    1,399   5,391
Other    3,813   1,374

Other non-current liabilities   $ 10,212  $ 11,765

See Note 14 for a description of the liability associated with the Texas Enterprise Fund Grant agreement.

13. Leases
Capital Leases

We have global master lease agreements with three of our primary vendors that supply us with servers and computer equipment. Currently, we finance
most equipment purchases through their respective finance companies. The terms vary with each vendor, but typically include a term of two to four years and
interest rates ranging from 2.5% to 8.6%. A majority of these agreements allow us to purchase the equipment at the end of the lease for a nominal amount.

In 2007, 2008 and 2009, we financed $8.5 million, $1.5 million and $0, respectively, of certain servers and equipment through sale leaseback
transactions with a vendor. We recognize the sale and repurchase of this equipment based on the relative fair value on the date of the transaction. As a result, no
gains or losses were recorded in our consolidated statement of income. These sale leaseback transactions are recorded as leased assets and as obligations under
capital leases within the consolidated balance sheet.

Amounts in property and equipment under capital leases as of December 31, 2008 and 2009 consisted of:
 
(In thousands)   2008   2009  
Computers, software and equipment   $151,255   $195,578  
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization:    (55,281)   (73,803) 

  $ 95,974   $ 121,775  

In August 2007, we executed a 30 year capital lease for our new headquarters facility. We made a lease prepayment to the current owner of $32.7 million,
of which $27.7 million has been recorded as a capital asset within property and equipment and $5.0 million has been recorded in other non-current assets as a
prepaid expense. As a result, no further payments are required and we have the option to purchase the land and building for a nominal amount anytime during
the lease term.

Future capital lease payments under non-cancelable leases as of December 31, 2009 were as follows:
 

(In thousands)   Amount  
Year ending:   
2010   $ 52,698  
2011    40,720  
2012    21,229  
2013    2,495  

Total minimum capital lease payments    117,142  
Less amount representing interest    (7,440) 

Present value of net minimum lease payments    109,702  
Less current portion of obligations under capital leases portion    (46,415) 
Non-current obligations under capital leases   $ 63,287  
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Lease obligations for our foreign subsidiaries are denominated in foreign currencies, which have been converted to U.S. dollars at the exchange rate on
December 31, 2009.

Operating Leases
We lease our data center facilities, certain office space and equipment under non-cancelable operating lease agreements. Facility leases generally include

renewal options and may require us to pay a portion of the related operating expenses. Certain of these lease agreements have escalating rental payment
provisions. We recognize rent expense for such arrangements on a straight-line basis.

Future operating lease payments under non-cancelable leases with an initial term in excess of one year as of December 31, 2009 were as follows:
 

(In thousands)   Amount
Year ending:   
2010   $ 16,585
2011    18,167
2012    20,220
2013    18,266
2014    16,979
Thereafter    145,141

Total minimum operating lease payments   $ 235,358

Rent expense for the years ended 2007, 2008, and 2009 was $14.6 million, $19.5 million, and $22.1 million, respectively.

14. Commitments and Contingencies
Purchase Commitments

Non-cancelable purchase commitments primarily relate to commitments for certain services and construction contracts at our data centers. The
agreements vary from one to three years and provide for either penalties for early termination or may require minimum commitments for the remaining term.
The minimum commitments for all of these agreements as of December 31, 2009 approximated $13.5 million, $1.1 million, and $0.1 million for the years
ended December 31, 2010, 2011 and 2012, respectively.

We also have purchase orders and construction contracts primarily related to data center equipment and facility build-outs. We generally have the right to
cancel these open purchase orders prior to delivery or terminate the contracts without cause.

Legal Proceedings
We are party to various legal proceedings which we consider routine and incidental to our business. On October 22, 2008, Benjamin E. Rodriguez

D/B/A Management and Business Advisors vs. Rackspace Hosting, Inc. and Graham Weston , was filed in the 37  District Court in Bexar County Texas
by a former consultant to the company, Benjamin E. Rodriguez. The suit alleges breach of an oral agreement to issue Mr. Rodriguez a 1% interest in our stock
in the form of options or warrants for compensation for services he was engaged to perform for us. We believe that the plaintiff’s position is without merit and
intend to vigorously defend this lawsuit. We do not expect the results of this claim or any other current proceeding to have a material adverse effect on our
business, results of operations or financial condition.
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Contingent Liability
We previously recorded a $2.1 million charge to cost of revenue related to an unresolved contractual issue with a vendor. During the fourth quarter of

2009, we concluded that the obligation was no longer probable due to the lapsing of the associated contractual period. We believe the contingency has been
resolved and thus we reversed the liability and recorded a benefit to cost of revenue.

Guarantees and Indemnifications
We have identified certain guarantees. When evaluating estimated losses for guarantees, we consider such factors as the degree of probability of an

unfavorable outcome and the ability to make a reasonable estimate of the amount of loss. To date, we have not encountered material costs as a result of such
obligations and have not accrued any liabilities related to such guarantees in our financial statements.

As permitted under Delaware law, we have agreements whereby we indemnify our officers and directors for certain events or occurrences while the
officer or director is, or was serving, at our request in such capacity. The term of the indemnification period is for the officer’s or director’s lifetime. The
maximum potential amount of future payments we could be required to make under these indemnification agreements is unlimited; however, we have a director
and officer insurance policy that limits our exposure and enables us to recover a portion of any future amounts paid. As a result of the insurance policy
coverage, we believe the estimated fair value of these indemnification agreements is minimal. We have no significant liabilities recorded for these agreements as
of December 31, 2008 or December 31, 2009.

We have service level commitment obligations with most of our customers. As a result, service interruptions or significant equipment damage in our data
centers, whether or not within our control, could result in us not achieving service level commitments to these customers resulting in an obligation to pay a
service level credit. Our liability insurance does not cover ordinary service interruptions. In addition, any loss of services, equipment damage or inability to
meet our service level commitment obligations, could reduce the confidence of our customers and could consequently impair our ability to obtain and retain
customers, which would adversely affect both our ability to generate revenue and our operating results. We generally have the ability to determine such service
level credits prior to the associated revenue being recognized and record an estimate for potential unrecorded amounts. The balance for credits resulting from
our service level agreements within allowances for doubtful accounts and customer credits as of December 31, 2008 and 2009 was $990 thousand and $1.4
million, respectively.

In the normal course of business, we indemnify certain parties, including customers, vendors and lessors, with respect to certain matters. We have
agreed to hold certain parties harmless against losses arising from a breach of representations or covenants, or out of intellectual property infringement or other
claims made against certain parties. These agreements may limit the time within which an indemnification claim can be made and the amount of the claim. We
have no significant liabilities recorded for these agreements as of December 31, 2008 or 2009.

In August 2007, we entered into a lease for our corporate headquarters. In connection with this lease, we also entered into a Master Economic Incentives
Agreement with the Cities of Windcrest and San Antonio, Texas; Bexar County; and certain other parties, pursuant to which we agreed to locate existing and
future employees at the new facility location. The agreement requires that we meet certain employment levels each year, with an ultimate employee base
requirement of 4,500 jobs in Windcrest by December 31, 2012; however, if the job requirement in any grant agreement with the State of Texas is lower, then
the job requirement under the MEIA is automatically adjusted downward. Consequently, because the Texas Enterprise Fund Grant agreement discussed below
has been amended to reduce the state job requirement, the job requirement under the MEIA has been reduced to 1,774. In addition, the agreement requires that
the median payroll of those employees be no less than $51 thousand per year. In exchange for these employment obligations, we will receive a 14 year
exemption from
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most of the property taxes associated with the property. If we fail to meet these job creation requirements, we could lose a portion or all of the tax exemption
provided during the 14 year period and would then be obligated to repay the exemption amount. We have met the requirements for the employment level and
median payroll for December 31, 2009, and we believe that it is probable that we will meet the requirements throughout the exemption period. We elected to
begin the exemption period in 2009.

Further, we entered into an agreement, with the State of Texas, under which we received $5.0 million in 2007, and may receive up to an additional of
$17.0 million from the Texas Enterprise Fund in multiple installments provided that we meet certain new job levels in the State of Texas paying an average of
at least $56 thousand per year (subject to a 2.0% per year increase commencing in 2012), beginning December 31, 2008 and sustain these jobs through
December 31, 2021. If we fail to meet these job creation requirements, we will be required to repay the grant money with interest at the rate of 3.4% per year. If
we fail to meet any of the annual job creation requirements, we may be required to repay cash previously received. As of December 31, 2009, the $5.0 million
received was deferred and recorded as other non-current liabilities. Amounts will be recognized into income upon the achievement of the performance criteria
and the determination that the cash is no longer refundable to the State of Texas.

On July 27, 2009, the Texas Enterprise Fund Grant agreement was amended to modify the job creation requirements. Under the amendment, the grant
has been divided into four separate tranches. The first tranche, called “Basic Fund” in the amendment, is $8.5 million with a Job Target of 1,225 new jobs
by December 2012 (in addition to the 1,436 jobs in place as of August 1, 2007 for a total of 2,661 jobs in Texas, two thirds of which must be located in
Windcrest, Texas). We already have drawn $5.0 million of this grant. We can draw an additional $3.5 million when we reach 1,225 new jobs. If we do not
create 1,225 new jobs in Texas by 2012, we will be required to repay the grant at a rate of $1,263 per job missed per year (clawback). The maximum
clawback would be the amounts we draw plus 3.4% interest on such amounts per year. The remaining three tranches are at our option. We can draw an
additional $13.5 million, based on the following amounts and milestones: $5.5 million if we create a total of 2,100 new jobs in Texas; another $5.25 million
if we create a total of 3,000 new jobs in Texas; and $2.75 million more if we create a total of 4,000 new jobs in Texas. We are responsible for maintaining the
jobs through January 2022. If we eliminate jobs for which we have drawn funds, the clawback is triggered.

In October 2008, we received a grant in partnership with the State of Texas and Alamo Community College District. Under the terms of the grant, we are
eligible to receive free training courses through Alamo Community College and be reimbursed for certain internal training courses for an amount not to exceed
$4.7 million through July 31, 2012. In order to fulfill our requirements, we must meet the employment requirements defined in the original agreement with the
State of Texas from the Texas Enterprise Fund.

15. Common Stock
Common Stock

In October 2007, our stockholders approved an amendment to our certificate of incorporation to increase the number of authorized common shares from
30 million to 300 million. At December 31, 2008 and December 31, 2009, we had 117,154,094 and 123,773,977 shares of our common stock legally issued
and outstanding, respectively.

We have one class of authorized common stock. The rights and privileges provided to our common stockholders are as follows:
 

 
•  Dividend Rights—Subject to preferences that may apply to shares of preferred stock outstanding at the time, the holders of our common stock are

entitled to receive dividends, at the discretion of our board of directors.
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 •  Voting Rights—All holders of common stock are entitled to one vote per share on all matters to be voted on by Rackspace Hosting’s stockholders.
 

 
•  Right to Receive Liquidation Distributions —Upon liquidation, dissolution or winding-up, the holders of our common stock are entitled to share

equally in all of our assets remaining after payment of all liabilities and the liquidation preferences of any outstanding preferred stock.

Common Stock Issuances
In September 2007, we issued a total of 587,595 shares of common stock as partial consideration for the Mailtrust acquisition. The common stock

issued was recorded at a price of $5.82 per share, resulting in an aggregate recorded amount of $3.4 million. In connection with the Mailtrust acquisition, we
issued three employees 353,805 additional shares which were subject to a repurchase agreement. As of December 31, 2009, 50% of these shares had become
fully vested and were no longer subject to the repurchase agreement. We also issued 15,000 shares of common stock in exchange for the remaining limited
partnership interest in Mosso in July 2007, with a fair value of $87 thousand that was recorded to goodwill.

In March 2008, we sold 60,000 shares of our common stock at a price per share of $9.14 for a total purchase price of $548 thousand to a member of
our executive team.

In August 2008, we completed our IPO, issuing 12.7 million shares of common stock at an IPO price of $12.50 per share.

In November 2008, per the terms of the merger agreement with Jungle Disk, we issued 247,545 shares of our common stock at a price of $5.405 per
share and reissued 82,705 treasury shares at a price of $5.405 per share as partial consideration for the acquisition, resulting in an aggregate recorded amount
of $1.8 million.

In 2009, we had two employee stock purchases under the 2008 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (ESPP). We issued a total of 26,836 shares of common
stock as part of the purchases processed in 2009. No expense associated with these shares issued was recorded in 2009. The shares are also fully vested and
unrestricted as of December 31, 2009.

In 2007, 2008, and 2009, we issued 472,760, 1,427,334 and 5,723,772 shares, respectively, related to employee stock options and stock awards. See
Note 17 for additional disclosures related to the share-based compensation.

In 2009, per the terms of the merger agreements with Jungle Disk and Slicehost, and product integration milestones, we issued 140,935 shares of our
common stock at a price of $5.428 per share as the first earnout for Jungle Disk in March 2009, resulting in an aggregate recorded amount of $765
thousand. In April 2009, we issued 200,000 shares of our common stock at a price of $5.574 per share as the first earnout for Slicehost, resulting in an
aggregate recorded amount of $1.1 million. In August 2009, we issued 477,964 shares of our common stock at a price of $14.227 per share as the second
earnout in Slicehost, resulting in an aggregate recorded amount of $6.8 million.

In 2007, 2008 and 2009, each of our non-employee board of directors was compensated with shares of common stock. We granted a total of 31,580,
24,405 and 50,376 shares of common stock as a portion of director’s fees to non-employee members of our board of directors in 2007, 2008 and 2009,
respectively. We recorded $156 thousand, $289 thousand and $462 thousand of expense associate with these grants in 2007, 2008 and 2009, respectively.
The shares are fully vested and unrestricted as of December 31, 2009. These amounts have been recorded as a component of general and administrative
expense.
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Treasury Stock
In November 2008, we reissued all of our treasury shares as partial consideration for an acquisition.

Stock Split
On December 13, 2007, our board of directors approved a five-for-one split of our common stock that was effected in the form of a stock dividend to

stockholders of record on January 31, 2008. In accordance with the preferred stock agreement, holders of preferred shares received four shares of common
stock for every preferred share held as of the date of record.

Warrants
In August of 2008, all warrants outstanding were exercised in conjunction with our IPO.

16. Preferred Stock
Prior to our IPO in August 2008, we had 1,214,837 shares of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock (Preferred Stock), all of which were issued in 2001.

These shares were all converted to common stock as part of our IPO. As of December 31, 2008 and 2009, there were 50 million authorized shares of preferred
stock of which none was issued or outstanding.

17. Share-Based Compensation
In December 2007, we adopted the 2007 Equity and Incentive Plan, or Amended and Restated 2007 Stock Plan. Under the 2007 Stock Plan, incentive

and non-qualified stock options or rights to purchase common stock may be granted to eligible participants. In addition to stock options, we may grant other
equity awards such as stock appreciation rights, restricted stock awards, restricted stock units, performance awards, cash-based awards, and dividend
equivalents. All awards, excluding incentive stock options, may be granted under the plan to employees, officers, directors, or any other non-employee service
provider to the company. Incentive stock options may be granted only to employees of the company or a subsidiary. The exercise price of a stock option
granted under the 2007 Stock Plan will be determined by the committee at the time the option is granted, and generally may not be less than 100% of the fair
market value of a share of common stock as of the date of grant. The 2007 Stock Plan has an automatic share reserve increase effective the first day of each
fiscal year beginning in 2009 with an amount equal to the lesser of (i) 10,000,000 shares, (ii) four percent of the number of shares on the last day of the
immediately preceding fiscal year that are (a) outstanding, and (b) issuable pursuant to outstanding awards and award under prior plans, or (iii) such lesser
number of shares determined by our board of directors. For fiscal year 2009 and 2010, this resulted in an increase of approximately 5.5 million and
5.7 million shares, respectively, available under our Stock Plans.

We also maintain the 1999 Stock Plan, the 2003 Stock Plan, the 2005 Stock Plan, the 2007 Stock Plan, and plans assumed through acquisitions,
collectively referred to as the Stock Plans. Except for options granted in 2008 that were revalued in relation with our IPO, options are priced to be at least 100%
of our common stock’s fair market value at the date of grant. Options have been granted for a term of ten years. Options granted under the Stock Plans
generally vest either ratably over the requisite service period, at the end of three years, or based on performance milestones. Stock options issued under the
1999 Stock Option Plan have seven year terms and generally vest over three years. Stock options assumed through acquisitions have had seven to ten year
terms and vest 25% the first year and ratably over the remaining periods.

As of December 31, 2009, the total number of shares authorized under all of our plans was 42.8 million shares, of which approximately 6.0 million
shares were available for future grants.
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Outstanding stock awards were as follows:
 

   
December 31,

2008   
December 31,

2009
Restricted stock units   50,000  2,087,500
Stock options   19,255,644  16,841,232
Total outstanding awards   19,305,644  18,928,732

The following table summarizes our restricted stock unit activity as of December 31, 2009:
 

   
Number of

Units   

Weighted
Average Grant

Date Fair Value  

Weighted
Average

Remaining
Contractual Life  

Aggregate
Intrinsic Value
(in thousands)

Outstanding at December 31, 2008   50,000   $ 6.69  2.36  $ 269
Granted   2,050,000   $ 5.45    
Released   (12,500)  $ 6.69    
Cancelled   —     $ —      

Outstanding at December 31, 2009   2,087,500   $ 5.47  3.06  $ 43,524

On February 25, 2009, our board approved grants of restricted stock units (RSUs) to our chief executive officer and another member of the executive
team. A total of 2,000,000 RSUs were granted. The vesting of the RSUs is dependent on the company’s total shareholder return (TSR) on its common stock
compared to other companies in the Russell 2000 Index. In addition, the company’s TSR must be positive for vesting to occur. Of the total RSUs granted,
1,050,000 have a measurement period at the end of three years, and the remainder at the end of five years. The grant date fair value of these awards was $7.0
million and is being amortized over the awards’ service periods. The fair value was calculated using a Monte Carlo pricing model.

On December 14, 2009, our board approved an additional 50,000 RSU’s to an executive officer. These grants vest 25% at the end of each year over a
four-year period. Stock-based compensation expense for service vesting RSUs is measured based on the closing fair market value of the company’s common
stock on the date of grant.

The following table summarizes the activity under our stock option plans:
 

   
Number of

Shares   

Weighted
Average
Exercise

Price   

Weighted
Average

Remaining
Contractual Life  

Aggregate
Intrinsic Value
(in thousands)

Outstanding at December 31, 2008   19,255,644   $ 4.94  7.01  $ 34,050
Granted   4,225,600   $ 6.41    
Exercised   (5,711,272)  $ 2.46    
Cancelled   (928,740)  $ 7.37    

Outstanding at December 31, 2009   16,841,232   $ 6.02  7.56  $ 249,801
Vested and exercisable at December 31, 2009   6,268,601   $ 3.18  6.14  $ 110,797
Vested and exercisable at December 31, 2009 and expected to vest thereafter *   15,450,344   $ 5.85  7.47  $ 231,749
 
* Includes reduction of shares outstanding due to estimated forfeitures
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On February 25, 2009, our board approved the grant of 3.7 million stock options for certain employees with an exercise price of $5.09. The shares vest
25% at the end of each year over a four-year period and expire after ten years. The grant date fair value of these stock options was $2.97 per option using the
Black-Scholes option pricing model.

The total pre-tax intrinsic value of the stock options exercised during fiscal 2007, 2008 and 2009 was $2.4 million, $12.4 million and $54.2 million,
respectively.

The weighted average grant date fair value of stock options issued for the years ended 2007, 2008 and 2009 was $3.77, $7.84 and $3.71, respectively,
using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following assumptions:
 
   Years Ended December 31,
   2007   2008   2009
Expected stock volatility   65%   60% - 65%   57% - 61%
Expected dividend yield   0.0%   0.0%   0.0%
Risk-free interest rate   3.62% - 5.04%   2.71% - 3.45%   2.24% - 3.03%
Expected life   6.25 years   6.25 - 6.50 years   6.25 years

As of December 31, 2009, there was $44.3 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to non-vested stock options granted under our various
plans using the straight line method over a weighted average period of 2.15 years.

In 2008, Rackspace issued 403,000 performance-based stock options with a weighted average exercise price of $7.54 per share to certain employees. The
vesting of these options is tied to defined performance criteria based on achievement of revenue and operating income targets. The options vest and are
exercisable, in whole or in part, semi-annually over the performance period beginning on the grant date and ending on the five year anniversary of the vesting
commencement date. As of December 31, 2009, these options were determined probable to vest and a total of $396 thousand and $884 thousand of share-
based compensation expense was recognized for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2009, respectively.

In the first quarter of 2008, we approved a broad-based option grant and issued stock options to certain employees under the 2007 Plan to purchase
3,793,940 shares of common stock with exercise prices of $9.14 per share and $10.30 per share. These options have a 3-year cliff vesting and expire ten years
from the date of the grant.

We use the Black-Scholes option pricing model to value options granted to non-employees. Between 2006 and December 31, 2009, we issued 75,000
options to non-employee consultants with a range of exercise prices from $3.40 to $15.59. These options vest over a 4-year period, and expire after 5 years.
We will continue to mark to market these options using the Black-Scholes model (using the variables discussed in the table above), until such time that they
are vested. As of December 31, 2009, a total of 37,500 of these options had vested and were exercised. During 2007, 2008 and 2009, we recorded general and
administrative expense of $97 thousand, $142 thousand and $528 thousand, respectively, related to these options.

Share-based compensation expense was recognized as follows:
 
   Year Ended December 31,  
(in thousands)   2007   2008   2009  
Cost of revenue   $ 433   $ 2,465   $ 2,850  
Sales and marketing    598    2,141    2,884  
General and administrative    3,221    10,411    14,390  

Pre-tax share-based compensation    4,252    15,017    20,124  
Less: Income tax benefit    (1,526)   (5,047)   (7,059) 
Total share-based compensation expense, net of tax   $ 2,726   $ 9,970   $13,065  
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18. Income Taxes
The provision for income taxes consisted of:

 
(In thousands)   2007   2008   2009  
Current:     

Federal   $ 8,042   $ (9,396)  $ (5,911) 
Foreign    4,322    6,762    10,243  
State    1,080    1,917    2,509  

Total current    13,444    (717)   6,841  
Deferred:     

Federal    (2,986)   13,611    10,497  
Foreign    (435)   (1,636)   (826) 
State    (58)   (273)   (184) 

Total deferred    (3,479)   11,702    9,487  
Total provision for income taxes   $ 9,965   $10,985   $16,328  

Income before income taxes included income from foreign operations of approximately $12.2 million, $18.7 million, and $31.2 million for years ended
December 31, 2007, 2008, and 2009, respectively.

A reconciliation of the statutory federal tax rate to the effective tax rate is as follows:
 
   2007   2008   2009  
Statutory federal tax rate   35.0%  35.0%  35.0% 

State taxes, net of federal benefit   2.3%  3.2%  3.3% 
Tax rate differentials for international jurisdictions   -2.1%  -2.7%  -3.2% 
Permanent items, including non deductible stock based compensation and meals & entertainment   0.5%  0.4%  0.3% 
Other, net   0.2%  -2.3%  -0.3% 

Effective tax rate   35.9%  33.6%  35.1% 
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Deferred Taxes
Deferred income taxes reflect the net effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting

purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes. Significant components of our deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows:
 
(In thousands)   2008   2009  
Deferred tax assets:    

Share-based compensation   $ 6,075   $ 9,970  
Accounts receivable    935    1,245  
Vacation accruals    879    1,191  
Deferred revenue    3,407    2,855  
Deferred rent    170    1,783  
Accruals not currently deductible    1,840    3,226  
Net operating loss carryforwards    987    5,432  
Research and development credits    —      1,103  
Other    1,290    1,095  

Total gross deferred tax assets    15,583    27,900  
Deferred tax liabilities:    

Depreciation    23,772    45,475  
Prepaids    1,273    1,445  
Other    —      191  

Total gross deferred tax liabilities    25,045    47,111  
Net deferred tax assets (liabilities)   $ (9,462)  $(19,211) 

Realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon future earnings, if any, the timing and amount of which are uncertain. A valuation allowance was
not established or deemed necessary based upon the determination that future profits are anticipated.

The company has not recognized a deferred tax liability for undistributed earnings of its UK subsidiary because such earnings are considered
indefinitely invested in a foreign country. As of December 31, 2009, undistributed earnings of the company’s UK subsidiary considered indefinitely invested
were approximately $56.1 million. The unrecognized deferred tax liability is dependent on many factors including withholding taxes under current tax treaties
and foreign tax credits and is estimated to be $3.6 million.

We have $25.6 million of federal net operating loss carryforwards and $1.2 million of federal tax credit carryforwards expiring at various dates through
2030. The federal net operating loss carryforwards include approximately $16.6 million of gross windfall tax benefits from stock option exercises that have
not been recorded as of December 31, 2009. We have $6.8 million of foreign net operating loss carryforwards that have an indefinite expiration date, as the
foreign jurisdictions generating these net operating losses provide carryforward utilization without time limit to offset future profits. These deferred tax assets
will be recorded as an increase to additional paid in capital when the related tax benefits are realized.

In 2008, we received notification from the State of Texas that our application for the Texas Enterprise program was approved. Upon achieving the
specific requirements of the program, which include job creation requirements, we may receive sales tax reimbursements from the State of Texas not to exceed
$3.75 million over a five year period. No refunds were received for the year ended December 31, 2009.

Uncertain Tax Positions
At the end of fiscal year 2007, we began accounting for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in an enterprise’s financial statements using a two-step

process to determine the amount of tax benefit to be recognized. First, the tax position must be evaluated to determine the likelihood that it will be sustained
upon
 

88



Table of Contents

external examination. If the tax position is deemed “more-likely-than-not” to be sustained, the tax position is then assessed to determine the amount of benefit to
recognize in the financial statements. The amount of the benefit that may be recognized is the largest amount that has a greater than 50% likelihood of being
realized upon ultimate settlement. We had no changes to the amount of our income tax payable as a result of implementing this accounting method. Prior to
adoption, our policy was to classify accruals for uncertain positions as a current liability unless it was highly probable that there would not be a payment or
settlement for such identified risks for a period of at least a year. There is a comprehensive model for the financial statement recognition, measurement,
presentation and disclosure of uncertain tax positions taken or expected to be taken in income tax returns. Unrecognized tax benefits represent tax positions for
which reserves have been established.

A reconciliation of our unrecognized tax benefits, excluding accrued interest, for 2008 and 2009 is as follows:
 

(In thousands)   2008   2009
Balance at beginning of year   $ —    $252
Additions based on tax positions related to the current year    143   104
Additions for tax positions of prior years    109   —  
Reductions for tax positions of prior years    —     —  
Settlements    —     —  
Balance at end of year   $252  $356

At December 31, 2009, approximately $356 thousand of these unrecognized tax benefits, if recognized, would favorably affect our effective tax rate in
any future period. We do not expect the amount of the unrecognized tax benefits disclosed above to change significantly over the next 12 months.

We are subject to U.S. federal income tax and various state, local, and international income taxes in numerous jurisdictions. Our domestic and
international tax liabilities are subject to the allocation of revenue and expenses in different jurisdictions and the timing of recognizing revenue and expenses.
Additionally, the amount of income taxes paid is subject to our interpretation of applicable tax laws in the jurisdictions in which we file.

We currently file income tax returns in the U.S., and all foreign jurisdictions in which we have entities, which are periodically under audit by federal,
state, and international tax authorities. These audits can involve complex matters that may require an extended period of time for resolution. We remain subject
to U.S. federal and state income tax examinations for the tax years 2005 through 2008, to U.K. income tax examinations for the years 2002 through 2008 and
to Hong Kong income tax examinations for the tax year 2008. There are no income tax examinations currently in process. Although the outcome of open tax
audits is uncertain, in management’s opinion, adequate provisions for income taxes have been made. If actual outcomes differ materially from these estimates,
they could have a material impact on our financial condition and results of operations. Differences between actual results and assumptions, or changes in
assumptions in future periods are recorded in the period they become known. To the extent additional information becomes available prior to resolution, such
accruals are adjusted to reflect probable outcomes. During 2009 we received federal income tax refunds totaling $10.1 million related to the 2008 tax period. We
experienced a taxable loss in 2009 primarily as a result of the accelerated depreciation allowed under the 2009 American Recovery and Reinvestment Act passed
in February 2009.

Rackspace takes certain non-income tax positions in the jurisdictions in which it operates and may be subject to audit from these jurisdictions.
Rackspace is also involved in related non-income tax litigation matters. We believe our positions are supportable and we have accrued for known exposure;
however, significant judgment is required in determining the ultimate outcome of such matters. In the normal course of business, our position and conclusion
related to these non-income taxes may be challenged and assessments may be made. To
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the extent new information is obtained and changes our views on our positions, probable outcome of assessments, or litigation, changes in estimates to accrued
liabilities would be recorded in the period the determination is made.

We recognize interest expense and penalties related to income tax matters in interest and penalties expense within other income (expense) on our
consolidated statements of income and not as income tax expense. As of December 31, 2008 and 2009, we had no accrued interest and penalties on the
consolidated balance sheets. For the years ended 2007, 2008 and 2009, no amount for interest or penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits were recorded in
the consolidated statements of income.

19. Comprehensive Income
Total comprehensive income was as follows:

 
   Year Ended December 31,

(In thousands)   2007   2008   2009
Net income   $17,829   $ 21,703   $ 30,218

Derivative instrument, net of deferred taxes of $173, $842 and $(379) for the years ended December 31,
2007, 2008 and 2009    (322)   (1,564)   704

Foreign currency cumulative translation adjustment, net of taxes of $5, $3,966 and $(1,393) for the
years ended December 31, 2007, 2008 and 2009    105    (14,976)   5,066

Total other comprehensive income (loss)    (217)   (16,540)   5,770
Total comprehensive income   $17,612   $ 5,163   $35,988

The changes in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2009 were as follows:
 

(In thousands)   
Derivative
Instrument  

Translation
Adjustment   

Accumulated
other

comprehensive
income (loss)  

Balance at December 31, 2007   $ (322)  $ 835   $ 513  
2008 changes in fair value    (1,564)   —      (1,564) 
2008 translation adjustment    —      (14,976)   (14,976) 

Balance at December 31, 2008   $(1,886)  $ (14,141)  $ (16,027) 
2009 changes in fair value    704    —      704  
2009 translation adjustment    —      5,066    5,066  

Balance at December 31, 2009   $ (1,182)  $ (9,075)  $ (10,257) 

20. Segment Information
Operating segments are defined as components of an enterprise for which separate financial information is available and evaluated regularly by the chief

operating decision-maker, or decision-making group, in deciding how to allocate resources and in assessing performance. Our chief operating decision-maker
is our chief executive officer. Our chief executive officer reviews financial information presented on a consolidated basis, accompanied by information by
reporting unit and geographic region for purposes of evaluating financial performance and allocating resources. We are organized as, and operate three operating
segments based around our products and services. The company’s service offerings all provide computing power to similar types of
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customers. Furthermore, the service offerings have similar production processes, deliver their services in a similar manner and use the same data centers and
similar technologies. As a result of our evaluation of the criteria for aggregation by products and services, we determined we have one reportable segment,
which we describe as Hosting.

Revenue is attributed by geographic location based on the Rackspace Hosting operating location that enters into the contractual relationship with the
customer, either the U.S. or outside the U.S., primarily the U.K. Total net revenue by geographic region was as follows:
 
   Year Ended December 31,

(In thousands)   2007   2008   2009
United States   $ 260,747  $ 383,524  $ 467,901
Outside United States    101,270   148,409   161,086

Total net revenue   $ 362,017  $ 531,933  $ 628,987

Our primary long-lived assets are primarily located in the U.S. and the U.K., and to a lesser extent Hong Kong. Property and equipment, net was as
follows:
 

(In thousands)   
December 31,

2008   
December 31,

2009
United States   $294,585  $ 344,353
Outside United States    67,457   88,618

Total property and equipment, net   $ 362,042  $432,971

21. Employee Benefit Plans
We sponsor a defined contribution retirement plan which has been determined by the IRS to be qualified as a 401(k) plan, or the Plan. The Plan covers

substantially all employees. The Plan provides for voluntary tax deferred contributions of up to 100% of gross compensation, subject to certain IRS
limitations. Based on approval by the board of directors, we may make matching contributions to the Plan. No matching contributions have been made as of
December 31, 2009.

We also sponsor a non-mandatory defined contribution plan for our employees located in the U.K. Pursuant to this plan, we contribute on a monthly
basis a certain percentage of the employee’s salary. The plan is non-contributory, thus the employee is not obligated to make any contribution to the plan and
contributions vest immediately. During 2007, 2008 and 2009, expense recognized was $616 thousand, $1.0 million and $1.2 million, respectively.

22. Risks and Uncertainties
Our future results of operations involve a number of risks and uncertainties. Factors that could affect our future operating results and cause actual

results to vary materially from expectations include, but are not limited to: current depressed economic conditions; uncertainty in the potential market for our
services; increasing competition; dependence on our existing management and key personnel; and protection of our intellectual property rights.

23. Related Party Transactions
We lease some facilities from a partnership controlled by our chairman of the board of directors. For these leases, we recognized $441 thousand, $620

thousand and $726 thousand of rent expense on our consolidated statements of income for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2008 and 2009, respectively.
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24. Subsequent Events
We have evaluated subsequent events and transactions for potential recognition or disclosure in the financial statements through February 26, 2010, the

day the consolidated financial statements were issued.
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SUPPLEMENTARY FINANCIAL DATA
 
Quarters Ended
(In thousands, except per share amounts)   

March 31,
2008   

June 30,
2008   

September 30,
2008   

December 31,
2008

   (Unaudited)
Net revenue   $119,613  $ 130,829  $ 138,354  $ 143,137

Cost of revenue   $ 39,223  $ 42,842  $ 45,499  $ 45,019
Gross margin   $ 80,390  $ 87,987  $ 92,855  $ 98,118
Net income   $ 5,442  $ 4,182  $ 5,235  $ 6,844
Earnings per share—basic   $ 0.05  $ 0.04  $ 0.05  $ 0.06
Earnings per share—diluted   $ 0.05  $ 0.04  $ 0.04  $ 0.06
Cash and cash equivalents   $ 27,497  $ 35,094  $ 260,318  $ 238,407

   
March 31,

2009   
June 30,

2009   
September 30,

2009   
December 31,

2009
   (Unaudited)
Net revenue   $ 145,077  $ 151,995  $ 162,399  $ 169,516

Cost of revenue   $ 46,210  $ 48,235  $ 53,093  $ 53,405
Gross margin   $ 98,867  $ 103,760  $ 109,306  $ 116,111
Net income   $ 6,588  $ 6,991  $ 7,604  $ 9,035
Earnings per share—basic   $ 0.06  $ 0.06  $ 0.06  $ 0.07
Earnings per share—diluted   $ 0.05  $ 0.06  $ 0.06  $ 0.07
Cash and cash equivalents   $ 135,020  $ 147,877  $ 102,950  $ 125,425
 

93



Table of Contents

ITEM 9—CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.

ITEM 9A—CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of disclosure controls and procedures
Under the supervision and with the participation of our senior management, including our chief executive officer and chief financial officer, we

conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures, as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-
15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, as of the end of the period covered by this annual report (the “Evaluation Date”). Based on this
evaluation, our chief executive officer and chief financial officer concluded as of the Evaluation Date that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective
such that the information relating to the company, including our consolidated subsidiaries, required to be disclosed in our SEC reports (i) is recorded,
processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in SEC rules and forms, and (ii) is accumulated and communicated to our
management, including our chief executive officer and chief financial officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Changes in internal control over financial reporting
We regularly review our system of internal control over financial reporting and make changes to our processes and systems to improve controls and

increase efficiency, while ensuring that we maintain an effective internal control environment. Changes may include such activities as implementing new, more
efficient systems, consolidating activities, and migrating processes.

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during 2009 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to
materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Inherent Limitations of Internal Controls
Our management, including our chief executive officer and chief financial officer, does not expect that our disclosure controls and procedures or our

internal controls will prevent all error and all fraud. A control system, no matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute,
assurance that the objectives of the control system are met. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide
absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, within the company have been detected. These inherent limitations include the realities
that judgments in decision-making can be faulty, and that breakdowns can occur because of a simple error or mistake. Additionally, controls can be
circumvented by the individual acts of some persons, by collusion of two or more people, or by management override of the control. The design of any system
of controls also is based in part upon certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance that any design will succeed in
achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions. Over time, controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or the degree of
compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. Because of the inherent limitations in a cost-effective control system, misstatements due to error or
fraud may occur and not be detected.

Report of Management on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-

15(f). Management conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting based on the framework in Internal Control –
Integrated
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Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on this evaluation, management concluded that our
internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2009. Management reviewed the results of its assessment with our Audit Committee.
The effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2009 has been audited by KPMG LLP, an independent registered public
accounting firm, as stated in its attestation report, which is included in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

ITEM 9B—OTHER INFORMATION

None.
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PART III
ITEM 10—DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to Rackspace Hosting’s Proxy Statement for its 2010 Annual Meeting of Stockholders
to be filed with the SEC within 120 days after the end of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2009.

We have adopted the Rackspace Hosting, Inc. Code of Business Conduct and Ethics (the “code of conduct”) that applies to all of our employees,
officers and directors, including without limitation, our Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, and Corporate Controller, and other finance
organization employees. The code of conduct, as well as any waiver of a provision of the code of conduct granted to any senior officer or director or material
amendment to the code of conduct, if any, may be found in the “Investors” section of our website at www.rackspace.com.

ITEM 11—EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to Rackspace Hosting’s Proxy Statement for its 2010 Annual Meeting of Stockholders
to be filed with the SEC within 120 days after the end of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2009.

ITEM 12—SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED PARTY
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to Rackspace Hosting’s Proxy Statement for its 2010 Annual Meeting of Stockholders
to be filed with the SEC within 120 days after the end of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2009.

ITEM 13—CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to Rackspace Hosting’s Proxy Statement for its 2010 Annual Meeting of Stockholders
to be filed with the SEC within 120 days after the end of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2009.

ITEM 14—PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to Rackspace Hosting’s Proxy Statement for its 2010 Annual Meeting of Stockholders
to be filed with the SEC within 120 days after the end of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2009.

PART IV
ITEM 15—EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

 

 (a) Financial Statements
 

 (1) The financial statements filed as part of this report are listed on the index to financial statements on page 2.
 

 (2) Any financial statement schedules required to be filed as part of this report are set forth in section (c) below.
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 (b) Exhibits—See Index to Exhibits at the end of this report, which is incorporated by reference.
 

 (c) Financial Statement Schedules
 
  The following financial statement schedule is filed as a part of this Annual Report:
 
  Schedule II—Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

All other schedules are omitted because they are not required or the required information is shown in the financial statements or notes thereto.
 

   
Beginning
Balance   

Additions Charged
to Net Revenues,

and Costs and
Expenses   Write-offs   

Ending
Balance

Allowance for doubtful accounts and customer credits for the years ending December
31:        

2007   $ 2,037  $ 9,794  $ (8,990)  $ 2,841
2008   $ 2,841  $ 6,465  $ (6,011)  $3,295
2009   $3,295  $ 13,364  $(12,361)  $ 4,298
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this Annual Report on Form
10-K to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, on February 26, 2010.
 

  Rackspace Hosting, Inc.

Date:  February 26, 2010  By:  /s/    A. LANHAM NAPIER        
   A. Lanham Napier
   President, Chief Executive Officer, and Director
   (Principal Executive Officer)

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the
Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.
 

Name   Title  Date

/S/    A. LANHAM NAPIER        
A. Lanham Napier   

President, Chief Executive Officer, and Director (Principal
Executive Officer)  

February 26, 2010

/S/    BRUCE R. KNOOIHUIZEN        
Bruce R. Knooihuizen   

Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer, and Treasurer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)  

February 26, 2010

/S/    GRAHAM WESTON        
Graham Weston   

Chairman
 

February 26, 2010

/S/    S. JAMES BISHKIN        
S. James Bishkin   

Director
 

February 26, 2010

/S/    MARK P. MELLIN        
Mark P. Mellin   

Director
 

February 26, 2010

/S/    PALMER L. MOE        
Palmer L. Moe   

Director
 

February 26, 2010

/S/    FRED REICHHELD        
Fred Reichheld   

Director
 

February 26, 2010

/S/    GEORGE J. STILL, JR.        
George J. Still, Jr.   

Director
 

February 26, 2010
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Exhibit 10.46

EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT

This Employment Agreement (“the Agreement”), effective as of the 14  day of December, 2009 is between Rackspace US, Inc., a Delaware corporation
(“the Company”) and Mark W. Roenigk (“the Employee”).

The Company desires to retain the services of the Employee as a Senior Vice President, Operations and Chief Operating Officer. The Employee desires to
obtain an employment relationship with the Company.

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the promises and mutual agreements set forth below, the parties agree as follows:
 

1. Position. The Employee shall be employed in the position of Senior Vice President, Operations and Chief Operating Officer commencing on or before
December 14  2009. However, the Company may change this position at any time. Unless otherwise agreed by the Company and Employee,
Employee’s principal place of business with the Company shall be in San Antonio, TX, although some travel may be required of Employee.

 

2. Term of Employment. The Employee acknowledges and understands that he or she is employed “at will,” meaning that he or she may be discharged for
any reason not otherwise prohibited by law.

 

3. Duties. During Employee’s employment with the Company, the Employee shall perform such duties as shall from time to time be delegated or assigned
to him/her by the Company. Employee agrees to serve the Company in the position designated by the Company and to perform diligently and to the best
of his/her abilities the duties and services pertaining to such position. In addition to duties assigned him/her by supervisors in the normal course of
business, Employee shall at all times have the following duties:

 

 
(a) Duty of Loyalty: Employee acknowledges that Employee owes a fiduciary duty of loyalty, fidelity and allegiance to act at all times

in the best interest of the Company and to do no act that would injure the business, interests, or reputation of the Company.
 

 
(b) Duty to Report: Employee shall make full disclosure to his/her immediate supervisor of all business opportunities pertaining to the

business of the Company and should not appropriate for Employee’s own benefit, business opportunities that fall within the scope
of the business conducted by the Company.

 

 

(c) Duty to Refrain from Making Derogatory Statements : Employee agrees to refrain from making verbal or written derogatory or
disparaging statements about the Company and/or its management. This duty survives the termination of Employee’s employment
with the Company. However, this provision in no way prohibits the Employee from reporting to the proper authorities or to the
Company management any conduct that the Employee believes is illegal or unethical. Likewise, this provision does not prohibit the
Employee from using any internal complaint or “Open Door” policies available at the Company.

th

th



5. Compensation. Employee shall be compensated pursuant to the compensation scheme attached hereto as Exhibit A.
 
6. Confidential Information.
 

 
(a) Provision of Confidential Information . On the effective date of this Agreement and during the Initial Term, the Company shall, in order for the

Employee to properly and effectively perform his or her job, provide the Employee with confidential business information. The Company
promises to continue to provide Employee with such confidential information during the course of the Employee’s employment with the Company.

 

 

(b) Employee to Maintain Confidentiality . The Employee acknowledges that he/she occupies a position of trust and confidence in the Company, and
the Employee agrees that he/she will not, without the prior written consent of the Company, disclose or make known to any person or use for
his/her own benefit or gain any confidential information of the Company. Confidential information means any information not generally disclosed
or known to the trade or public concerning the Company, its business, and its customers. For purposes of this Agreement, confidential
information shall include, but is not limited to, the following: (1) all information (whether maintained in the Company’s computer databases,
printed reports, paper files, notes, correspondence, rolodexes however kept, personal computers, Blackberries, PDA’s, cell phones, storage
media, or any place else) relating to the Company’s customers, including the identity of the Company’s customers, customer personal data
information, customer contact information, customer account information and balances; (2) information relating to the Company’s vendors;
(3) all information relating to the Company’s pricing, business, marketing, and sales plans, financial statements and forecasts, product plans,
and competitive analysis; (4) proprietary software, data center engineering information, and customer configuration architecture and
specifications; and (5) any other information that the Company designates as confidential.

 

 

(c) Employee Work Product. All information, ideas, concepts, improvements, discoveries, and inventions, whether patentable or not, that are
conceived, made, developed, or acquired by Employee, individually or in conjunction with others, during Employee’s employment with the
Company (whether during business hours or otherwise and whether on the premises of the Company (or otherwise) that relate to the business,
customers, products, or services of the Company are the exclusive property of the Company. Moreover, all documents, data, computer files,
correspondence, and notes relating in any way to the Company and/or its customers shall be the sole and exclusive property of the Company.
Such information, whether deemed confidential or not, shall not be shared with, or given to, third-parties unless specifically authorized by the
Company in writing.



 

(d) Assignment of Employee Work Product. In this regard, Employee hereby assigns (and Employee does hereby perpetually and irrevocably assign)
to the Company, or its designee, all of Employee’s right, title and interest in and to any to such Inventions, and to applications patent and
copyright protection in all countries, and to any and all patent and copyright registrations granted upon such Inventions in all countries. Employee
further agrees to perform, during and after employment with the Company, all acts necessary or desirable in the opinion of the Company to permit
and assist it (without charge to the Company but at the expense of the Company) in transferring and vesting the full and complete right and title
thereto in the Company and evidencing, perfecting, obtaining, maintaining, defending and enforcing the Company’s rights and Employee’s
assignment with respect to such Inventions in any and all countries. Such acts include without limitation execution, acknowledgment and delivery
of documents and assistance in legal proceedings. Employee hereby irrevocably designates and appoints the Company and its duly authorized
agents as Employee’s agents and attorneys-in-fact to act for and in Employee’s behalf and stead, to execute and file any documents and to do all
other lawfully permitted acts to further the above-purposes with the same legal force and effect as if executed by Employee.

 

 

(e) Moral Rights. Any assignment of copyright hereunder includes all rights of paternity, integrity, disclosure, and withdrawal and any other rights
that may be known as or referred to “droit moral” or as “Moral Rights.” To the extent such Moral Rights cannot be assigned under applicable law
and to the extent the following is allowed by the laws in the various countries where Moral Rights exist, Employee hereby waives such Moral
Rights and consents to any action of the Company that would violate such Moral Rights in the absence of such consent. Employee will confirm
such waivers and consents from time to time as requested by the Company.

 

 

(f) Other Inventions. Employee’s assignment of Inventions does not apply to an Invention for which no equipment, supplies, facility or trade secret
information of the Company was used and which was developed entirely on the Employee’s own time, and a) which does not relate i) directly to
the business of the Company or ii) to the Company’s actual or demonstrably anticipated research or development, or b) which does not result
from any work performed by Employee for the Company.

 

 

(g) Confidential Information of Employee’s Previous Employers . Employee is hereby advised and acknowledges that the Company does not desire to
receive any confidential information in breach of Employee’s obligation to others and agrees as an Employee of the Company not to disclose to the
Company or use in the performance of Employee’s duties for the Company, any confidential information in breach of any obligation to any third
party. Employee represents that performance of all the terms of this Agreement will not breach any agreement to keep in confidence proprietary
information acquired by Employee in confidence or in trust prior to employment by the Company. Employee represents that Employee has not
entered into, and agrees not to enter into, any agreement, either written or oral, in conflict herewith or in conflict with employment with the
Company.



 
(h) Return of Company Property . Unless directed to do so sooner, Employee shall immediately upon his or her separation from employment return all

Company property and information to the Company, including, but not limited to, all information and items described in sub-paragraphs (b) and
(c) above.

 

7. Non-competition. In consideration of the confidential information provided to the Employee under this Agreement as well as other good and valuable
consideration, the parties agree to the following non-competition provisions. During his/her employment and for a period of twelve (12) months following
the termination of Employee’s employment under this Agreement, Employee shall not, either on Employee’s own behalf or as an agent, consultant,
partner, employee, owner or representative of any person or entity directly or indirectly compete with the business of the Company and its successors
and assigns. Specifically, Employee shall not:

 

 

(a) Work, as an employee, contractor, officer, owner, or director, in any business within the State of Texas that provides hosting and
information technology services similar to those services provided by the Company, namely (i) provisioning, hosting, management,
monitoring or maintenance of computer servers and related devices which are connected to the Internet, (ii) providing network connectivity
and bandwidth, (iii) providing managed storage and backup, (iv) hosted email services, and (v) all similar related services, all of the
foregoing being defined for the purposes of this Agreement as “Hosting”;

 

 (b) Return to work for any of the Employee’s previous employers that are in the business of “Hosting”;
 

 
(c) Work, as an employee, contractor, officer, owner, or director, in a business that performs “Hosting” for any customers serviced or

managed by Employee while he or she employed by the Company; or
 

 
(d) Induce any employee of the Company or any of its affiliates to terminate his or her employment with the Company or any of its affiliates,

or hire or assist in the hiring of any such employee by any person, association, or entity not affiliated with the Company.

Employee affirms that the geographic boundaries, scope of prohibited competition, and time duration of this Section are reasonable and necessary to
maintain the value of the confidential information of the Company and to protect the goodwill and other legitimate business interests of the Company.



8. No Interference with the Company’s Relationships . During his/her employment and for a period of twelve (12) months following the termination of
Employee’s employment under this Agreement, Employee shall not, either on Employee’s own behalf or as an agent, consult, partner, employee, owner
or representative of any person or entity, directly or indirectly interfere with any of the Company’s relationships with its customers and vendors.
Employee shall not induce or encourage, directly or indirectly, any customer, client, or vendor to stop doing business with the Company or in inducing
or encouraging the customer to not retain the services of the Company.

 

9. Injunctive Relief. Employee acknowledges and agrees that irreparable damages and injury to the Company will result from Employee’s breach of the
promises contained in Paragraphs 3, 6, 7, and/or 8. Accordingly, Employee’s breach of Paragraphs 3, 6, 7, and/or 8 shall give the Company the right
to obtain a temporary restraining order and preliminary or permanent injunction enjoining Employee from violating this Agreement in order to prevent
immediate and irreparable harm to the Company. Additionally, under such circumstances, Employee will reimburse the Company for any and all
reasonable attorney fees and costs incurred by the Company in enforcing this Agreement.

 

10. Successors and Assigns . This Agreement is personal in its nature and neither of the parties hereto shall, without the consent of the other, assign or
transfer this Agreement or any rights or obligations hereunder. However, the provisions of this Agreement shall inure to the benefit of, and be binding
upon, each successor of the Company, whether by merger, consolidation, acquisition or otherwise, unless otherwise agreed to by the Employee and the
Company.

 

11. Amendments to the Agreement . This Agreement may be amended only in writing by an agreement executed by both parties hereto.
 

12. Severability. If a Court or arbitrator of competent jurisdiction determines that any provision of this Agreement is invalid or unenforceable, then the
validity or unenforceability of that provision shall not affect the validity or enforceability of any other provision of this Agreement, and all other
provisions shall remain in full force and effect.

 

13. Choice of Law. This Agreement shall be governed by the law of the State of Texas.
 

14. Arbitration. Excepting the right of the Company to seek such injunctive relief, all claims and matters in question arising out of this Agreement or the
relationship between the parties created by this Agreement, whether sounding in contract, tort, a statutory cause of action or otherwise, shall be resolved
by binding arbitration pursuant to the Federal Arbitration Act. This arbitration shall be administered by the American Arbitration Association (“AAA”)
in accordance with the AAA’s Employment Rules. There shall be one arbitrator. All filing fees and expenses of the arbitrator shall be borne by the
Company, except that each party shall be responsible for its own attorney fees, expenses, witness fees, and costs. All proceedings held by the arbitrator
shall be in the city where the employee last worked for the Company.



15. Additional Terms. The additional terms set forth in Exhibit B, if any, are incorporated by reference into this Agreement.
 

16. Entire Agreement . This Agreement, including the Exhibits attached hereto, contains the entire agreement of the parties hereto and supersedes any and all
prior agreements between the parties regarding the subject matters contained herein.

I HAVE READ THIS AGREEMENT CAREFULLY AND I UNDERSTAND AND ACCEPT THE OBLIGATIONS WHICH IT IMPOSES UPON
ME WITHOUT RESERVATION. NO PROMISES OR REPRESENTATIONS HAVE BEEN MADE TO ME TO INDUCE ME TO SIGN THIS
AGREEMENT. I SIGN THIS AGREEMENT VOLUNTARILY AND FREELY, IN DUPLICATE, WITH THE UNDERSTANDING THAT ONE
COUNTERPART WILL BE RETAINED BY THE COMPANY AND THE OTHER COUNTERPART WILL BE RETAINED BY ME.

In witness hereof, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement as of the day and year above written.

EMPLOYEE:
 
/s/ Mark W. Roenigk
 
Printed Name: Mark W. Roenigk
Date: 11-20-2009
 
RACKSPACE US, INC.

By:  /s/ Wayne Roberts
Printed Name: Wayne Roberts
Title:  Vice President, Human Resources



Exhibit A

Compensation

Thursday, November 12, 2009

Mark W. Roenigk
8370 Cinnamon Ridge Lane
Reno, NV 89523

Dear Mark,

We are pleased to extend you an offer to join Rackspace as Senior Vice President, Operations and Chief Operating Officer to start on December 14, 2009,
reporting to Lanham Napier. Please note that the following offer is made contingent on your passing the
Company’s pre-employment screening process, which includes a criminal background check, education verification and reference check.

We are offering you a bi-weekly salary of $13,461.54 which is $350,000.00 annualized. In addition to your annual pay, you will have an opportunity to earn
up to 50% of your salary with the Semi-Annual Rackspace Bonus Plan.

You will be awarded Options to purchase 100,000 shares of Common Stock in our parent corporation, Rackspace Hosting, Inc., pending final approval of our
Compensation Committee with an exercise price equal to the closing price as of the date on which the Compensation Committee grants the options in
accordance with our equity award policy. It is expected to be within 90 days of your Employment Commencement Date. The Options will be issued pursuant
to the Rackspace Hosting, Inc. 2007 Long Term Incentive Plan and our standard form of Stock Option Agreement and will vest over four years in annual
installments.

You will be awarded 50,000 Restricted Stock Units (RSU’s) in our parent corporation, Rackspace Hosting, Inc., pending final approval of our Compensation
Committee in accordance with our equity award policy. It is expected to be within 90 days of your Employment Commencement Date. The RSU’s will be
issued pursuant to the Rackspace Hosting, Inc. 2007 Long Term Incentive Plan and will vest over four years in annual installments.

We are offering you our Fanati-Black relocation package which includes a full pack and move and a lump sum relocation allowance of $58,333.33 (or two
months base salary) per our standard relocation policy. These benefits will be administered by our relocation partner, Relocation Synergy. Upon execution of
the offer letter and relocation repayment agreement, Relocation
Synergy will contact you to assist you in your relocation. A full summary of relocation benefits is attached.

In addition to the Fanati-Black relocation package, you will receive reimbursement for corporate housing of up to $2,400.00 per month through August 2010.
You will also receive reimbursement for travel between San Antonio, TX and your home in Reno, NV for two round trips per month up to $1,500.00 per
month through August 2010.



You will also receive a one-time gross sign-on bonus of $50,000.00, payable within two payroll periods of your start date. In the event that you terminate from
Rackspace within the first year of employment, whether voluntarily or involuntarily, you agree as a term of your employment that you are legally obligated to
and will, reimburse Rackspace for the unearned pro-rata portion of the signing bonus based on the length of completed employment.

The Company also offers an excellent benefits package including medical, dental, disability, life insurance, 401(k), and deferred compensation. You are
eligible to begin your participation in our benefits on your hire date.

The contents of this letter do not form an employment contract or alter your at-will employment status. All Company personnel are at-will employees. This
means that either the Company or the employee may terminate the employment relationship at any time, for reason or no reason. Only the Chief Executive
Officer may enter into any agreement to the contrary, whether verbal or written, with any employee. If the Chief Executive Officer should choose to enter into an
agreement to the contrary, it must be a written agreement signed by him to be valid.

Again, I am please to represent Lanham Napier in offering you the opportunity to join Rackspace.

Sincerely,

Paul M. Norman
Director of Recruiting, Rackspace Hosting, Inc.



Exhibit B

Additional Terms

Severance Benefit. If you are terminated without Cause within your first 12 months of employment, in addition to any accrued but unpaid base salary,
accrued vacation and unpaid business expense reimbursements (the “Accrued Obligations”) the Company agrees to provide severance payment in the amount
equal to 12 months of your base salary, payable in 12 equal monthly installments. Upon termination of employment for any other reason, including in the
event of your death or disability, the Company’s obligation shall be limited to the Accrued Obligations.

If you are terminated without Cause following your first 12 months of employment, in addition to any accrued but unpaid base salary, accrued vacation and
unpaid business expense reimbursements (the “Accrued Obligations”) the Company agrees to provide severance payment in the amount equal to 6 months of
your base salary, payable in 6 equal monthly installments. Upon termination of employment for any other reason, including in the event of your death or
disability, the Company’s obligation shall be limited to the Accrued Obligations.

For purposes of this Agreement, the term “Cause” shall mean (a) the commission of, or plea of guilty or no contest to, a felony or a crime involving moral
turpitude or the commission of any other act involving willful malfeasance or material fiduciary breach with respect to the Company or an affiliate, (b) gross
negligence or willful misconduct with respect to the Company or an affiliate. The Board of Directors of Rackspace Hosting, Inc. (the Company’s parent
company) or its delegate, in its absolute discretion, shall determine the effect of all matters and questions relating to whether you have been discharged for
Cause.



Exhibit 23.1

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors
Rackspace Hosting, Inc.:

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the registration statement (No. 333-153009) on Form S-8 of Rackspace Hosting, Inc. and subsidiaries of our
reports dated February 26, 2010, with respect to the consolidated balance sheets of Rackspace Hosting, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2009 and
2008, and the related consolidated statements of income, stockholders’ equity and comprehensive income, and cash flows for each of the years in the three-
year period ended December 31, 2009, and related financial statement schedule II, and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2009 which reports appear in the December 31, 2009 annual report on Form 10-K of Rackspace Hosting, Inc.

/s/ KPMG LLP
San Antonio, Texas
February 26, 2010



Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(a) OR 15d-14(a) OF THE SECURITIES

EXCHANGE
ACT OF 1934, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF

THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, A. Lanham Napier, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Rackspace Hosting, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting.

 
Date:  February 26, 2010  By: /s/    A. LANHAM NAPIER        

   A. Lanham Napier
   Chief Executive Officer, President, and Director
   (Principal Executive Officer)



Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(a) OR 15d-14(a) OF THE SECURITIES

EXCHANGE
ACT OF 1934, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF

THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Bruce R. Knooihuizen, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Rackspace Hosting, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting.

 
Date:  February 26, 2010  By: /s/     BRUCE R. KNOOIHUIZEN        

   Bruce R. Knooihuizen
   Chief Financial Officer, Senior Vice President, and Treasurer
   (Principal Financial Officer)



Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Rackspace Hosting, Inc. for the year ended December 31, 2009 as filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), A. Lanham Napier, as Principal Executive Officer of Rackspace Hosting, Inc., hereby certifies,
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to the best of his knowledge the Report
fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, and the information contained in the Report fairly
presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of Rackspace Hosting, Inc.
 

Date: February 26, 2010   By:  /s/ A. Lanham Napier
   A. Lanham Napier

   

Chief Executive Officer, President and Director
(Principal Executive Officer)



Exhibit 32.2
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Rackspace Hosting, Inc. for the year ended December 31, 2009 as filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), Bruce R. Knooihuizen , as Principal Financial Officer of Rackspace Hosting, Inc., hereby certifies,
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to the best of his knowledge the Report
fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, and the information contained in the Report fairly
presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of Rackspace Hosting, Inc.
 

Date: February 26, 2010   By:  /s/ Bruce R. Knooihuizen
   Bruce R. Knooihuizen

   

Chief Financial Officer, Senior Vice President and Treasurer
(Principal Financial Officer)
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